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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Invoice


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Wed, Apr 15, 2020 at 10:31 AM
To: Brad Trowbridge <brad@bradtrowbridge.com>

Hi Brad,


I hope you're well and your clients are not suffering too badly from the quarantine. I'm personally quite pleased that no
motions are being filed right now, a nice break =).

Please run the attached cc for the $200 balance.

Thanks,
Megan
[Quoted text hidden]
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Invoice


Brad Trowbridge <brad@bradtrowbridge.com> Wed, Apr 15, 2020 at 11:19 AM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>

Hi Megan. Yes, unfortunately, it took a pandemic to stop Peter's legal abuse of you! I don't think there's a cc attached
unless there's a glitch on my end. Stay well!

Brad Trowbridge 
The Law Offices of Bradley R. Trowbridge 

3257 N. Sheffield Suite 104
Chicago, IL 60657 

P: 773-784-9900 

E: brad@bradtrowbridge.com

PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE 
The information contained in this communication is confidential and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended recipient
you are notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or taking action based on the contents is strictly prohibited. If you received
this communication in error, please immediately notify us at (773) 784-9900.

[Quoted text hidden]
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Re: New Bill from Caesar & Bender, LLP 
13 messages

Brad Trowbridge <brad@bradtrowbridge.com> Mon, Jul 13, 2020 at 12:37 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>

We had a zoom court date of July 6 that I had on my calendar as July 7. That could have only have been for a short time.
I also don't know how much preparation there could have been. It looks like a lot of activities have been lumped into one
line item. The next zoom date is July 20 at 9 AM. Anything I need to know?

On Sun, Jul 12, 2020, 12:25 PM Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> wrote: 
Zoom court? What?
 
---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From: Caesar & Bender, LLP <notifications@clio.com> 
Date: Sun, Jul 12, 2020 at 12:18 PM 
Subject: New Bill from Caesar & Bender, LLP 
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> 
 
 

Caesar & Bender, LLP

Dear Megan Mason,

Your bill is ready. You can view it in the attachment.

Account summary

Amount due on Invoice 4768 
Due date: 07/12/2020

$455.00

Amount due on 3 other invoices $1,333.50

Total amount due $1,788.50

Pay online now

The payment link will expire in 90 days upon receipt.
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Re: New Bill from Caesar & Bender, LLP


Brad Trowbridge <brad@bradtrowbridge.com> Mon, Jul 13, 2020 at 12:37 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>

We had a zoom court date of July 6 that I had on my calendar as July 7. That could have only have been for a short time.
I also don't know how much preparation there could have been. It looks like a lot of activities have been lumped into one
line item. The next zoom date is July 20 at 9 AM. Anything I need to know?

On Sun, Jul 12, 2020, 12:25 PM Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> wrote:

Zoom court? What?


---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: Caesar & Bender, LLP <notifications@clio.com>

Date: Sun, Jul 12, 2020 at 12:18 PM

Subject: New Bill from Caesar & Bender, LLP

To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>






Caesar & Bender, LLP

Dear Megan Mason,

Your bill is ready. You can view it in the attachment.

Account summary

Amount due on Invoice 4768

Due date: 07/12/2020

$455.00

Amount due on 3 other invoices $1,333.50

Total amount due $1,788.50

Pay online now

The payment link will expire in 90 days upon receipt.
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Court

1 message

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Mon, Jul 20, 2020 at 2:46 PM
To: Brad Trowbridge <brad@bradtrowbridge.com>

Hi Brad,

Did Michael make a motion to be removed? Anything filed against me?
M
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Re: New Bill from Caesar & Bender, LLP


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Tue, Jul 21, 2020 at 3:20 PM
To: Brad Trowbridge <brad@bradtrowbridge.com>

Michael Bender has never spoken to the boys’ pediatrician of six years, who has ordered the boys removed from Peter’s
home; to his developmental pediatrician of five years; or to our long-term ABA supervisor. 

He’s met my children one time. He’s billed me for over a year and is trying to force me into therapy with him that he’s not
authorized to administer. 

I thought he was going to ask to be removed. I’m done trying to appease him. I’m filing an ethics complaint. I don’t think
he’ll retaliate any worse that what he’s doing now.

I know you don’t/wouldn’t recommend it. And I’ll make sure he knows you didn’t recommend it. 
[Quoted text hidden]
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

IRMO Matt; 2016 D 9534; COURT ORDER


John Palen <jpalen@johnpalenphd.com> Sat, Dec 5, 2020 at 1:53 PM
To: "Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office)" <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>, Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>,
Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>
Cc: Laura Fried <lfried@smbtrials.com>, Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

I want to be paid. It is as simple as that

 

 

JOHN M. PALEN, PH.D., LCSW  

http://www.johnpalenphd.com

 

Psychotherapy with Older Children, Adolescents, Adults and Families

 

Therapy with Children Resisting Contact with a Parent

 

Co-Parenting Counseling

 

Parenting Plan Consultation/Child Custody Evaluation

 

Individual and Family Counseling with Members of the LGBTQ Community and their Families.   

 

Consultation with Men attempting to become better Partners, Husbands and Fathers 

 

 

5225 Old Orchard Road, Suite One

Skokie, Illinois 60077

T: 847-967-1695

 

Please be advised that because e-mail is not a secure form of communication I cannot ensure confidentiality of any
information sent by email. Nevertheless, this message (including attachments)
is covered by the Electronic
Communications Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C. 2510-2521, is intended to be confidential, and may be privileged.  If you are
not the intended recipient, please be aware that any retention, dissemination or distribution is prohibited, .
Please reply
to sender if you have received this message in error, then kindly delete it.  Thank you for helping to maintain privacy.  
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

IRMO Matt; 2016 D 9534; COURT ORDER


John Palen <jpalen@johnpalenphd.com> Sat, Dec 5, 2020 at 1:58 PM
To: "Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office)" <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>, Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>,
Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>
Cc: Laura Fried <lfried@smbtrials.com>, Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Sorry- this was meant for another case. I had not noticed Ms. Mason on the list of recipients.

 

Regards,

John Palen

[Quoted text hidden]
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Goedecke and Associates, Inc.

Identity

Goedecke offers high-quality, fast and reliable 
procurement service of IT, banking and POS spare 
parts. With as the new owner and decision 
maker Goedecke will become a diversified supplier 
certified by DisabilityIN. will learn valuable life 
skills.

Problem

Large, publicly listed maintenance and repair 
organizations are looking for high-quality spare 
parts and their fast delivery. As part of their social
responsibility commitments to their shareholders 
these companies are looking to do business with 
companies that have a Supplier Diversity 
Certification.

Our solution

Our decades old organization acquired a large 
database of vendors that enables us to offer new and 
end-of-life parts to our customers. We can procure 
high quality parts quickly for a good price due to our 
long standing relationships, while being supplier 
diversity certified.

Target market

Large and global maintenance and repair 
organizations that are looking to outsource parts 
of their purchasing and supply chain processes in
a social responsible way.

The competition

We are specialized in hard-to-find and end-of-life 
spare parts since many years and have built deep 
relationships with our business partners. Other 
companies that can offer such customized service are
similar small and flexible companies like TeamOne, 
Redsis, RMC International.

Revenue streams

Goedecke sells directly to customers by 
responding to their daily RFQs. ’ salary, as 
well as any distributions should remain with 
Peter. Megan should have no claim to any of the 
money or shares even in case of the death of 

. Megan shall not impact the business in 
any way. 

Marketing activities

Goedecke will search the internet for other public 
opportunities to respond to those RFQs inviations.

Expenses

• Labor to search parts and offer them to the
customers after applying a margin

• Shipping and packing material cost

• Space for inventory, test and repacking the
products

Team and key roles

Currently, the team members are:

• Peter Matt, the current 100% owner,  12 years 
tenure

• Leo Matt and family in Germany

• Hemendra (8 years), Pratik (8 years), 
Shashikant (6 years) and Jalpa (5 years) in 
India

is familiar with all the team members.

Milestones

As the business matures, Goedecke will improve 
its on-time-shipment performance, will get invited 
to more RFQ opportunities due to its diversified 
status and will on-board new clients.

Once becomes eligible for SSDI and/or in 
case his ownership is no longer beneficial as 
been decided by Peter, his shares and title 
should fall back to Peter.
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Truing up parenting plan for parenting time

peter@goedecke.com <peter@goedecke.com> Tue, May 11, 2021 at 11:26 AM
To: Megan Matt <megan42@gmail.com>
Cc: John Palen <jpalen@johnpalenphd.com>

Hi Megan,
I talked with John on the below last week. He believes it is not necessary since he is already advising us
on the scheduling and we don't have any conflict on this. If one of us would violate the schedule he
would step in. In this regard the parenting plan is trued up and in place for about 5 years, I believe. I
understand that you are upset about May 2nd, when dropped the kids late. Can we talk about this in
our next meeting with John, which should be in about 2 weeks?

Further, I talked to ' Orthodontist. They refunded us $500 of the $1,000 deposit. They are saying
they cannot refund us the other $500 as it has paid for the panorex xray, lateral cephalometric and Dr's
diagnostic treatment planning. This is understandable and ok from my side.

I also did a business plan, as suggested by John, for  becoming the main shareholder of
Goedecke so the company would get a Disability Supplier Diversity Certification. Please see attach and
comment. To address your specific concerns how it would impact ' entitlements, I should
guarantee that you or  would not have any financial disadvantages and most likely once 
would turn 18 and eligible for SSDI, we would reverse ' ownership and control. 

Regards,
Peter
[Quoted text hidden]

Goedecke Business Plan with .pdf

69K
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Matt - proposed order
5 messages

Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com> Mon, May 24, 2021 at 5:27 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>, Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Please find attached the proposed order from this morning’s court appearance.

 

Please advise of your review.

 

Chris

 

Christopher D. Wehrman | Partner

Swanson, Martin & Bell, LLP

330 N. Wabash #3300

Chicago, IL 60611

Office: 312/321-9100

Direct: 312/222-8534

Fax: 312/321-0990

 

Disclaimer

The information contained in this communication from the sender is confidential. It is intended solely for use by the recipient and
others authorized to receive it. If you are not the recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or
taking action in relation of the contents of this information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful.


This email has been scanned for viruses and malware, and may have been automatically archived by Mimecast, a leader in email
security and cyber resilience. Mimecast integrates email defenses with brand protection, security awareness training, web
security, compliance and other essential capabilities. Mimecast helps protect large and small organizations from malicious activity,
human error and technology failure; and to lead the movement toward building a more resilient world. To find out more, visit our
website.

Matt - 5.21.21 proposed order.pdf

255K

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Tue, May 25, 2021 at 9:35 AM
To: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Hi Chris,

 Exhibit 
K



I think this is a good start. Thank you. I don't understand what point 2 relates to so I can't agree to this. Was this
discussed? Can you please explain? I'm available at 312.750.4437.

Kindly,
Megan Mason

[Quoted text hidden]

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Tue, May 25, 2021 at 9:48 AM
To: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Actually,  I also think that we have a lot of issues with parties being appointed in this case without any basis or scope so
I'm a little concerned about the vague and broad nature of point 1. I have two motions pending - the motion for the
appointment of the parenting coordinator and the motion for allocation of parenting responsibilities. Since you do not have
anything pending it would seem the appointment should be limited to those matters I've raised and intended to
address those concerns. 

So I would propose the following

"Dr. Gerald Blechman (1751 South Naperville Road, Suite 206, Wheaton, IL 60189, 630/664-
0525) is appointed as a 604.10(b) evaluator to evaluate the current shared allocation of parental responsibility in
educational and medical decision making matters to determine which parent ought to have full medical decision making
authority and which parent ought to have full educational decision making authority and to evaluate the parents' overall
competence and fitness as caregivers and to make recommendations for training, therapy or other remediation where
appropriate".

Does that work? I think that's not creating something new, it aligns with what I've asked for and, presumably the order is
addressing what I asked for, right? 


[Quoted text hidden]

Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com> Tue, May 25, 2021 at 11:35 AM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

I do not agree to any language providing scope to Dr. Blechman.  He will have the pleadings and access to
Mr. Bender as to the issues.

 

I will submit the order to the court and you can raise your question for Judge Johnson to address.

 

Christopher D. Wehrman | Partner

Swanson, Martin & Bell, LLP

330 N. Wabash #3300

Chicago, IL 60611

Office: 312/321-9100

Direct: 312/222-8534

Fax: 312/321-0990
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[Quoted text hidden]
[Quoted text hidden]

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Wed, May 26, 2021 at 7:00 AM
To: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Please see my other email. This is entered against my objection.  
[Quoted text hidden]
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IN   THE   CIRCUIT   COURT   OF   COOK   COUNTY,   ILLINOIS   
COUNTY   DEPARTMENT,   DOMESTIC   RELATIONS   DIVISION   

  
IN   RE   THE   MARRIAGE   OF: )   

)   
PETER   MATT, )   

)   
Petitioner, )   

)   
and ) No.    16   D   9534   

)   
MEGAN   MATT   n/k/a   MASON, )    

)   
  

Respondent. )   

   

   IT   IS   ORDERED   that   the   party   herein   named   shall   appear   personally   before   Judge   Robert   

Johnson   via   Zoom,   at    9:30   am,   on    April   20th,   2021,   to   show   cause   why   he/she   should   not   be   

held   in   contempt   of   court   for    failing   to   comply   with   the   order   entered   by   this   Court   on   

September   27th,   2017,   and   states   that   the    following   is   true   and   correct:     

  
MEGAN   MASON’S   PETITION   FOR   RULE   TO   SHOW   CAUSE   AND   MOTION     

TO   COMPEL   RE:   STRANGE   ADULTS   IN   CHILDREN’S   HOME   
  

   

 MEGAN  MATT  n/k/a  MASON,  (“Megan”),  pursuant  to  the  parties’  Allocation  of  Parental               

Responsibilities  Judgment  and  Parenting  Plan  (“Allocation  Judgment”)  entered  on  September  27,             

2017  and  all  applicable  rules  and  statutes,  moves  this  Court  to  issue  a  Rule  to  Show  Cause                   

compelling  PETER  MATT  to  appear  and  show  cause  as  to  why  he  should  not  be  held  in  indirect                    

civil  contempt  of  Court  for  his  failure  to  comply  with  the  Judgment  and  Marital  Settlement                 

Agreement.   In   support   of   her   petition,   Megan   Mason   states   as   follows:     

1   

  

FILED
3/18/2021 11:47 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534
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Introduction   

This  matter  requires  this  Court’s  urgent  attention  as  the  safety  of  two  minor  children,                

Angus  and  Theodore  Matt,  are  at  risk  due  to  continued  negligence  and  disregard  for  the                 

September  27,  2017  Allocation  Judgment,  specifically  as  it  pertains  to  strange  adults  living  in  the                 

children’s   residence.   

Background   

1. The   parties   were   divorced   on   September   27,   2017.   Two   children   were   born   during   

the   marriage,   namely:   Angus   (age   10)   and   Theodore   (age   8).     

2. Also   on   September   27,   2017,   the   Court   entered   an   Allocation   Judgment,   which   

incorporated   the   parties’   Parenting   Plan.   Paragraph   9   of   the   Parenting   Plan   provides,   in   no   

uncertain   terms:   

“Both  parents  shall  update  the  other  parent  in  writing  of  any             
changes  of  the  individuals  living  in  their  residence  as  soon  as             
such  an  arrangement  is  known.  Each  party  will  keep  the  other             
informed  of  the  current  cell  phone  number  of  any  person  residing             
with   the   party   and   any   childcare   provider   of   the   minor   children”.   
  

  
See  Paragraph  9  of  the  Parenting  Plan  incorporated  into  the  Allocation  Judgment,  which  is                

attached   as    Exhibit   A .   

3. The  parties’  children  Angus  Matt  (12)  and  Theodore  Matt  (9)  spend  50%  of  their                

parenting   time   at   Peter   Matt’s   single   family   residence   246   Maple   Avenue   in   Wilmette.   

4. On  at  least  three  occasions  housed  room-mates  at  246  Maple  in  exchange  for  rent                

or   labor   for   extended   periods   of   time.     

5. Mr.   Matt   intends   to   convert   his   home   to   a   boarding   house   with   three   tenants.   

6. In  2017  the  boys  informed  Megan  that  their  friend  Luke’s  dad  was  living  on  their                 

couch.   Peter   never   mentioned   this   fact   to   Megan.   

2   

  

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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7. On  April  29,  2020  the  boys  informed  Megan  that  they  had  a  new  roommate                

named   Amapoul.   

8. On  April  29,  2020  Megan  asked  Peter  to  please  tell  her  the  name  of  his  new                  

room-mate.   In   direct   violation   of   the   Allocation   Order   paragraph   9   Mr.   Matt   refused    (Exhibit   B)   

9. Megan  also  asked  for  an  id  and  more  information  about  the  man  living  with  her                 

children,  such  as  his  occupation  or  how  Peter  knew  him.  Peter  refused.  This  refusal  is  in  direct                   

violation  of  the  Allocation  Order  paragraph  14  which  requires  each  party  to  “respect  the  other                 

party’s   primary   role   as   the   Children’s   mother   and   father”.   

10. It  is  entirely  reasonable  for  the  mother  of  minor  children  to  inquire  as  to  which                 

strange  adults  are  spending  extended  periods  of  time  with  her  children,  to  inquire  as  to  their                  

background  and  safety  around  children.  Mr.  Matt’s  obstinate  refusal  to  provide  information  to               

Megan   about   the   life   of   her   children   violates   the   Allocation   Order.   

11. One  tenant  named  Pablo  Gonzales  currently  lives  with  Mr.  Matt  and,  for  50%  of                

Court  allocated  Parenting  time,  lives  with  the  minor  children.  Mr.  Gonzales  works  as  a  day                 

laborer  for  Mr.  Matt  doing  unpermitted  electrical,  plumbing  and  construction  renovations  on  the               

property   at   246   Maple.   Mr.   Matt   gives   Mr.   Gonzales   boarding   in   exchange   for   labor.   

12. In  December  2020  Theodore  informed  Megan  that  they  had  a  new  roommate  in               

their  house  named  Pablo.  On  December  26,  2020,  Megan  messaged  Mr.  Matt  on  the  Talking                 

Platform  and  asked  for  more  information  about  his  roommate.  Mr.  Matt  refused  to  provide                

details   about   his   roommate    (Exhibit   D)   

13. Megan  emailed  Mr.  Matt  on  December  29,  2020  and  asked  him  to  comply  with                

the   order   and   tell   her   the   last   name   and   phone   number   of   his   roommate.    (Exhibit   E) .   

3   
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14. On  December  29,  2020  Mr.  Matt  deceitfully  claimed  that  Mr.  Gonzales  was  not               

living  in  his  residence,  claiming  “they  have  their  own  additional  entrance,  own  kitchen,  own                

washer   and   dryer   etc..    (Exhibit   J)   

15. In  an  email  on  January  12,  2021,  Dr.  John  Palen,  PC,  instructed  Mr.  Matt  to                 

comply  with  the  MSA,  stating,  “ Peter,  in  order  to  avoid  more  court  expenses  and  stress,  please                  

provide  Megan  with  what  the  JPA  stipulates  you  (and  she)  must  provide  the  other  about                 

housemates.    This   shouldn’t   be   this   difficult.”    (Exhibit   F)   

16. On  January  12,  2021,  Mr.  Matt  again  made  the  deceitful  claim  that  Mr.  Gonzales                

is  not  a  roommate  and  that  the  MSA  does  not  apply  to  his  lodger,  again  refusing  to  provide  full                     

name   and   phone   number    (Exhbit   G)   

17. In  fact  Mr.  Gonzales  lives  inside  the  residence  in  the  room  next  to  the  minor                 

children,  formerly  Megan  and  Mr.  Matt’s  marital  bedroom  as  shown  in  a  picture  provided  by  Mr.                  

Matt   as   an   attachment   to   his   email   on   January   12,   2021.    (Exhibit   C) .   

18. In  a  Zoom  meeting  with  Dr.  John  Palen,  the  Court  Appointed  Parenting              

Coordinator  in  this  Case,  and  Megan,  on  January  14,  2021,  Mr.  Matt  finally  admitted  to  Dr.                  

Palen   and   Megan   that   he   has   a   roommate   but   initially   refused   to   provide   his   last   name.   

19. When   ordered   to   do   so   by   Dr.   Palen,   Mr.   Matt   told   Megan   Mr.   Gonzales’s   name.   

20. When  ordered  to  do  so  by  Dr.  Palen,  Mr.  Matt  gave  Megan  what  he  claimed  was                  

Mr.   Gonzales’s   phone   number:   773-660-0960.   

21. On  January  12,  2021,  Megan   dialed  the  number  provided  for  Mr.  Gonzales  but               

received  a  message  that  the  number  was  no  longer  in  service.  When  Megan  attempted  to  call                  

again   the   phone   did   not   ring.    (Exhibit   H).   

22. A  search  of  the  number  773-660-0960  indicates  that  it  is  the  phone  number  of  a                 

77   year   old   woman   named   Jenetta   Sowell    (Exhibit   I).   
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23. Mr.  Matt  remains  bizarrely  contemptuous  of  the  allocation  order,  and  has  still  not               

provided   a   valid   phone   number   for   Mr.   Gonzales.   

24. In  a  zoom  meeting  with  their  younger  son’s  therapist,  Amanda  Whitlock,  on              

February  9,  2021,   Ms.  Whitlock  asked  both  parents  if  any  other  adults  live  in  their  respective                  

homes.  Mr.  Matt  said  he  has  one  roommate  and  he’s  going  to  have  more,  for  a  total  of  three                     

boarders.   

25. In  a  Zoom  meeting  with  Dr.  John  Palen,  the  Court  Appointed  Parenting              

Coordinator  in  this  Case,  and  Megan,  on  March  10,  2021,  Megan  asked  Mr.  Matt  if  he  really                   

means  to  take  on  three  boarders.  Mr.  Matt  admitted  that  he  is  renovating  his  home  to  house  a                    

total  of  three  boarders.  Mr.  Matt  explained  in  detail  to  Dr  Palen  and  Megan  his  plan  to  renovate                    

his  home  to  contain  three  apartments  with  their  own  washers  and  dryers,  electric  stoves,                

bathrooms  and  beds  to  rent  out  to  boarders.  He  admitted  that  he  has  not  applied  for  permits  for                    

any  of  the  construction  in  the  Village  of  Wilmette  and  confirmed  that  his  home  is  zoned  for                   

single-family  use  only,  but  he  believes  he  can  have  up  to  three  non-family  adults  living  in  the                   

home   according   to   local   ordinance.     

26. Megan  asked  that  Mr.  Matt  please  get  the  home  inspected  by  the  Village  of                

Wilmette  and  get  permits  in  order  to  ensure  the  safety  of  the  children,  particularly  as  Mr.  Matt  is                    

building   kitchens   and   dryers   in   the   units.   Mr.   Matt   refused.   

27. Megan  asked  Mr.  Matt  to  please  give  her  a  copy  of  Mr.  Gonzales’s  id  and  a  real                   

phone   number.   Mr.   Matt   refused.   

28. Mr.  Matt  has  at  no  point  demonstrated  that  he  understands  either  the  safety  issue                

related  to  the  minor  children  or  Megan’s  right  to  care  and  inquire  about  their  safety.  He  has                   

argued  exhaustively  about  details  and  semantics  but  not  acknowledged  or  shown  an  ability  to                
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feel  concern  for  the  children’s  well  being.  It  is  questionable  if  Mr.  Matt  is  competent  to  make                   

parenting   decisions   that   impact   the   safety   and   well-being   of   the   children.   

29. Mr.   Matt   remains   in   violation   of   the   MSA.   

WHEREFORE,   MEGAN   MATT,   requests   that   this   Court   enter   an   Order:   

A. Enforcing  the  Allocation  Judgment  paragraph  9  that  Peter  Matt  provide            

information   about   individuals   living   in   his   home;   

B. Enforcing  the  Allocation  Judgment  paragraph  14  that  Peter  Matt  respect  Megan’s             

role   as   the   children’s   mother;   

C. Issuing  a  rule,  returnable   instanter ,  requiring  Peter  to  show  cause  why  he  should               

not   be   held   in   indirect   civil   contempt   for   his   failure   to   comply   with   the   Allocation   Judgment;     

D. Finding  Peter  to  be  in  indirect  civil  contempt  for  his  failure  to  comply  the                

Allocation   Judgment;   

E. Modifying   the   Allocation   Order   as   follows:     

“In  the  event  that  either  Parent  intends  to  give  an  adult  access  to  the  children’s                 
living  space,  as  a  roommate,  long-term  guest,  tenant,  boarder,  romantic            
partner,  live-in  employee,  or  other  type  of  resident  not  mentioned,  that  Parent              
must  inform  the  other  Parent  i n  advance   of  the  individual  moving  into  the               
home  with  the  minor  children.  “Access”  shall  be  defined  as  any  of  the               
following:  having  a  key  to  the  children’s  residence,  sleeping  in  any  part  of  the                
children’s  residence  on  a  regular  basis,  using  the  children’s  address  as  his  or               
her   home   address.   
  

Furthermore,  in  advance  of  this  person  residing  at  the  particular  family             
residence,  the  host  Parent  shall  provide  the  other  parent  with  an  id  for  the                
person  residing  with  the  children.  The  host  Parent  shall  also  conduct  a  soft               
criminal  background  check  at  his  or  her  own  expense  on  the  proposed  resident               
and  provide  this  to  the  other  Parent.  If  the  background  check  shows  criminal               
convictions  the  other  Parent  may  demand  that  this  person  not  reside  with  the               
children.  If  the  host  Parent  fails  to  provide  this  documentation  in  advance  of               
the  new  resident  moving  in  he  or  she  shall  be  in  violation  of  this  Order  and  in                   
Contempt.  If  the  host  Parent  refuses  to  deny  a  proposed  resident  with  a               
criminal  background  occupancy  with  the  children,  that  parent  shall  be  in             
violation   of   this   Order   and   in   Contempt.”   
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F. Ordering   Peter   to   comply   with   the   Allocation   Judgment   and;   

G. Ordering  Mr.  Matt  to  get  permits  from  the  Village  of  Wilmette  for  all  electrical,                

plumbing   and   major   construction   work   on   the   home   at   246   Maple   in   Wilmette   within   45   days;   

H. Ordering  Mr.  Matt  to  run  a  soft  background  check  on  Mr.  Gonzales  for  any                

criminal   violations   within   30   days;   

I. Ordering  Mr.  Matt  to  get  his  home  zoned  as  multi-family  before  taking  on  paid                

boarders;   

J. Requiring  Peter  to  reimburse  Megan  for  lost  wages  do  to  the  exhaustive  efforts  to                

resolve  this  matter,  calculated  as  hour  spent  in  researching,  drafting  and  filing  documents  in  this                 

matter  at  a  rate  of  her  current  annual  salary  ($72,000)  adjusted  to  an  hourly  rate  of  $36  per  hour,                     

pursuant   to   Illinois   Rule   137;   and   

K. For   such   further   relief   as   this   Court   deems   appropriate.   

  
  
  

Respectfully   submitted,   
  

  
  

MEGAN   MASON  
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IN   THE   CIRCUIT   COURT   OF   COOK   COUNTY,   ILLINOIS   
COUNTY   DEPARTMENT,   DOMESTIC   RELATIONS   DIVISION   

  
IN   RE   THE   MARRIAGE   OF: )   

)   
PETER   MATT, )   

)   
Petitioner, )   

)   
and ) No.    16   D   9534   

)   
MEGAN   MATT   n/k/a   MASON, )    

)   
  

Respondent. )   

   

   IT   IS   ORDERED   that   the   party   herein   named   shall   appear   personally   before   Judge   Robert   

Johnson   via   Zoom,   at    9:30   am,   on    April   20th,   2021,   to   show   cause   why   he/she   should   not   be   

held   in   contempt   of   court   for    failing   to   comply   with   the   order   entered   by   this   Court   on   

September   27th,   2017,   and   states   that   the    following   is   true   and   correct:     

  
MEGAN   MASON’S   PETITION   FOR   RULE   TO   SHOW   CAUSE   AND   MOTION     

TO   COMPEL   RE:   FAILURE   TO   PROVIDE   CHILDCARE   FOR   CHILDREN   AND   
FAILURE   TO   ADDRESS   CHILDREN’ S    SAFETY   

  
   

 MEGAN  MATT  n/k/a  MASON,  (“Megan”),  pursuant  to  the  parties’  Allocation  of  Parental               

Responsibilities  Judgment  and  Parenting  Plan  (“Allocation  Judgment”)  entered  on  September  27,             

2017  and  all  applicable  rules  and  statutes,  moves  this  Court  to  issue  a  Rule  to  Show  Cause                   

compelling  PETER  MATT  to  appear  and  show  cause  as  to  why  he  should  not  be  held  in  indirect                    

civil  contempt  of  Court  for  his  failure  to  comply  with  the  Judgment  and  Marital  Settlement                 

Agreement.   In   support   of   her   petition,   Megan   Mason   states   as   follows:     
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Introduction   

This  matter  requires  this  Court’s  urgent  attention  as  the  safety  of  two  minor  children,                

Angus  and  Theodore  Matt,  are  at  risk  due  to  continued  negligence  and  disregard  for  the                 

September  27,  2017  Allocation  Judgment,  specifically  as  it  pertains  to  childcare  for  the  two                

minor   children.   

Background   

1. The   parties   were   divorced   on   September   27,   2017.   Two   children   were   born   during   

the   marriage,   namely:   Angus   (age   10)   and   Theodore   (age   8).     

2. Also   on   September   27,   2017,   the   Court   entered   an   Allocation   Judgment,   which   

incorporated   the   parties’   Parenting   Plan     (Exhibit   A.) .     

3. Paragraph   1   of   the   Parenting   Plan   provides,   in   no   uncertain   terms:     
“The   parties   agree   that,   from   time   to   time,   decisions   will   need   to   be   made   
regarding   the   following   issues   of   long-term   importance   of   the   Minor   children   (the   
“Significant   Issues”):   

  
....health   (including   all   decisions   relating   to   the   medical,   dental   and   psychological   
needs   of   the   child   and   to   the   treatments   arising   or   resulting   from   those   needs)...   

  
any   other   issues   of   long-term   importance   in   the   life   of   a   child.....   

  
Accordingly,the   parties   agree   to   discuss   any   decisions   regarding   any   of   the   above   
Significant   Issues   prior   to   any   decision   being   made.”   

  
4. Mr.   Matt   has   willfully   violated   his   essential   duty   to   discuss   issues   of   “long-term   

importance”   to   the   children   as   mandated   by   the   Allocation   Judgment.   In   particular,   he   displays   a   

shocking   inability   to   discuss   issues   of   safety   with   regards   to   the   Minor   children:   

a. In   August   of   2019,   the   parties   son   Theodore   (then   aged   seven)   told   Megan   that   his   

dad   and   uncle   wanted   to   take   him   to   shoot   guns   if   it   was   ok   with   her.   Megan   

wrote   a   message   in   Talking   Parents   on   August   27,   2019   raising   the   issue   of   gun   

safety   and   asking   that   Teddy   not   be   allowed   to   use   guns   until   aged   15   and   after   

2   

  

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 3
/1

9/
20

21
 4

:1
1 

PM
   

20
16

D
00

95
34

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 1
1/

30
/2

02
1 

9:
32

 A
M

   
20

16
D

00
95

34

Exhibit M Continued



receiving   gun   safety   training.   Mr.   Matt   ignored   her   thoughtful   list   of   concerns   

about   gun   safety   and   was   incapable   of   replying   to   the   actual   topic,   stating,   “I   

understand   that   you   think   you   can   make   final   decisions   and   that   you   have   no   

respect   for   coparenting”.    (Exhibit   E).   

b. On   October   20,   2020   Megan   wanted   to   touch   base   with   Peter   about   the   family’s   

COVID   policy,   stating   in   the   Talking   Parents   app,   “As   we   enter   another   

Coronavirus   surge,   I’d   like   to   have   some   policies   we   agree   to   as   far   as   the   boys’   

behavior….We   need   to   inform   each   other   about   kids’   other   exposures,   particularly   

other   vulnerable   people...please   let   me   know   your   thoughts”.   Peter,   incapable   of   

replying   to   this   important   topic,   wrote,   “I   understand   that   you   think   I   break   the   

law   or   I   should   change   my   parenting   otherwise.”    (Exhibit   F)   

c. There   is   nothing   of   more   “long-term   importance   to   the   Minor   children”,   as   the   

Judgment   reads,    than   their   life,   safety   and   health.   On   these   occasions   Mr.   Matt   

clearly   violated   his   obligation   to   discuss   and   collaborate   on   these   topics   as   he   is   

clearly   required   to   do.   

d. In   these   and   other   instances   Mr.   Matt   has   shown   himself   to   be   shockingly   

belligerent,    paranoid   and   incapable   of   rational   discussion   on   topics   of   profound   

importance   to   the   children’s   safety   and   well   being.   

5. Paragraph   4   of   the   Parenting   Plan   provides,   in   no   uncertain   terms:   

“The   parties   agree   that   the   children   shall   be   in   school   or   appropriate   childcare   
from   9:00a.m.to5:00p.m.”   

  
6. On  January  1,  2017  Megan  tried  to  get  Mr.  Matt  to  tell  her  his  child  care                  

arrangement  by  email.  He  replied,  “I  understand  u  r  saying  again  u  r  the  better  parent.  only  u  r                     
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the  parent  that  is  able  to  give  the  kids  a  good  start  into  to  the  school  week.  Not  sure  if  my                       

parenting   is   ur   biz.   I   guess   something   to   discuss   in   mediation.”    (Exhibit   I)   

7. On  August  5,  2019  Megan  asked  in  the  Talking  Parent  Platform,  “What's  your               

plan  for  child  care  next  year?”,  when  Mr.  Matt  did  not  answer,  Megan  asked,  “Do  you  work?  If                    

so,  when?”.  Mr.  Matt  replied,  “I  don’t  see  however  the  need  for  you  to  know  about  my                   

professional   life”.    (Exhibit   C)   

8. In  addition  to  violating  paragraph  4  of  the  Parenting  Plan,  which  requires  that               

each  party  have  the  children  in  child  care,  Mr.  Matt’s  bizarre  refusal  to  explain  his  child  care                   

schedule  violates  Megan’s  rights  as  a  mother  to  know  how  her  children  are  cared  for  as                  

Paragraph   14   of   the   Parenting   Plan   requires,   stating:   

“ “Each  party  shall  respect  the  other  party’s  primary  role  as  the  Minor              

Children’s   mother   and   father”   

9. Mothers  are  allowed  to  ask  who  is  caring  for  their  children  and  what  their                

schedule   is.   A   competent   parent   would   answer.   

10. Mr.  Matt’s  goal  is  to  have  the  parties’  younger  son,  Theodore,  become  a               

professional  athlete  and  to  play  in  the  Olympics.  He  wishes  to  schedule  Theodore  in  sports                 

programming   for   three   to   five   hours   per   day   to   achieve   this   goal   on   his   father’s   behalf.     

11.  This  has  caused  a  continued  challenge  as  Mr.  Matt  has  put  the  boys  in                 

dangerous  situations  in  order  to  schedule  hours  of  sports  every  day  as  well  as  hours  of  therapy                   

every  day  for  the  Parties’  other  child,  Angus.  Mr.  Matt  remains  obstinately  and  bizarrely  opposed                 

to   paying   for   child   care   and   will   seek   to   avoid   it   in   any   way.   

12. On  August  27,  2018,  the  Parties’  younger  son,  Theodore  (then  seven)  informed              

Megan   that:   
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a. His  father  was  in  the  habit  of  routinely  dropping  him  unattended  in  front  of  the                 

Evanston  YMCA  (in  order  to  not  have  to  spend  time  parking).  The  Evanston               

YMCA   is   a   busy   facility   that   shares   its   building   with   a   men’s   SRO.   

b. Teddy  would  check  himself  into  the  Y  and  go  to  the  dressing  room  and  dress                 

himself  for  a  drop  in  swimming  class.  He  said  he  was  the  only  one  alone  and  that                   

the   other   kids   had   parents   or   babysitters.   

c. After  the  swimming  class  Teddy  would  go  alone  to  the  showers  in  the  dressing                

room,   used   by   adults   as   well   as   children,   and   dress   for   a   drop-in   basketball   class.   

d. Megan  asked  if  all  the  kids  changed  together,  thinking  perhaps  it  was  a  formal                

program,  but  Teddy  said  again  that  other  kids  had  grownups  picking  them  up  and                

dropping   them   off.   

e. In  total  Teddy  would  spend  two  hours  at  the  Y  without  a  responsible  adult                

ensuring   his   safety,   some   of   that   time   naked   and   alone   in   an   adult   dressing   room.   

f. Mr.   Matt   confirmed   these   facts   and   refused   to   change   his   behavior.     

g. Megan  confirmed  with  the  Evanston  YMCA  that  drop  in  classes  are  not  child  care                

and  that  per  policy:  Teddy  needed  to  be  checked  in  by  an  adult  to  the  facility,                  

brought   to   class   and   picked   up   from   class   by   an   adult.   

h. The  Evanston  YMCA  called  Mr.  Matt  and  wrote  him  a  note  to  immediately  cease                

this   behavior.    (Exhibit   D)   

13. However,  rather  than  hiring  a  babysitter,  Peter  started  taking  Teddy  to  sports              

leaving   Angus   alone   with   therapists   for   hours   at   a   time.   

14. Since  20011,  Angus  Matt,  the  younger  Parties’  older  son,  has  received  Applied              

Behavioral  Analysis  (ABA)  therapy  with  a  variety  of  providers.  As  therapists,  ABA  providers  are                

not  child  care  providers  and  require  a  responsible  adult  to  be  with  the  children  during  sessions                  

per   their   standard   contract.     
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a. On  August  4,  2017,  Peter  Matt  said  for  that,  for  child  care,  “Angus  could  do  ABA”                  

(Exhibit   G)   

b. On  August  25,  2020,  Megan  Peter  raised  the  issue  of  Peter’s  inappropriate  use               

of   ABA   as   child   care   in   the   Talking   Parents   Platform,   stating:   

“your  plan  is  to  spend  40-50  minutes  driving  Teddy  to  soccer  then              
returning,  leaving  Angus  without  childcare.  You  will  then  later  spend  40-50             
minutes  going  back  to  get  Teddy  after  practice.  Since  you  are  scheduling              
ABA  in  the  home  at  that  time,  you  will  live  Angus  uncared  for  with  a  male                  
therapist,  for  between  an  hour  and  twenty  minutes  and  an  hour  and  forty               
minutes  every  day,  depending  on  traffic….do  you  dispute  these  facts?  Do             
you   have   a   child   care   plan?”   
  

Mr.  Matt  replied,  “I  understand  you  want  to  know  from  me  my  parenting               
plan”    (Exhibit   K)   
  

15. In  October  of  2020  Reach  ABA  dropped  Angus  as  a  patient.  Given  his  many                

bizarre  behaviors  and  continued  violation  of  their  contract,  Mr.  Matt’s  behaviors  make  it  difficult                

for   quality   providers   to   be   willing   to   work   with   Angus.   

16. Mr.   Matt   remains   in   violation   of   the   MSA.   

WHEREFORE,   MEGAN   MATT,   requests   that   this   Court   enter   an   Order:   

A. Enforcing  the  Allocation  Judgment  paragraph  9  that  Peter  Matt  provide  childcare             

for   the   minor   children   during   his   work   day;   

B. Enforcing  the  Allocation  Judgment  paragraph  1  that  Peter  Matt  address            

Significant   Issues;   

C. Enforcing  the  Allocation  Judgment  paragraph  14  that  Peter  Matt  respect  Megan’s             

role   as   the   children’s   mother;   

D. Issuing  a  rule,  returnable   instanter ,  requiring  Peter  to  show  cause  why  he  should               

not   be   held   in   indirect   civil   contempt   for   his   failure   to   comply   with   the   Allocation   Judgment;     

E. Finding  Peter  to  be  in  indirect  civil  contempt  for  his  failure  to  comply  the                

Allocation   Judgment;   
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F. Modifying   the   Allocation   Order   as   follows:     

“1.  Each  parent  shall  provide  the  other  with  a  current  work  schedule  and               

description  of  his  or  her  childcare  arrangements  prior  to  the  beginning  of              

each   school   year   or   whenever   requested   by   the   other   parent.     

2.  Each  parent  is  obligated  to  answer  questions  from  the  other  parent  related               

to  the  safety  of  the  Minor  children.  If  a  parent  refuses  to  answer  or  excessively                 

delays   answering   such   questions,   he   or   she   will   be   in   violation   of   this   Order.   

3.Each  parent  will  provide  appropriate  child  care  at  all  times  when  they  are               

unable   to   care   for   them   because   of   work   or   other   commitments”   

  
G. Ordering   Peter   to   comply   with   the   Allocation   Judgment   and;   

H. Requiring  Peter  to  reimburse  Megan  for  lost  wages  do  to  the  exhaustive  efforts  to                

resolve  this  matter,  calculated  as  hour  spent  in  researching,  drafting  and  filing              

documents  in  this  matter  at  a  rate  of  her  current  annual  salary  ($72,000)  adjusted  to  an                  

hourly   rate   of   $36   per   hour,   pursuant   to   Illinois   Rule   137;   and   

I. For   such   further   relief   as   this   Court   deems   appropriate.   

  
  
  

Respectfully   submitted,   
  

  
  

MEGAN   MASON  
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IN   THE   CIRCUIT   COURT   OF   COOK   COUNTY,   ILLINOIS   
COUNTY   DEPARTMENT,   DOMESTIC   RELATIONS   DIVISION   

  
IN   RE   THE   MARRIAGE   OF: )   

)   
PETER   MATT, )   

)   
Petitioner, )   

)   
and ) No.    16   D   9534   

)   
MEGAN   MATT   n/k/a   MASON, )    

)   
Respondent. )   

  
AFFIDAVIT   OF   MEGAN   MATT   N/K/A   MASON   IN   SUPPORT   OF     

  
I,  MEGAN  MATT  n/k/a  MASON,  hereby  submit  this  affidavit  under  penalties  provided              

by  law  pursuant  to  section  1-109  of  the  Illinois  Code  of  Civil  Procedure  and  certify  that  the                   

statement   set   forth   in   this   affidavit   are   true   and   correct.   

1. I   am   the   Respondent   in   this   matter.     

2. I  have  personal  knowledge  of  the  matters  stated  in  my  PETITION  FOR  RULE               

TO  SHOW  CAUSE  AND  MOTION  TO  COMPEL  RE:  FAILURE  TO  SUPERVISE             

CHILDREN  and  they  are  true  and  correct  except  as  to  those  matters  stated  on  information  and                  

belief,   which   are   believed   to   be   true.     

3. I  hereby  restate  and  incorporate  by  reference  the  allegations  contained  in  my              

Petition   as   if   the   same   were   set   forth   here   verbatim.     

  
  

  
Respectfully   Submitted,   

  
  

  
  

MEGAN   MATT   n/k/a   MASON   
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IN   THE   CIRCUIT   COURT   OF   COOK   COUNTY,   ILLINOIS   
COUNTY   DEPARTMENT,   DOMESTIC   RELATIONS   DIVISION   

  
IN   RE   THE   MARRIAGE   OF: )   

)   
PETER   MATT, )   

)   
Petitioner, )   

)   
and ) No.    16   D   9534   

)   
MEGAN   MATT   n/k/a   MASON, )    

)   
  

Respondent. )   

   

   IT   IS   ORDERED   that   the   party   herein   named   shall   appear   personally   before   Judge   Robert   

Johnson   via   Zoom,   at    9:30   am,   on    April   20th,   2021,   to   show   cause   why   he/she   should   not   be   

held   in   contempt   of   court   for    failing   to   comply   with   the   order   entered   by   this   Court   on   

September   27th,   2017,   and   states   that   the    following   is   true   and   correct:     

  
MEGAN   MASON’S   PETITION   FOR   RULE   TO   SHOW   CAUSE   AND   MOTION     

TO   COMPEL   RE:   HARASSMENT   AND   FAILURE   TO   ADHERE   TO   PARENTING   
PLAN   WITH   REGARD   TO   PARENTING   TIME   

   
 MEGAN  MATT  n/k/a  MASON,  (“Megan”),  pursuant  to  the  parties’  Allocation  of  Parental               

Responsibilities  Judgment  and  Parenting  Plan  (“Allocation  Judgment”)  entered  on  September  27,             

2017  and  all  applicable  rules  and  statutes,  moves  this  Court  to  issue  a  Rule  to  Show  Cause                   

compelling  PETER  MATT  to  appear  and  show  cause  as  to  why  he  should  not  be  held  in  indirect                    

civil  contempt  of  Court  for  his  failure  to  comply  with  the  Judgment  and  Marital  Settlement                 

Agreement.   In   support   of   her   petition,   Megan   Mason   states   as   follows:     

Introduction   

1   
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This  matter  requires  this  Court’s  urgent  attention  as  Mr.  Matt  had  demonstrated  a               

consistent  contempt  and  disregard  for  the  Allocation  Order  entered  into  on  September  27,  2017                

Allocation  Judgment,  specifically  as  it  pertains  to  Megan’s  right  to  parent  the  children  during  her                 

parenting  time  and  Mr.  Matt’s  obligation  to  communicate  respectfully  and  with  appropriate              

boundaries   presents   an   ongoing   impediment   to   successful   co-parenting.   

Background   

1. The   parties   were   divorced   on   September   27,   2017.   Two   children   were   born   during   

the   marriage,   namely:   Angus   (age   12)   and   Theodore   (age   9).     

2. Also   on   September   27,   2017,   the   Court   entered   an   Allocation   Judgment   

(Parenting   Plan),   which   incorporated   the   parties’   Parenting   Plan     (Exhibit   A.) .     

3. On   September   25,   2019   a   Parenting   Coordinator,   Dr.   John   Palen,   was   appointed   to   

assist   in   routine   decisions   between   the   parties    (Exhibit   M)   

4. The   Parenting   Plan   The   Parenting   Plan   paragraph   2   “Allocation   of   Routine   and   

Emergency   Decision   Making   Responsibility”   reads,   in   no   uncertain   terms   that:   “A   parent   shall   

have   sole   responsibility   for   making   routine   decisions   with   respect   to   the   Minor   Children   and   for   

emergency   decisions   affecting   the   Minor   Children’s   health   and   safety   during   that    parent’s   

parenting   time”.   

5. Mr.   Matt   routinely   and   incessantly   violates   the   specific   provision   that   “a   parent   

shall   have    sole    responsibility   for   making   routine   decisions”   during   his   or   her   parenting   time   and   

violates   the   very   spirit   of   the   Parenting   Plan   which   assumes   that   both   parents   are   allowed   to   

make   decisions   about   the   children.   

6. Mr.   Matt   is   particularly   obsessive   and   controlling   Megan’s   time   to   force   her   to   

make   sure   that   the   Parties’   9-year-old   son,   Theodore,   participates   in   a   soccer   program   for   at   least   
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three   hours   a   day,   seven   days   a   week   because   Mr.   Matt   has   decided   that   Teddy   will   be   in   the   

Olympics   and   then   a   professional   soccer   player.   When   Teddy   was   in   second   grade,   Mr.   Matt   

wrote,   “Ideally   [Teddy]   doesn’t   play   high   school,   but   the   US   Soccer   Development   

Academy...Before   that   he   should   make   it   into   the   Olympic   Development   Academy…”    (Exhibit   

H).   

7. Peter   is   obsessed   with   Theodore’s   involvement   in   soccer   on   Sunday   mornings   and   

this   has   been   a   topic   of   his   harassment   for   several   years,   going   so   far   as   to   threaten   Megan   and   

her   church   community.   

a. In   2019,   asked   Megan   to   switch   schedules   so   he   could   have   parenting   time   on   

Sunday.   Megan   agreed,   but   then   Mr.   Matt   changed   his   mind,   declining   to   have   

parenting   time   on   Sunday.   

b. Mr.   Matt,   however,   wants   to   control   Megan’s   time   on   Sunday.   

c. Megan   has   attended   Lake   Street   Church   in   Evanston   with   both   children   since   two   

years   before   the   parties   divorced    (Exhibit   F) .   Lake   Street   Church   is   very   

important   to   Megan   and   the   boys   socially,   personally   and   spiritually.     

d. Megan   has   told   Mr.   Matt   that   she   believes   while   still   in   elementary   school,   the   

children   should   go   to   Sunday   school   with   her   during   her   parenting   time.   She   

believes   as   a   mom   she   should   expose   children   to   the   values   and   communities   she   

thinks   are   good   for   them   and   it’s   her   right   and   duty   to   do   so.   She   has   stated   when   

Teddy   is   thirteen   she   will   allow   him   to   decide   whether   to   attend   church   or   other   

social   activities   or   sports.   

e. Mr.   Matt   will   not   accept   Megan’s   parenting   time   decisions.   In   order   to   intimidate   

Megan   into   taking   Teddy   to   soccer   on   Sunday   mornings,   on   April   29,   2019,   Peter   
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Matt   called   Lake   Street   Church   and   threatened   the   Lake   Street   Church   

administrator,   Pat   Stringer,   who   states:     

“He   introduced   himself   as   ‘Peter   Matt’....and   he   doesn’t   like   what’s   going   on   [at   Lake   
Street   Church].   Again   I   asked   him   to   elaborate.   He   doesn’t   want   his   kids   to   come   to   this   
church.   Nothing   more   specific   than   that”.    (Exhibit   D)   
  

f. On   April   29,   2019,   Mr.   Matt   emailed   and   threatened   the   Director   of   Youth   
Programming   at   Lake   Street   Church,   Jillian   Westerfield:   

  
  “Attached   is   the   parenting   agreement   for   Angus   and   Teddy   Matt.   Let   me   know   if   they   
show   up   at   your   church   again   please.   I   will   call   the   police   and   have   them   removed   I   
offered   her   multiple   times   family   therapy,   mediation,   and   a   guardian   ad   litem   for   the   kids   
and   the   outstanding   issues.   She   refuses   all   that”.    (Exhibit   E)   

  
g. On   April   29,   2019,   Mr.   Matt   again   threatened   Megan,   “If   you   bring   them   [to   

church]   again   I   will   call   the   police”   Via   email    (Exhibit   D)   

h. The   Lake   Street   Church   youth   director,   Jillian   Westerfield,   was   concerned   about   

violence   to   the   church   community   and   to   Megan   and   her   children   and   referred   

Megan   to   a   Lake   Street   congregant   and   attorney   who   specializes   in   violence   

against   women,   Kaethe   Morris   Hoffer,   Executive   Director   of   the   Chicago   

Alliance   Against   Sexual   Exploitation.    (Exhibit   G)   

i. Megan   had   a   phone   consultation   with   Kaethe   Morris   Hoffer   on   May   9,   2019   in   

which   she   described   Mr.   Matt’s   pattern   of   behavior   to   Ms.   Hoffer.   Ms.   Hoffer   told   

Megan   that   vexatious   litigation,   financial   abuse   and   harassment   are   forms   of   

domestic   abuse   and   referred   Megan   to   a   domestic   violence   advocacy   group   in   the   

hope   of   accessing   subsidized   legal   help.    (Exhibit   G)   

j. On   at   least   three   occasions   Mr.   Matt   has   filed   spurious   motions   to   this   Court   

alleging   that   Megan   has   violated   the   Parenting   Plan’s   provision   that   the   parents  

“maintain   the   faith”   of   the   children.   This   is   not   only   deceitful,   as   Megan   has   been   
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taking   the   children   to   Lake   Street   church   since   two   years   before   their   divorce,   but   

it   is   a   blatant   attempt   to   control   Megan’s   time   for   Mr.   Matt’s   selfish   interests.   

k. Mr.   Matt   continues   to   attempt   to   force   Megan   to   schedule   activities   on   Sunday   

mornings.     

l. Sunday   mornings   are   still   Megan’s   parenting   time   per   mutual   agreement.   

m. Mr.   Matt   bullies   and   harasses   Megan   to   try   to   force   her   to   do   Sunday   swimming   

for   the   parties’   other   child,   Angus,   during   her   parenting   time..    (Exhibit   I,   Exhibit   

P).   

n. On   November   5,   2020,   Megan   reached   out   the   PC,   Dr.   Palen,   to   ask   him   to   help   

stop   Mr.   Matt   from   harassing   about   Sundays.    (Exhibit   I).   

o. Instead   of   ceasing   his   harassment,   Mr.   Matt   responded   to   the   email,   “I   think   

Angus   Special   Olympics   is   more   important   and   fun   for   him”   and   “   if   there   is   

soccer,   that   is   more   important   than   church”    (Exhibit   I) .     

8. Mr.   Matt   shows   a   shocking   lack   of   awareness   that   Megan   is   entitled   to   make   

decisions,   suggesting   that   because   he   has   an   opinion   about   her   parenting   time,   she   must   obey.   

This   defies   the   basic   premise   of   co-parenting.   

9. Mr.   Matt   also   attempts   to   force   Megan   to   schedule   activities   on   every   other   day   of   

her   parenting   time   and   will   not   accept   no   for   an   answer.     

10. Every   other   Saturday   evening,   the   boys   are   with   Megan   per   mutual   agreement.   

Mr.   Matt   regularly   harasses   Megan   to   control   her   Saturday   schedule,   going   so   far   as   to   kidnap   

the   children.   

a. In   2019   Mr.   Matt   asked   Megan   if   he   could   enroll   Teddy   in   a   third   soccer   program   

that   played   on   Saturday   evenings,   “The   Quad”.   Megan   considered   the   program   
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but   ultimately   said   no,   preferring   to   keep   the   parenting   time   she   shares   with   the   

boys   every   other   Saturday   for   family   time   such   as   visiting   friends   or   going   to   

cultural   activities.   

b. Mr.   Matt   nonetheless   enrolled   Teddy   in   the   Saturday   soccer   program   and   

badgered   Megan   repeatedly   to   attend   this   program   every   other   week.   

c. On   January   3,   2020   he   again   asked   to   take   Teddy   to   the   Quad   and   Megan   repeated   

that   she   did   not   support   this   program   during   her   parenting   time.    (Exhibit   L)   

d. Mr.   Matt   continued   to   harass   Megan   about   the   Quad   and   also   raised   the   issue   of   

the   Quad   to   Teddy,   violating   basic   parenting   common   sense   and   the   specific   

clause   in   the   Parenting   Plan   that,   “the   parties   shall   not   initiate   discussions   about   

disputed   issues   between   the   parties   or   make   extensive   inquiries   into   the   activities   

of   the   other   party   with   the   Minor   Children”    (Exhibit   O,   Exhibit   A)   

e. Mr.   Matt   continued   to   not   only   ask   to   take   Teddy   to   the   Quad   but   escalated   and   

kidnapped   the   children   in   order   to   take   Teddy   to   the   Quad   on   Saturday,   July   20,   

2019.    (Exhibit   Q)   

f. Per   mutual   parental   agreement,   the   boys   were   to   be   in   Megan’s   care   alternating   

Saturdays   at   3pm.   This   parenting   time   plan   has   been   in   place   for   several   years   by   

mutual   agreement.     

g. On   Saturday,   July   20,   2019,   Megan   went   to   Peter’s   home   to   pick   up    the   children   

to   take   them   to   an   art   festival   she   and   the   boys   planned   to   attend   her   parenting   

time.   Mr.   Matt   had   Teddy   at   the   Quad   and   refused   to   relinquish   the   children.     
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h. Mr.   Matt   showed   the   texts   from   Megan,   in   which   she   admonished   him   for   

kidnapping   and   indicated   she   would   call   the   police   in   the   future,   to   the   minor   

children   Teddy   and   Angus.   

11. Mr.   Matt   also   continues   to   attempt   to   force   Megan   to   schedule   activities   on   

Mondays   and   Tuesdays   and   ignores   the   PC   decisions   in   the   matter.    (Exhibits   B,   M,   O).   

12. Mr.   Matt   is   unable   to   respond   in   an   emotionally   appropriate   manner   to   Megan   

having   parenting   rights   and   occasionally   having   opinions   with   which   he   disagrees.   

a. Multiple   times   a   week,   Mr.   Matt   emails,   texts   or   messages   Megan   and/or   other   

Parties   involved   in   children’s   care   -   therapists,   GAL,   PC   -   to   “discuss”   scheduling   

something   during   Megan’s   parenting   time.   

b. Mr.   Matt   calls   this   harassment   collaboration.   Mr.   Matt   believes   he   is   entitled   to   

control   all   hours   of   Megan’s   parenting   time   if   he   calls   this   control   collaboration,   

co-parenting   or   frames   it   as   in   the   children’s   interest.     

c. Mr.   Matt   believes   only   his   opinions   matter   when   it   comes   to   the   interest   of   the   

children,   so   any   discussion   of   “children’s   interest”   by   Mr.   Matt   is   really   a   

discussion   of   how   to   do   what   he   wants   and   how   to   force   others   to   do   what   he   

wants.   

13. When   the   Parties   do   agree   to   activities   across   parenting   time,   Mr.   Matt   is   

controlling   and   inappropriate   in   his   monitoring   of   Megan’s   activity.     

a. Megan   had   agreed   for   a   season   to   take   Teddy   to   soccer   practice   in   Chicago   on   

Mondays   in   the   Fall   season   of   2020.   

b. One   day   Megan   decided   to   keep   Teddy   home   to   decorate   the   Christmas   tree   and   

emailed   the   coach   in   advance   to   inform   him   of   Teddy’s   absence.    (Exhibit   K)   
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c. Having   learned   that   Teddy   missed   a   practice   Mr   Matt   became   enraged   and   used   

this   as   a   basis   to   ask   the   PC   to   revoke   Megan’s   parenting   rights.   He   wrote,   “John.   

It   seems   Megan   didn't   go   again   this   Monday.   Teddy   said   that   mom   said   it   was   too   

muddy,   but   she   knew   that   practice   was   happening.   Can   you   make   a   decision   

please?”.   By   “make   a   decision”,   Mr.   Matt   was   referring   to   his   ongoing   campaign   

to   get   John   to   revoke   Megan’s   right   to   make   parental   decisions    (Exhibit   J).   

d. When   Megan   clarified   that   this   was   a   minor   scheduling   change,   cleared   with   the   

coach,   Mr.   Matt   asked   her   to   copy   him   on   all   her   communications   to   the   coach,   

demonstrating   his   profound   lack   of   awareness   when   it   comes   to   infringing   on   

others’   rights   and   boundaries.    (Exhbit   K)   

14. In   his   pattern   of   abuse,   harassment   and   intimidation,   Mr   Matt   has   gone   so   far   as   to   

involve   the   parties’   young   children   in   their   disputes,   in   violation   of   the   Parenting   Plan   regarding   

disparaging   other   parent   in   direct   violation   of   the   Parenting   Plan.   

a. On   November   23rd,   2020,   Mr.   Matt   let   Theodore,   then   eight,   attend   a   Zoom   

meeting   with   the   Parenting   Coordinator   and/or   GAL,   without   informing   the   other   

parties.     

b. As   Teddy   was   not   in   front   of   the   camera,   only   Peter   knew   that   Teddy   was   in   

attendance.   

c. This   meeting   was   planned   around    a   number   of   high   conflict   topics   and   

inappropriate   for   a   young   child.     

d. When   Megan   asked   Mr.   Matt   why   Teddy   was   there,   Mr.   Matt   replied,   “What   am   I   

supposed   to   do,   ask   him   to   leave?”,   suggesting   Mr.   Matt   is   perhaps   incapable   of  

enforcing   the   type   of   boundaries   important   for   a   child.   
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e. Mr.   Matt   also   lets   the   children   read   texts   and   emails   and   Talking   Parents   messages   

between   himself   and   Megan   and   refuses   to   stop   doing   so.   He   seems   particularly   

focused   on   showing   them   any   communication   that   is   contentious   as   a   means   of   

disparaging   Megan   to   the   children.   

15. As   part   of   his   efforts   to   punish   and   control   Megan,   Mr.   Matt   also   slanders   Megan   

to   neighbors,   family   and   other   acquaintances   by   falsely   stating   that   Megan   has   embezzled   

money.   His   attorney   has   also   stated   that   Megan   embezzled   money.   

a. At   no   point   has   Megan   stolen   or   embezzled   money.   

16. As   part   of   his   efforts   to   punish   and   control   Megan,   Mr.   Matt   also   slanders   Megan   

to   neighbors,   family   and   other   acquaintances   by   falsely   stating   that   Megan   has   a   diagnosed   

personality   disorder.   

a. Megan   takes   mental   health   issues   seriously,   particularly   as   they   may   relate   to   the   

safety   of   the   children,   and   has   consistently   expressed   an   openness   to   getting   

mental   health   assessments   and   support   should   that   be   necessary.   Mr.   Matt   has   

provided   no   specific   concern   or   interest   in   an   evaluation.   

b. Megan   has   asked   Mr.   Matt   and   his   counsel   to   support   a   Section   604B   Evaluation   

that   includes   a   psychological   evaluation   of   both   parents,   including   herself,   but   Mr.   

Matt   refuses.   

c. Mr.   Matt   continues   to   claim   to   mutually   acquaintances   and   family   members   that   

Megan   has   a   severe   personality   disorder.   

17. Mr.   Matt   remains   in   violation   of   the   MSA.   
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18. Mr.  Matt’s  inability  to  respect  boundaries,  his  unrelenting  harassment,  and  his             

cruel  attacks  on  Megan  demand  serious  consideration  as  they  are  part  of  a  pattern  of  abuse  that                   

may   escalate   to   harm   Megan   and   the   minor   children.   

WHEREFORE,   MEGAN   MATT,   requests   that   this   Court   enter   an   Order:   

A. Enforcing   the   Allocation   Judgment     

B. Issuing  a  rule,  returnable   instanter ,  requiring  Peter  to  show  cause  why  he  should               

not   be   held   in   indirect   civil   contempt   for   his   failure   to   comply   with   the   Allocation   Judgment;     

C. Finding  Peter  to  be  in  indirect  civil  contempt  for  his  failure  to  comply  the                

Allocation   Judgment;   

D. Ordering   Peter   to   comply   with   the   Allocation   Judgment   and;   

E. Modifying   the   Allocation   Order   as   follows:     

“1.  Each  parent  shall  respect  the  other  parent’s  right  to  disagree  on  occasion.               

Neither  parent  is  allowed  to  harass  the  other.  If  either  parent  raises  an  issue                

more  than  five  times  after  the  other  parent  has  made  a  decision  with  which  he                 

or  she  disagrees,  the  parent  raising  the  issue  more  than  five  times  shall  be                

considered  harassing  the  other  parent  and  in  violation  of  this  Order.  This              

Court  may  impose  financial  penalties  on  a  party  found  to  be  harassing  the               

other.   

2.  “Neither  parent  shall  show  emails,  texts  or  Talking  Parents  messages  from              

the  other  parent  to  the  children.  Both  parents  will  make  a  reasonable  effort  to                

stop  the  children  from  reading  communications  from  one  parent  to  the  other  or               

being  involved  in  disputes,  including  putin  a  password  lock  on  their  phones.              

Neither  parent  shall  allow  the  children  to  attend  virtual  or  in-person  court  or               

10   

  

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 4
/9

/2
02

1 
9:

11
 A

M
   

20
16

D
00

95
34

Exhibit N Continued



meetings  with  the  parties  attorneys,  meetings  with  the  GAL  or  meetings  with              

the  Parenting  Coordinator  unless  all  parties  are  aware  and  give  consent.  This              

Court  may  impose  financial  penalties  if  either  parent  is  found  to  be  willfully               

exposing  the  Minor  children  to  parental  conflict,  negotiations  or  discussions            

about   parenting   decisions“   

  
F. Modifying   the   order   appointing   a   parenting   coordinator   to   read:   

“The  parties  shall  meet  with  the  Parenting  Coordinator  on  a  monthly             

basis  to  discuss  parenting  decisions.  Between  meetings,  the  parties           

shall  make  every  effort  to  refrain  from  involving  the  Parenting            

Coordinator  in  any  discussions,  including  calling  for  meetings  or           

copying  the  Parenting  Coordinator  on  emails,  except  in  genuinely  time            

sensitive,  urgent  issues  related  to  the  health  and  safety  of  the  children.              

Under  no  circumstances  may  one  Parent  ask  the  Parenting  Coordinator            

to   tell   the   other   parent   what   to   do   during   that   Parent’s   Parenting   Time.”   

  

G. Ordering   Mr.   Matt   to   never   schedule   an   activity   during   Megan’s   time.   

H. Ordering   Mr.   Matt   not   to   allege   that   Megan   has   engaged   in   theft   or   embezzlement;   

I. Ordering   Mr.   Matt   to   not   allege   that   Megan   has   a   diagnosed   personality   disorder;   

J. Ordering  Mr.  Matt  to  engage  a  parenting  coach  or  therapist  recommended  by  Dr.  John                

Palen   within   30   days;   

K. Ordering  Mr.  Matt  to  to  meet  with  the  parenting  coach  or  therapist  recommended  by                

Dr.  John  Palen  on,  at  minimum,  a  monthly  basis  for  a  period  of  no  less  than  six                   

months,  with  a  goal  to:  improve  Mr.  Matt’s  understanding  of  appropriate  parenting              
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responsibilities,  improve  Mr.  Matt’s  understanding  of  basic  child  safety  and            

supervision;  improve  Mr  Matt’s  ability  to  communicate  in  a  non-threatening  manner             

and   to   improve   Mr.   Matt’s   ability   to   acknowledge   and   respect   personal   boundaries;   

L. Requiring  Peter  to  reimburse  Megan  for  all  payments  to  Dr.  John  Palen  in  the  role                 

of   Parenting   Coordinator,   to   date;   

M. Requiring  Peter  to  reimburse  Megan  for  lost  wages  do  to  the  exhaustive  efforts  to                

resolve  this  matter,  calculated  as  hour  spent  in  researching,  drafting  and  filing  documents  in  this                 

matter  at  a  rate  of  her  current  annual  salary  ($72,000)  adjusted  to  an  hourly  rate  of  $36  per  hour,                     

pursuant   to   Illinois   Rule   137;   and   

N. For   such   further   relief   as   this   Court   deems   appropriate.   

  
  
  

Respectfully   submitted,   
  

  
  

MEGAN   MASON  

12   

  

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 4
/9

/2
02

1 
9:

11
 A

M
   

20
16

D
00

95
34

Exhibit N Continued



IN   THE   CIRCUIT   COURT   OF   COOK   COUNTY,   ILLINOIS   
COUNTY   DEPARTMENT,   DOMESTIC   RELATIONS   DIVISION   

  
IN   RE   THE   FORMER   MARRIAGE   OF: )   

)   
PETER   MATT, )   

)   
Petitioner , ) Case   No.   2016   D   009534   

)   
and )   

)   
MEGAN   MATT, )   

n/k/a   MEGAN   MASON, )   
)   

Respondent . )   
  

Motion   for   Allocation   of   GAL   Fees,   Extraordinary   Healthcare   Costs,   604B   Investigation   
Costs,   and   Attorney   Fees   for   Megan   Mason   

  
I,   Megan   Mason,   acting   pro   se,   humbly   ask   the   court   to   consider   my   plea   for   a   just   allocation   of   

fees   related   to   the   medical   care   of   our   minor   children   Angus   and   Theodore   Matt.   Because   of   

Angus   Matt’s   unique   special   medical   needs,   this   encompasses   a   wide   range   of   costs   directly   and   

indirectly   related   to   his   care   and   to   the   organization   and   compensation   of   professionals   assisting   

with   his   care.   I   will   present   this   motion   at   our   scheduled   appearance   on   December   3,   2020.   

1. The   issue   of   who   should   be   responsible   for   costs   related   to   the   care   of   the   minor   

children   Angus   and   Theodore   Matt   has   been   a   matter   of   debate   before   this   court   on   prior   

occasions.   Specifically,   Megan   Mason   has   asserted   that   Peter   Matt   is   independently   wealthy   and   

supported   by   his   even   wealthier   father   and   should   therefore   pay   a   larger   portion   of   fees.     

2. Mr.   Matt   has   disputed   this   assertion   on   prior   occasions.   

3. In   the   matter   of   Michael   Bender’s   fees   and   the   cost   of   the   children’s   healthcare,   

the   court   has   ordered   that   allocation   be   revisited   through   an   order   entered   on   November   20,   2019   

for   medical   expense   allocation   to   be   revisited   and   on   a   June   9,   2019   order,   parties   were   ordered   
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to   exchange   Financial   Affidavits   within   28   days   and   to   revisit   the   Allocation   of   GAL   and   other  

fees.  

4. Megan   Mason   presented   financial   affidavits   and   complete   supporting   documents   on   July   

24,   2019   through   her   then   attorney   as   requested   and   Peter   Matt’s   attorney   confirmed   receipt.   

Megan   Mason   has   subsequently   provided   to   Peter   Matt   through   counsel   her   updated   financial   

affidavit   presented   here   for   the   court.   (Exhibit   A.)   she   has   also   disclosed   supporting   financial   

statements   and   tax   forms   and   indicated   a   willingness   to   provide   any   requested   documentation.   

5. On   July   3,   2019   Peter   Matt   presented   a   Financial   Affidavit   and   a   checking   account   

statement   showing   a   balance   of   $0   and   a   single   tax   form   showing   $26,000   in   salary.   (Exhibit   B,   

Exhibit   C,   Exhibit   D)Megan   Mason   raised   to   Peter   Matt’s   counsel   that   the   financial   affidavit   

provided   by   Peter   Matt   was   incomplete   and   missing   vital   information.   Specifically,   Megan   

Mason   pointed   out   that   the   financial   affidavit   grossly   under-represented   Peter   Matt’s   wealth   and   

access   to   his   father’s   wealth   as   an   ongoing   source   of   support   prior   to   the   marriage,   during   the   

marriage,   during   the   divorce   proceedings   and   at   present.   Megan   asked   for   clarification   on   a   

multitude   of   material   financial   issues   which   Peter   Matt   refused.   (Exhibit   E)   

6. Peter   Matt   refused   to   respond   to   requests   for   supporting   documents   and   

clarification.   Peter   Matt   also   refused   to   update   his   financial   affidavit,   therefore   his   financial   

affidavit   must   be   regarded   as   final.     

7. I   ask   that   the   Court   please   consider   the   appropriate   Allocation   of   fees.   I   also   ask   

that   the   Court   consider   the   gross   misrepresentations   made   in   Peter   Matt’s   financial   disclosures   

and   his   refusal   to   clarify   when   considering   just   allocation   of   fees.     

8. Peter   Matt   intentionally   deceived   the   court   by   grossly   under-representing   his   

income,   wealth   and   access   to   parental   support.   Specifically:   
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a. Peter   Matt’s   Business   Bank   Accounts   

i. Peter   Matt   has   on   prior   occasion   submitted   to   this   court   that   he   owns   four   

businesses:   Goedecke   US,   Goedecke   Germany,   Goedecke   Poland,   and   

Goedecke   India   (Exhibit   F)   

ii. Peter   Matt   refuses   to   provide   bank   statement   for   any   of   the   business   bank   

accounts   he   controls   or   are   controlled   by   his   father   for   Peter   Matt’s   

benefit,   specifically:    ING   Poland   Account   Number   96   1050   1025   1000   

0090   7475   0911(Exhibit   G),   Postbank   Germany   (Exhibit   H),   Northshore   

Community   Bank   and   Trust   (Exhibit   J),   Goedecke   India   Bank   Accounts,   

any   Goedecke   business   accounts   not   listed.   

iii. Paypal   accounts   for   India,   Poland,   Germany   and   the   US   (Exhibit   I)     

b. Peter   Matt’s   business   entity   and   tax   forms,   specifically:   

i. Goedecke   US   tax   filings   in   the   US   and   other   countries   

ii. Goedecke   Germany’s   tax   flings   in   the   US   and   Germany   

iii. Goedecke   Poland’s   tax   filings   in   the   US   and   Poland   

iv. Goedecke   India’s   tax   filings   in   the   US   and   India   

9. Peter   Matt   has   routinely   used   business   accounts   controlled   by   him,   his   father,   Leo   Matt,   

or   both   parties   in   order   to   pay   for   his   personal   expenses.   (Exhibit   K)     

10. This   use   of   parental   support   through   supposed   businesses   and   gifts   predates   the   marriage   

and   was   an   ongoing   source   of   familial   income   while   both   parties   were   married.   Particular   

scrutiny   ought   to   therefore   be   given   to   Peter   Matt’s   businesses   and   the   omission   of   these   details   

ought   to   be   regarded   as   specifically   intended   to   deceive   the   court   as   to   his   means.     
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11. As   further   evidence   of   the   commingling   of   business   and   personal   assets,   Peter   Matt   uses   

his   home   address   and   his   father’s   home   address   as   the   business   address   for   his   multiple   bank   

accounts   (Exhibit   G,   Exhibit   H,    Exhibit   J).   

12. As   further   evidence   of   his   father’s   undisclosed   contribution,   European   business   expenses   

are   paid   by   Leo   Matt’s   personal   credit   cards,   not   disclosed   or   included   in   his   financial   disclosures   

(Exhibit   I).   

13. Peter   Matt   declared   on   his   financial   affidavit   that   he   receives   $3,583   in   dividend   income.   

He   refuses   to   describe   the   source   of   this   income   or   to   disclose   supporting   documents   such   as   tax   

filings   or   bank   accounts.   

14. Peter   Matt   refuses   to   disclose   if   he   is   employed   and   by   whom.   

15. Peter   Matt   claims   that   his   income   is   less   than   10%   of   what   he   claimed   four   months   prior   

to   marital   separation   in   financial   statements   shared   with   Megan   Mason   by   Peter   Matt   and   by   his   

father   Leo   Matt.   He   refuses   to   provide   an   explanation   for   this   dramatic   reduction   in   income.   

(Exhibit   L,   Exhibit   M).   

16. Peter   Matt   claimed   in   a   meeting   with   John   Palen   and   Megan   Mason   on   November   

23rd,   2020   that   his   income   is   about   $26,000   annually.   In   the   same   conversation   he   claimed   that   

extraordinary   healthcare   costs   in   the   amount   of   $20,000   annually   are   appropriate   and   necessary.   

This   defies   logic   and   is   further   evidence   of   brazen   deceit.   

17. Mr.   Matt   also   claims   to   have   a   mortgage   and   to   own   a   property   in   East   Wilmette   

that   Zillow   values   at   over   $882,000   (Exhibit   N).   Mr.   Matt   refuses   to   provide   a   proof   of   the   

mortgage,   title   or   other   property   details.   Given   that   Mr.   Matt’s   wealthy   father   supports   him   in   

many   ways,   the   court   should   consider   that   Mr.   Matt’s   home   is   paid   for   by   his   father,   unless   he   

4   
  

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 1
1/

24
/2

02
0 

2:
53

 P
M

   
20

16
D

00
95

34

Exhibit O Continued



can   prove   otherwise.   This   is   further   evidence   of   the   extraordinary   financial   means   available   to   

Mr.   Matt   while   Megan   Mason   must   pay   for   her   own   housing..   

18. Megan   Mason   worked   as   the   accountant   for   Goedecke   and   its   international   

businesses   (at   that   time   Goedecke   India   and   Goedecke   Poland)   until   2012.   She   is   qualified   to   

speak   to   the   operation   of   Peter’s   businesses   as   well   as   common   standards   in   business   accounting   

and   tax.   In   2012   Megan   Mason   withdrew   from   all   financial   operations   because   of   concern   for   

Mr.   Matt’s   financial   dealings   and   their   disagreement   over   the   interpretation   of   US   tax   laws.   

Specifically:   

a. In   2011   Mr.   Matt   inherited   $800,000   in   Germany   which   Megan   Mason   believed   

should   be   declared   on   the   US   tax   forms.   Mr.   Matt   would   not   do   this.   

b. Peter   Matt   then   claimed   to   gift   the   $800,000   to   his   father   who   in   turn   has   made   

“Business   Loans”   to   Peter   Matt   over   the   years.   

c. Peter’s   father,   Leo   Matt,   subsequently   advanced   part   of   Mr.   Matt’s   inheritance   

from   his   own   large   estate   in   the   form   of   “Business   Loans”   

19. Megan   Mason   has   always   fully   disclosed   her   financial   status   and   pays   taxes   in   

accordance   with   a   traditional   interpretation   of   tax   law   and   should   therefore   be   treated   as   more   

credible   in   all   financial   matters.   

20. Given   the   preponderance   of   evidence   of   hidden   accounts   and   commingling   of   business   

and   personal   assets   as   well   as   the   continued   access   to   gifts,   the   Court   ought   to   treat   with   

particular   scrutiny   any   assertions   by   Peter   Matt   as   to   his   financial   means.   

21. Given   that   Mr.   Matt   has   untold   resources   with   which   to   maintain   his   lifestyle   and   to   

continue   his   profligate   use   of   the   judicial   system,   he   can   afford   to   contribute   significantly   more   

to   the   well   being   of   the   minor   children   than   Megan   Mason   can.   

5   
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22. Given   the   unequal   financial   means   available   to   both   parties,   I   humbly   ask   that   the   court   

order   that:   

a. Peter   Matt   be   ordered   to   pay   Michael   Bender,   GAL,   the   outstanding   balance   

as   of   $2,478.50   as   of   November   15,   2020.   Peter   Matt   agrees   to   be   responsible   

for   100%   of   Michael   Bender’s   fees   going   forward   until   an   order   is   entered   

removing   Michael   Bender   from   this   case .   Peter   Matt   will   pay   Michael   Bender   

within   30   days   of   receipt   of   an   invoice.     

b. Peter   Matt   be   ordered   to   pay   John   Palen’s   fees    in   full   until   such   time   as   John   

Palen   is   removed   by   the   court.Peter   Matt   will   pay   Michael   Bender   within   30   days   

of   receipt   of   an   invoice.     

c. Because   of   Angus   Matt’s   special   medical   and   educational   needs,   extraordinary   

medical   expenses   are   often   incurred.    Peter   Matt   shall   be   fully   responsible   for   

all   medical   costs   beyond   health   insurance   premiums.    This   includes   ABA   

therapy,   occupational   therapy,   therapeutic   sports   or   recreational   programs,   

medical   specialists,   and   any   other   expense   deemed   medically   necessary   by   any   

parent   with   medical   or   educational   decision   making   rights.   This   includes   any   past,   

present   or   future   obligations   described   as   “medical   expenses”.   

d. Because   the   Allocation   of   Parenting   responsibilities   and   Marital   Settlement   

Agreement   have   proven   ineffective   to   meet   the   needs   of   the   minor   children   in   this   

case   and   have   created   opportunities   for   excessive   litigation,   future   negotiation   and   

the   drafting   of   new   orders   is   necessary.   Megan   Mason   cannot   afford   an   attorney   to   

properly   support   her   in   this   matter.   Peter   Matt   is   independently   wealthy   and   is  

6   
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regularly   supported   by   his   wealthy   father.    Peter   Matt   should   be   responsible   for   

Megan   Mason’s   necessary   legal   fees,   in   the   amount   of   up   to   $20,000   annually.   

e. Peter   Matt   will   be   fully   responsible   for   the   cost   of   a   604B   evaluation    should   

one   prove   necessary.   

  

  
  
  

PRESENTED   BY:   
  
  

   

______________________________   
Megan   (Matt)   Mason,   pro   se,   

November   24,   2020   
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Iris Y. Martinez, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois
cookcountyclerkofcourt.org

Page 1 of 2

Subpoena in a Civil Matter (For Testimony and/or Documents)	 (��������) CCG 0106 A

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

SUBPOENA IN A CIVIL MATTER
(For Testimony and/or Documents)

To: 

1. YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear to give your testimony before the

Honorable  ________________________________ in Room  _____________ ,

_________________________________________________ , Illinois on  ___________

at  __________    AM    PM

2. YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear and give your deposition testimony before a Notary Public

at:  _______________________________________________________ in Room  _____________ ,

_______________________________________________ , Illinois on  ___________

at  __________    AM    PM

3. YOU ARE COMMANDED to mail the following documents in your possession or control

to  __________________________________ at  ______________________________________________ ,

on or before  ___________ at  __________    AM    PM
(THIS IS FOR RECORDS ONLY.  THERE WILL BE NO ORAL INTERROGATORIES.):

  Description continued on attached page(s).

Your failure to respond to this subpoena will subject you to punishment for contempt of  this Court.

Plaintiff/Petitioner
v.

Defendant/Respondent

Case No. 

Peter Matt

Megan Matt nka Mason

16 D 009534

Swanson, Martin & Bell LLP
330 N. Wabash
Suite 3300
Chicago, Illinois 6061

Megan Mason 423 Linden Ave., Apt. 2E Wilmette, IL 60091

2/15/2021 1

A full accounting of payments from or on behalf of Peter Matt in connection to case 16 D 09534
from the time of engagement with Mr. Matt, Goedecke and Associates, or any of his affiliates.
These records shall include....(continued)
✔

✔

FILED
1/19/2021 10:53 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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Addendum:   
Subpoena   in   a   Civil   Matter   (Supporting   Documents)   in   the   matter   of   Matt   v   Matt   
(16   D   009534)     

  
Swanson,   Martin   &   Bell   LLP   (SMB)   shall   provide   all   records   of   payments   received   by   or   
for   their   client   Peter   Matt   or   his   affiliated   enterprises,   eg   Goedecke   and   Associates,   
related   to   ongoing   domestic   relations   matters,   including   but   not   limited   to:   
  

● All   check   stubs,   wire   transfer   receipts   or   electronic   funds   verification   for   payment   
received   from   accounts   associated   with:   

○ Peter   Matt   
○ Goedecke   and   Associates,   Inc.   
○ Goedecke   Poland   
○ Goedecke   Germany   
○ Goedecke   India   
○ Leo   Matt   
○ Joe   Connelly   
○ Anne   Mason   
○ Angus   Matt   
○ Theodore   Matt   
○ Any   trusts,   corporations,   or   entities   not   heretofore   mentioned   that   have   

issued   payments   on   behalf   of   Peter   Matt   
  

● A   full   accounting   of   all   payments   received   by   Peter   Matt   or   any   associates,   
including   but   not   limited   to   those   listed   above,   since   his   first   engagement   with   
SMB   prior   to   these   divorce   matters   to   the   present   including:   

○ Date   and   amount   of   payments   received   
○ Source   bank   account   for   payments   received   

  
● Any   credit   card   authorizations   or   bank   transfer   authorizations   completed   by   Peter   

Matt   or   his   associates   in   this   matter   

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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Iris Y. Martinez, Clerk of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois
cookcountyclerkofcourt.org

Page 2 of 2

Notice to Deponent:

1. The deponent is a public or private corporation, partnership, association, or governmental agency.  The
matter(s) on which examination is requested are as follows:

Description continued on attached page(s).
(A nonparty organization has a duty to designate one or more officers, directors, or managing agents, 
or other persons to testify on its behalf, and may set forth, for each person designated, the matters on 
which that person will testify.  Ill. Sup. Ct. Rule 206.)

2. The deponent’s testimony will be recorded by use of  an audio-visual recording device, operated

by  ______________________________________________ .
(Name of  Recording Device Operator)

3. No discovery deposition of  any party or witnesses shall exceed three hours regardless of  the number of
parties involved in the case, except by stipulation of  the parties or by order upon showing that good cause
warrants a lengthier examination.  Ill. Sup. Ct. Rule 206(d).

Subpoena in a Civil Matter (For Testimony and/or Documents)	 (��������) CCG 0106 B

Issued by:  /s/�
Signature

  Attorney    Clerk of  Court

Date:  ___________

Atty. No.:  ________________
Pro Se 99500

Name:  �
Atty. for (if  applicable):

Address:  �

City:  �

State:  ____  Zip:  ________

Telephone:  ________________________

Primary Email:  �

I served this subpoena by mailing a copy, as required by Ill. Sup. Ct. Rules 11, 12 and 204(a) (2),

to  _____________________________________ by certified mail, return receipt requested

(Receipt # ________________________) on  ___________ .  I paid the witness $  _____________ for 
witness and mileage fees.

I served this subpoena by handing a copy to  _____________________________________________

on  ___________ .  I paid the witness $  _____________ for witness and mileage fees.

/s/ _________________________________________  �
(Signature of  Server)	 (Print Name)

I attest that I will serve this upon Christopher Wherman at SMB Trials once this document is stamped. 
I further attest that I will present proof of service to this Court. 

Megan Mason

423 Linden Ave., Apt. 2E

Wilmette

IL 60091

917.518.1808

megan42@gmail.com

0

Megan Mason

✔

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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FILED
2/11/2021 9:59 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534

12181292

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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IN   THE   CIRCUIT   COURT   OF   COOK   COUNTY,   ILLINOIS   
COUNTY   DEPARTMENT,   DOMESTIC   RELATIONS   DIVISION   

  
IN   RE   THE   MARRIAGE   OF: )   

)   
PETER   MATT, )   

)   
Petitioner, )   

)   
and ) No.    16   D   9534   

)   
MEGAN   MATT   n/k/a   MASON, )    

)   
Respondent. )   

  
RESPONSE   TO    MOTION   TO   QUASH   SUBPOENA   AND   MOTION   TO   COMPEL  

  
 Now  comes  Megan  Matt  nka  Mason’s  response  to  Petitioner’s  Motion  to  Quash               

subpoena  and  Motion  to  compel  that  Swanson,  Martin  &  Bell  to  tender  documents  as                
subpoenaed :     
  

1. Respondent  agrees  that  the  Court  has  jurisdiction  over  the  subject  matters  herein              
and   the   parties   hereto.   

2. Respondent   agrees   that   Peter   Matt   is   the   Petitioner   in   the   above-captioned   matter.   

3. Respondent   agrees   that   there   is   set   for   hearing   a   number   of   pending   motions.   

4. Respondent  agrees  that  a  subpoena  request  was  submitted  to  Swanson,  Martin  &              
Bell.   

5. Respondent  agrees  that  the  subpoena  is  for  a  full  accounting  of  payments  on  Peter                
Matt’s   account   and   various   payers   were   listed.   

6. Respondent  agrees  that  parties  in  Illinois  are  subject  to  the  Illinois  Code  of  Civil                
Procedure.   

7. Respondent   disagrees   that   the   subpoena   is   defective   on   its   face.   

8. Respondent  disagrees  and  asserts  that  she  did  cause  the  subpoena  to  be  issued  by                
the  clerk  of  the  Court.  Having  reviewed  the  above  mentioned  subpoena  clerks  on               
behalf  of  Iris  Y.  Martinez,  Circuit  Clerk  of  Cook  County,  stamped  and  ratified  said                
subpoena  at  10:53am  on  January  19,  2021.  Respondent  further  notes  that,  due  to               

1   

  

FILED
2/24/2021 12:12 PM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534

12331387

All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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the  COVID  19  pandemic,  efiling  is  the  only  method  available  to  the  public  to                
engage  with  Clerks  of  Cook  County  and  this  is  the  method  she  used  to  get  the                  
stamp  before  submitting  to  Petitioner.  Petitioner  is  cynically  implying  that,  due  to              
a  public  health  crisis,  pro  se  litigants  should  be  denied  due  process.  This  is  on  the                  
face   of   it   false.   This   subpoena   should   not   be   thrown   out.   

9. Respondent   agrees   that   she   is   not   an   attorney.   

10. Respondent  agrees  she  did  not  advance  payment  for  documents  and  further  notes             
that  Swanson,  Martin,  Bell  has  sent  Respondent  accounting  statements  in  the  past              
at  no  cost,  presumably  because  the  firm  uses  a  standard  accounting  software  such               
as  Quickbooks.  Respondent  notes  that  such  objection  is  disingenuous  and  that  an              
emailed  copy  of  the  documents  could  be  generated  and  emailed  in  moments.  (see               
Exhibit   A   Invoice).   

11.  Respondent  agrees  that  the  Supreme  Court  of  Illinois  has  adopted  requirements              
for   the   issuance   of   a   subpoena.   

12.   Respondent   agrees   that   subpoenas   should   be   relevant.   

13.   Respondent   agrees   that   courts   have   good   reasons   for   post-judgment   discovery.   

14.   Respondent   agrees   that   discovery   is   worthy   of   serious   consideration.   

15.   Respondent   agrees   that   non-parties   ought   not   to   be   inconvenienced.   

16.  Respondent  vehemently  disagrees  that  the  subpoena  is  harassing  and  ought  to  be               
quashed   for   the   following   reasons:   

a. This  line  of  post-decree  discovery  has  been  ordered  by  the  Court.  This              
Court  has,  on  two  occasions,  ordered  matters  for  reallocation  pending            
financial  review.  Assuming  Petitioner  agrees  that  this  Court  has  authority  to             
order  a  review  of  financial  allocation  and  the  obvious  discovery  and             
document  exchange  such  allocation  entails,  this  matter  is  settled  as            
germaine   and   important   to   the   matters   before   this   Court.   

b. The  specific  details  requested  are  quite  narrow  -source  of  funds  for             
payment  of  Petitioner  invoices.  Petitioner  has  brazenly  lied  about  the            
existence  of  multiple  bank  accounts  in  the  US  and  Europe  with  which  he               
pays  his  expenses.  Respondent  would  like  to  show  the  Court  that  Petitioner              

2   
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has  multiple  undisclosed  resources  with  which  he  pays  his  legal  bills  but              
which   he   refuses   to   use   for   family   expenses.     

c. Respondent  also  notes  that  she  made  this  petition  after  multiple  attempts  at              
a  normal  exchange  of  financial  information  as  ordered  by  this  Court.             
Specifically,  Respondent  showed  evidence  of  four  bank  accounts  controlled           
by  Mr.  Matt  not  disclosed  in  his  most  recent  financial  affidavit.  She              
requested  proof  that  these  accounts  were  closed  and  received  no  response.             
It  is  Petitioners  willful  refusal  to  comply  with  the  Order  that  necessitates              
this   subpoena.   

d. It  is  also  reasonable  to  show  Petitioners  pattern  of  deceitful  behavior  in              
financial  matters.  Quite  simply,  Petitioner  should  not  be  rewarded  for            
hiding  assets,  evading  taxes  and  lying  in  documents  heretofore  presented  in             
this   Court.   

17.  Respondent  does  not  understand  what  this  means  and  can  neither  confirm  nor               
deny   Swanson,   Martin   &   Bell’s   scope   of   engagement   with   Mr.   Matt.   

18.  Respondent  denies  that  the  request  is  overly  broad  as  only  source  payment               
sources  are  requested.  The  full  payment  history  is  requested  because  the  matter  of               
source  bank  accounts  and  claims  that  such  accounts  have  been  closed  is  relevant  to                
this   matter.   

19.  Respondent  agrees  that  this  matter  is  post-decree  but  notes  that  there  are  obvious                
times   when   records   from   the   past   are   relevant,   as   explained   above.   

20.  Respondent  disagrees  that  she  is  engaged  in  a  “fishing  expedition”  and  again               
points  out  that  this  discovery  is  in  relation  to  financial  allocation  ordered  by  this                
Court.  If  the  Petitioner  questions  the  Court’s  authority  to  order  a  review  of               
allocation,   that   is   not   Respondent’s   matter   to   resolve.   

21.  Respondent  denies  that  the  Subpoena  was  not  issued  in  good  faith  and  further                
demands   compliance   with   the   request.   

22.   Respondent   agrees   that   discovery   ought   to   be   expeditious   and   substantive.   

23.   Respondent   agrees   that   discovery   ought   not   to   cause   undue   burdens.   

24.   Respondent   disagrees   that   her   subpoena   is   irrelevant   as   details   extensively   above.   

3   
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25.  Respondent  disagrees  and  further  notes  that  Peter  Matt’s  financial  means  are              
primarily  gifts  and  transfers  from  his  hidden  overseas  businesses.  In  this  case,              
bank  records  are  the  only  documentation  as  Peter  Matt  refuses  to  report  overseas               
assets  or  pay  taxes  on  his  businesses  held  overseas,  so  there  are  no  paystubs,  tax                 
records  or  other  documents  that  a  “traditional”  financial  discovery  would  entail.             
Respondent  further  notes  that  she  complies  with  the  law  and  pays  taxes  and  does                
not  feel  that  she  should  disproportionately  be  assigned  expenses  simply  because             
Petitioner   refuses   to   comply   with   Discovery   or   the   law.   

26.  Respondent  disagrees  that  this  Subpoena  should  be  quashed  and  asks  the  Court  to                
please   swiftly   and   decisively   force   compliance   with   said   subpoena.   

  

  

  
  

  
  

Respectfully   submitted,   
  

  

  
  

  
  

MEGAN   MATT   n/k/a   MASON   
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, DOMESTIC RELATIONS DIVISION

IN RE THE FORMER MARRIAGE OF: )
)

PETER MATT, )
)

Petitioner, ) Case No. 2016 D 009534
)

and )
)

MEGAN MATT, )
n/k/a MEGAN MASON, )

)
Respondent. )

PETITION TO SUBSTITUTE JUDGE FOR CAUSE

On December 6, 2021 I intend to present this petition at Zoom Court before Judge Robert
Johnson at 10 am via (Zoom ID: 934 9022 2003; Password 543296). As will be detailed herein, I
am fearful that this pleading will go unheard and I am fearful of retaliation, and submit this as a
potential whistleblower, given the volume of irregular events that have transpired. I am therefore
also requesting that The Honorable Grace Dickerson ensure that I am granted a hearing by an
objective judge not related to this case.

Summary
I pray that The Honorable Judge Robert Johnson be substituted for cause on the basis of
judicial bias against me, Megan Matt (NKA Mason), Respondent, acting pro se in this case.

Section 5/2-1001 of the Code of Civil Procedure governs substitution of judges. 735
ILCS § 5/2-1001. Motions for substitution of a judge may be made for involvement
in the action, cause, as a matter of right, or in contempt proceedings. Id. §
5/2-1001(a). A party may move for substitution for cause at any time by filing a
petition that asserts the specific allegations that justify substitution. Id. §
5/2-1001(a)(3).

Each party is entitled to move for substitution as a matter of cause. 735 ILCS §
5/2-1001(a)(3)(i). To move for substitution as a matter of cause, a party must file a
petition setting forth the cause for substitution and praying for a substitution of judge. Id.
§ 5/2-1001(a)(3)(ii). The petition must be verified by the affidavit of the moving party. Id.
§ 5/2-1001(a)(3)(ii). A judge who is not named in the petition will conduct a hearing to
determine whether cause for substitution exists. Id. § 5/2- 1001(a)(3)(iii).

In support thereof, I state as follows:

FILED
11/30/2021 9:32 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534
Calendar, 23
15765159
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1. Judge Robert Johnson’s demonstrated bias against me is grounds for substitution for
cause.

2. Judge Johnson’s bias has been witnessed and documented extensively.

3. Specifically: Judge Johnson’s bias against me has been demonstrated by: repeated ex
parte communications; repeated denial of due process; and a contempt finding against
me not based in fact.

Overview
4. On September 27, 2017, the parties were divorced and the Court entered an Allocation

Judgment.

5. Two children were born of the marriage, namely Angus, born on 8/11/08 and currently
age 13; and, Theodore, born on 2/12/12 and currently age 9.

6. On February 19, 2019, Mr. Matt, petitioner, moved that a guardian ad litem be appointed.

7. I, Megan Mason, Respondent,  opposed this appointment.

8. On June 6, 2019, Judge Johnson selected and ordered the appointment of Michael
Bender as Guardian Ad Litem, two years post decree with no underlying legal
proceeding pending.

9. Subsequently Mr. Bender has requested and was granted by Judge Johnson the
appointment of Dr. John Palen as Parenting Coordinator on September 25, 2020..

Ex Parte Communications
10. Ill. Sup. Ct. R. 63,(5) A judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex parte

communications, or consider other communications made to the judge outside the
presence of the parties concerning a pending or impending proceeding except that:
(a) Where circumstances require, ex parte communications for scheduling,
administrative purposes or emergencies that do not deal with substantive matters or
issues on the merits are authorized; provided:
(i) the judge reasonably believes that no party will gain a procedural or tactical
advantage as a result of the ex parte communication, and
(ii) the judge makes provision promptly to notify all other parties of the substance of
the ex parte communication and allows an opportunity to respond

11. Judge Johnson has allowed and indirectly participated in inappropriate ex parte
communication via emails with opposing counsel to and from his clerk, Ms. Kaye Mason,
on at least two occasions.
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12. On December 5, 2020,  Dr. John Palen, parenting coordinator, accidentally copied me on
an email including Mr. Bender; Mr. Christopher Wehrman, opposing counsel; and Ms.
Kaye Mason, Judge Johnson’s clerk.

a. This email was one of a seeming thread of emails discussing this case. It
appears there are other emails between these parties because Dr. Palen uses no
address (eg “Hi John”), but rather writes a statement as if in response to prior
discussion.

b. I was excluded and no attorney representing me has been included in this or
other email threads between these individuals and Ms. Kaye Mason.

a. I happened to receive this one email unintentionally when Dr. Palen accidentally
copied me because I share Ms. Kaye Mason’s last name.

b. This email is evidence of inappropriate ex parte communication wherein all
parties in this case, except me, are given access to communicate with each other
and with Judge Johnson via his clerk, on an ongoing, secretive basis.

c. This private email thread almost certainly gives the opposing parties in this
matter a tactical advantage. This is on the face of it evidence of profound bias
and prejudice toward me.

d. The contents of this particular email are particularly troubling. In this email, Dr.
Palen wrote, “I want to be paid. It is as simple as that”.(Exhibit A “I want to be
paid” email)

e. At this time Dr. Palen had been paid in full and was still being compensated by
funds drawn from his positive retainer balance. No fee motions were pending or
even contemplated.

f. It’s implausible to regard this email as part of a routine scheduling matter.

g. Further, Dr. Palen lied about the nature of this email, suggesting guilt.
Specifically, Dr. Palen, upon realizing he had accidentally copied me, wrote,
“Sorry- this was meant for another case. I had not noticed Ms. (Megan) Mason on
the list of recipients.” (Exhibit B “Sorry this was meant for another case” email)

h. No reasonable person would believe this was meant for another case or that Mr.
Wehrman, Mr. Bender and Judge Johnson happen to be involved in another case
with Dr. Palen, as evidenced by the fact that no counterparty attorney was
copied.
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i. If by some stretch of the imagination this could be considered appropriate ex
parte communication, there would necessarily be an attorney for both the
Petitioner and the Respondent copied. There was not, except by accident.

j. The discussion of personal remuneration in an ex parte communication, not
intended to be read by one party,  is deeply troubling. Any reasonable person
would have to question the credibility of court proceedings after becoming aware
of such behaviors.

k. No party has ever informed me of the other emails in the chain, much less acted
promptly to notify me of the substance of the ex parte communication

l. By allowing such practices in his court, Judge Johnson has created an
atmosphere that is inherently untrustworthy and imbalanced unfairly against me.

13. The second instance of ex parte communication observed by me occurred on May 27, 2021
when, having duly followed procedures and guidelines for Cook County Domestic Relations
Division under Covid protocols, I scheduled a hearing on three petitions.(Exhibit T PETITION
FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE AND MOTION TO COMPEL RE: STRANGE ADULTS IN CHILDREN’S
HOME; Exhibit U: PETITION FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE AND MOTION TO COMPEL RE:
FAILURE TO PROVIDE CHILDCARE FOR CHILDREN AND FAILURE TO ADDRESS CHILDREN’ S
SAFETY; and Exhibit V: PETITION FOR RULE TO SHOW CAUSE AND MOTION TO COMPEL RE:
HARASSMENT AND FAILURE TO ADHERE TO PARENTING PLAN WITH REGARD TO PARENTING
TIME.)

(Exhibit C Please may I have a hearing date email)

a. These pleadings all contain matters that seriously impact the well being of the
children.

b. The pleadings are supported by more than fifty pieces of documentary evidence
including: a police report, an email from a police officer stating that the parenting
time violations ought to be addressed by a judge, an email from the parenting
coordinator stating that some matters need to be brought before the judge and
multiple threatening emails from Mr. Matt to me and staff members at my church.

c. On May 27, 2021 I emailed Ms. Kaye Mason, Judge Johnson’s clerk, to schedule
my hearing on the matters (Exhibit C Please may I have a hearing date email).

d. As is protocol, I copied Mr. Wehrman, Petitioner’s attorney, and Mr. Bender, GAL.

e. Ms. Mason followed Cook County Domestic Relations Division protocols and
scheduled my court appearance (Exhibit D “The first available date” email).
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f. Mr. Matt did not want these pleadings brought to court because they contain
voluminous evidence of his ongoing violations of the parenting plan and other
misconduct.

g. Mr. Matt had been given the opportunity to provide a written response to the
pleadings and did so.

h. Mr. Matt, via Mr. Wehrman, responded to the pleadings and provided no
evidence that the claims made therein were in any way false. Mr. Matt provided
no explanation for the serious misconduct disclosed therein nor did Mr. Matt
indicate he intended to stop any of the misconduct.

i. On May 27, 2021 Mr. Wehrman requested Ms. Mason ask Judge Johnson to
deny me a hearing on these matters . Mr. Wehrman emailed Ms. Mason,

“Kaye: When we were before the Judge on Monday, he appointed a 604
evaluator and set everything for status on July 13, 2021. I do not believe
Judge Johnson is having any hearings on this case at this time.” (Exhibit
E “I do not believe Judge Johnson is having hearings” email).

j. Ms. Mason then wrote that she would accommodate Mr. Wehrman’s request by
verbally communicating his wish to cancel my hearing to Judge Johnson (Exhibit
F “I will verify with the judge” email).

k. As a basis for his special treatment Mr. Wehrman suggests that because Judge
Johnson appointed a custody evaluator no matters should be heard. This is
simply unimaginable.

l. A custody evaluation can be long and protracted and parents ought to at no time
be barred from accessing due process to address urgent matters relating to their
children’s well being.

m. Further, as is the case of financial allocation, not all matters related to domestic
relations are addressed by a custody evaluation and there is no reason that such
a process should displace normal court functioning.

n. Ms. Mason agreed to follow Mr. Wehrman’s instructions and set aside Cook
County Domestic Relations Division policies in order to see if Judge Johnson
would grant Mr. Wehrman his favor of blocking the hearing (Exhibit F “I will verify
by the end of the day” email)

o. According to an email from Ms. Mason, without any reference to a legal basis,
Judge Johnson verbally approved this favor to Mr. Wehrman and ordered her to
cancel my duly scheduled hearing date. (Exhibit G “I just spoke with the judge”
email).
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p. Ms. Mason’s reference to the fact that she received an email request form Mr.
Wehrman and then “just spoke the judge” firmly establishes that she is in the
habit of using email as a way to brazenly facilitate ex parte dealings and she
must therefore in all her communications be seen as a proxy for Judge Johnson.

q. On the face of it these events demonstrate an unequal relationship wherein
Petitioner’s counsel is allowed to seek and receive favors outside of open court
to my detriment.

r. Ms. Kaye Mason had previously rebuked me via email to, “Please do not include
me (Coordinator) in correspondence between counsels and litigants” (Exhiibt H
“Please do not include me”).

s. Because Petitioner is given the ongoing opportunity to discuss any number of
matters with Judge Johnson via his clerk on an ex parte basis and I have been
strictly rebuked for any communication to Ms. Kaye Mason that is not routine
scheduling, which is to say legally allowable, there is an inherent imbalance.

t. Particular scrutiny should be given to the fact that I was at this time pro se and,
Judge Johnson did not utilize the leniency afforded to judges to Ill. Sup. Ct. R.
63, (4) to “make reasonable efforts, consistent with the law and court rules, to
facilitate the ability of self-represented litigants to be fairly heard”.

u. In fact, contrary to the above statute, Judge Johnson has consistently held me to
a higher standard in order to access judicial process than the standard an
attorney must meet. This is simply an impossible situation for a litigant.

v. This imbalance is evidence of overwhelming bias against me.

18.  In denying me hearing dates for various urgent matters I have attempted to bring to his
attention, Judge Johnson deprived me of my legally protected right to due process.

19. My right to due process is protected by the Fifth Amendment of the Constitution of the
United States of America and explicitly by Ill. Sup. Ct. R. 63, (4) which reads, A judge shall
accord to every person who has a legal interest in a proceeding, or that person's lawyer, the
right to be heard according to law. A judge may make reasonable efforts, consistent with the law
and court rules, to facilitate the ability of self-represented litigants to be fairly heard

20. In a further attack on my constitutional right to due process, I have also been denied notice
and the right to participate in hearings in my own case on multiple occasions. .
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a. In the first instance, on November 19, 2018 Mr. Matt filed a Petition for Rule to
show cause against me.

b. On December 3, 2018 I was found in contempt without having received notice. In
fact I received a US postal service mailed notice the evening of Dec. 3, 2018
informing me of the hearing earlier that day at which I was found guilty by default.
Curiously Mr. Matt’s attorneys emailed me the ruling. (Exhibit X First Contempt
Ruling Without Due Process).

c. Pro se at that time I was forced to use my entire $5,000 savings to retain counsel
in order to have this overturned.

d. On March 10, 2020, unbeknownst to me, Mr. Matt filed a  Petition for Rule to
Show Cause alleging that I was in contempt of court for various matters.

e. Mr. Matt, through counsel, served this petition via email on my attorney at the
time, Brad Trowbridge, on March 10, 2020, but I would not learn of this matter
until over four months later.

f. Mr. Matt is a vexatious litigant who has been in the habit of filing motions and
petitions intended to harass me and inflict financial harm on me since I separated
from him and our divorce proceedings began in 2016.

g. Because he is a vexatious litigant, I had followed up with my then attorney Brad
Trowbridge periodically and on April 22, 2020 specifically wrote,

”I hope you're well and your clients are not suffering too badly from the
quarantine. I'm personally quite pleased that no motions are being
filed right now, a nice break =)”. .(Exhibit I, “No motions are being filed”
email).

h. Mr. Trowbridge did not tell me at that time that there was a scheduled court
appearance or that a PRTSC had been served on me and a contempt allegation
made against me. In fact he affirmed that there was no litigation, writing:

“Megan. Yes, unfortunately, it took a pandemic to stop Peter's legal
abuse of you!” (Exhibit J “It took a pandemic to stop Peter's abuse of
you!” email)

i. Around this time someone logged into the court filing system and changed my
mailing address from 423 Linden Ave. Wilmette to 423 LInda Ave., Chicago.

j. In June of 2021 I personally spoke to a clerk in the Domestic Relations Division
and was told the change was made by someone logging in purporting to be me,
not due to transcription or computer error.

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 1
1/

30
/2

02
1 

9:
32

 A
M

   
20

16
D

00
95

34

Exhibit S Continued



k. I had received mail without issue at this address for four years and after this
notices were returned undeliverable (Exhibit K “Actual Docket” pdf).

l. In April, 2020 there was a scheduled court appearance related to the PRTSC. I
was never informed by Mr. Trowbridge. I was never informed by Michael Bender,
GAL. I was never informed by opposing counsel. I was never informed by court
mailing due to the address change.

m. This date was postponed due to COVID.

n. On July 6, 2020 there was a court appearance with all parties but me or anyone
representing me in attendance. I was never informed by Mr. Trowbridge. I was
never informed by Michael Bender, GAL. I was never informed by opposing
counsel. I was never informed by mailing due to the aforementioned address
change.

o. On July 20, 2020, according to Court Docket, it appears there was to be a third
scheduled date. Nobody informed me of this.

p. I have no way of knowing what might have been discussed at the July 6th court
hearing.

q. Nobody informed me or followed up to ask why I wasn’t at the July 6th, 2020
court appearance, including Michael Bender who serves as my children’s
Guardian Ad Litem and would presumably be curious why the mother of the
children he is tasked with advocating skipped a court hearing.

r. On July 12, 2020 I received a bill from Mr. Bender’s office indicating he had
attended court for my case. On this same date I wrote to Brad Trowbridge: “Zoom
court? What?” (Exhibit L “Zoom court what?” email).At this time Mr. Trowbridge
still did not inform me that a PRTSC had been served on me, writing:

“We had a zoom court date of July 6 that I had on my calendar as July 7.
That could have only have been for a short time. I also don't know
how much preparation there could have been. It looks like a lot of
activities have been lumped into one line item. The next zoom date is
July 20 at 9 AM. Anything I need to know?”

s. Mr. Trowbridge has a close professional and personal relationship with Mr.
Bender, GAL, and frequently has cause to speak to him. During the preceding
seven months, according to Mr. Trowbridge, Mr. Bender repeatedly indicated to
Mr. Trowbridge that he would be ending his assignment. He had written on
January 22, 2020:
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“Bender already told the judge this would be his last request” (Exhibit N
“Bender told the judge this would be his last appearance” email)

t. Because Mr. Bender does not speak to me or my children, I had no way of
knowing he was still acting as a Guardian Ad Litem, so I assumed the court
appearances were an opportunity for him to step down.

u. On July 22, 2020, still unaware of any PRTSC allegedly served on me on March
10, 2020, I specifically asked Mr. Trowbridge if Mr. Bender had finally stepped
down and if anything had been filed against me, writing:

“ Hi Brad, Did Michael make a motion to be removed? Anything filed
against me?” (Exhibit O”Anything filed against me?” email)

v. On July 22, 2020 Mr. Trowbridge finally informed me of the PRTSC served on
March 10, 2020. This was four months after the fact and after multiple scheduled
court appearances. Mr. Trowbridge wrote:

“Peter filed this and it was supposed to be up in April when the courts
were closed” (Exhibit M “Peter filed this” email).

w. Mr. Trowbridge actually received this pleading, as certified by Mr. Wehrman’s
notification of filing, on March 10, 2020 via email. Mr. Trowbridge clearly read this
pleading in March, 2020 as I would only later realize, when I reviewed his invoice
for this period. He billed me for reading it. (Exhibit P Trowbridge Invoice)

x. Nevertheless Mr. Trowbridge still refuses to provide me with the email or NOF
that he received with the PRTSC and maintains  a curious fallacy that he did not
get the PRTSC, claiming, “I didn’t receive anything” on June 11, 2021. (Exhibit Q
“I didn’t receive anything” email).

y. As in the case of Dr. Palen, when a party in this case commits malfeasance and
then lies about doing so, it only intensifies the way their misconduct damages the
entire credibility of proceedings before Judge Johnson.

z. Clearly Mr. Trowbridge either willfully failed in his duties as my attorney or was
somehow profoundly impaired.

aa. Judge Johnson can not necessarily be blamed for Mr. Trowbridge’s misconduct.

bb. However it is the responsibility of Judge Johnson to ensure officers in his court
and other court professionals operate ethically and decently and to see that they
are mentally and physically able to perform the important duties of advocating for
parents and children.
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cc. In fact Mr. Bender, Mr. Wehrman and Judge Johnson, are all, as officers of the
court, expected to report misconduct or unfitness they witness in other attorneys.

dd. One can imagine any number of scenarios - physical calamity, addiction, illness,
even death - where an officer of the court might be unable to serve.

ee. It is the responsibility of all officers of the court to act vigilantly when another
officer of the court might appear to be impaired or unable to serve the client.

ff. As a lay person I would have thought it unusual for an attorney and his client not
to file a response or appear at court for four months after a serious allegation of
contempt was made and I remain curious as to why no one ever contacted me
during this period.

gg. By not ensuring that I had been notified and given the opportunity to participate in
hearings in my own case, Judge Johnson has allowed a profound violation of my
rights that suggests he is deeply biased against me.

Contempt ruling not based in fact
21.  One further demonstration of bias is a finding of willful contempt of court that is not based in
fact. Namely, Judge Johnson ruled that I had violated his November20, 2019 order that,
“Parents shall continue ABA Therapy”. (Exhibit R November 20, 2019 ABA Order; Exhibit W
Aug 21, 2020 Contempt Order).

a. As part of his pattern of vexatious litigation, Mr. Matt has long made the claim that I
interfere with our older child receiving Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA) Therapy.

b. ABA therapy is a kind of hands-on behavioral therapy for individuals with autism and
other developmental disabilities.

c. In fact, though ABA therapy has never been ordered or recommended by a medical
doctor, I have enrolled our older child in this therapy and participated many times in this
therapy since he was four years old. He’s now thirteen.

d. The basis of Mr. Matt’s claim that I interfere with ABA therapy stems from his history of
financial abuse and vexatious litigation and my attempts to protect myself in response.
Notably:

i. On one occasion Mr. Matt committed in writing to pay the full $14,000 for ABA
therapy for that year because I was unemployed at the time and had no money to
contribute. Later Mr. Matt brought a motion before Judge Johnson to sue me for
the fees he’d previously committed to pay.
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ii. On another occasion I lost my job and emailed the ABA provider that day to tell
her I needed to pause therapy until we could set up COBRA. Mr. Matt has used
this in court as an example of me aggressively “blocking” ABA therapy because I
was in financial distress.

e. I maintain the alleged conflict is a ruse for abusive litigation. There has never been an
“Issue” with ABA therapy.

f. Nevertheless, onNovember 20, 2019, based only on instructions from Michael Bender,
GAL, Judge Johnson entered an order that “The parties shall continue ABA therapy”.

g. We have done so.

h. In October, 2019 I enrolled my son in after school care on Monday and Tuesday
afternoons so that I could work.

i. As a result of work I am able to feed and house my children. I receive no maintenance or
child support.

j. I asked the after school program director to allow ABA therapists to push in therapy on
Monday and Tuesday afternoons. The school staff said they could not accommodate this
as it is a public school program and they cannot allow outside providers.

k. ABA usually requires a minimum of three hours and it was impossible to fit in on the
days I worked, but our son was continuing every other day of the week, subject to
therapist availability.

l. Mr. Matt has aggressively sought to sabotage my career as part of his ongoing emotional
and financial abuse as well as to aggressively control my parenting time, contrary to the
duly enacted parenting plan.

m. In November of 2019, Mr. Matt threatened me with litigation for not doing ABA on
Mondays and Tuesdays because of employment.

n. Mr. Trowbridge, my then attorney, told me I had nothing to fear because the order was
that ABA therapy continue, with no number of days or hours, no location, and no specific
parental involvement mandated in the order. I was made to understand that the standard
of proving contempt is (theoretically) very high and this could not possibly rise to that
standard since ABA was continuing and any reasonable family law judge believes
parental employment is good for children.

o. Mr. Matt never raised this issue again, nor did Michael Bender serving as GAL. I would
not learn there was an allegation of a problem until July, 2020, eight months later.
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p. At the time that the PRTSC alleging that I violated the order that “ABA shall continue”
was filed on March 10, 2020 (without my knowledge), the entire state was locked down
due to COVID. During Illinois’s COVID  lockdown no parent, including Mr. Matt himself,
could possibly have been expected to continue an in-person therapy.

q. In fact, on June 5th, 2020, Mr. Matt texted me:
“Are you ok with me getting a new ABA provider? They continue dragging their
feet providing services because of covid, while many other providers
work”(Exhibit S “Are you ok with me getting a new ABA provider?” Text).

r. During COVID lockdown some providers did offer Zoom therapy but this is not an
approved or appropriate methodology for people who, due to developmental disabilities
or cognitive impairment, lack the ability to regulate themselves and focus for sustained
periods.

s. Our older son has severe ADHD and struggles very much with sitting in front of a screen.

t. Our older son reported to me in spring of 2020 that Mr. Matt was dragging him, kicking
him and physically holding him down in a chair to force the Zoom therapy.

u. This violence was also reported to me by my younger son who is neurotypical.

v. I am a former teacher with a Masters Degree in Early Childhood Education and a trained
mandated reporter.

w. I recognized this behavior by Mr. Matt as abusive and reported this behavior to my older
son’s school, to DCFS and to Michael Bender, GAL in the spring and summer of 2020.

x. In the spring of 2020 my older son’s school offered us access to an ABA software called
TeachTown which I was using with my son to provide ABA therapy modified for COVID
lockdown.

y. In an effort to try to reduce violence from his father and my son’s mistreatment I wrote to
the ABA provider that we didn’t need the Zoom therapy because the school was
providing software that was more appropriate for children of my son’s ability than a video
conferencing tool.

z. I had no way of knowing that there was anything wrong with this because, between
March and July, 2020, nobody told me there was a contempt allegation or, more
pointedly, nobody suggested there was  an underlying issue that would necessitate a
contempt allegation.
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aa. As a lay person it is my understanding that the purpose of a contempt finding is to
ensure parties comply with judicial orders, not to inflict harm on individuals one does not
like.

bb. I believe I ought to have been able to explain that my employment and wish to prevent
child abuse factored into my decisions and that I had every reason to believe I was in
compliance with the order.

cc. On August 21, 2020 we appeared before Judge Johnson for a hearing but Mr.
Trowbridge did not speak, specifically he did not present any points from the response
we drafted.

dd. No evidence was presented by Mr. Matt to prove that I willfully violated the order that
“ABA shall continue”.

ee. I do not believe Judge Johnson fulfilled his duty to review the facts of the case.

ff. On August 21, 2020 Judge Johnson found, “Megan Matt willfully and contumaciously
failed to participate in the court ordered ABA therapy for Angus”. This is untrue.

i. In order for me to have willfully defied the order I would have needed to know I
violated it.

ii. In order to be contumacious, one must necessarily know they are in violation and
stubbornly persist, which implies at least knowing at one time. I did not at any
time know this.

gg. On the face of it, I still maintain I was in compliance with an order that “Parents shall
continue ABA therapy” as, barring lockdown and employment constraints, ABA was
continuing.

hh. Because the finding was so utterly unsupported by fact, Mr. Trowbridge told me upon
ruling that he would immediately file a motion to reconsider.

ii. Mr. Trowbridge did not file a motion to reconsider.

jj. Mr. Trowbridge stepped down as counsel  forty days after the ruling, citing ongoing
“computer issues” in the court system as one reason he could not continue.

kk. Judge Johnson’s baseless contempt ruling was not based on fact and can therefore only
be based on his bias.

22. One factor that has contributed to rulings not based in fact and the denial of due process by
Judge Johnson is the appointment of Michael Bender as Guardian Ad Litem.
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A. Mr. Bender was appointed at the request of Peter Matt, who wished to control and
harass me but was unable to find a legal basis to modify the parenting plan or to claim I
was in non-compliance.

B. To my understanding, having been divorced for two years, with no court motions
pending, there was not a legal basis to diminish my parental rights in any way.

C. Divorced women are not a separate class of citizens. We are entitled to the same rights
as any other citizen and I ought to have been allowed to exercise my right to parent
without state intervention, barring legitimate court proceedings.

D. Having been appointed in the role of GAL, Mr. Bender has demonstrated a shocking
inability or disinclination to advocate for my children.

a. In two years he has never spoken to my older son’s developmental pediatrician,
who is a faculty member of the University of Chicago and serves on many boards
of the American Academy of Pediatrics.

b. In two years he has never spoken to any of my children’s teachers or other
school staff.

c. In two years he has never spoken to my older son’s long term ABA therapist.

d. He does not respond to my emails or calls.

e. In two years he had never spoken to my children’s doctors until my older son’s
pediatrician tried to reach Mr. Bender for two weeks in order to report to him a
sealed visit note containing reports of child abuse. A court appearance occurred
in this period, once the appearance was made and he had “nothing to report”, he
finally returned her call.

E. Because of my concerns about Mr. Bender’s commitment to his duty, it is therefore
doubly concerning that Judge Johnson has frequently set aside my due process rights
and assigned Mr. Bender, as GAL, to investigate, assess and form judgement on all
matters relating to my case.

a. In early spring of 2021 I moved that a post-decree parenting evaluation be
conducted (604.10 b) for a variety of reasons, but most significantly Mr. Matt’s
firm opposition to psychiatric medication, which has severely damaged our older
son’s well being and access to education as well as Mr. Matt’s use of his medical
decision right to incur excessive medical expenses in order to repeatedly sue me
and cause harm.

b. Judge Johnson denied my motion and firmly stated that there was no basis or
issue with parentage to warrant an investigation.
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c. At this time I told Judge Johnson that there were serious issues, such as Mr.
Matt’s tenement scheme and failure to supervise the children.

d. At this time Judge Jonson told me, “If that’s true, you need to file something or I
can’t do anything about it”.

e. I filed multiple Petitions, included here (Exhbits T, U, V).

f. When I attempted to present these in court, Judge Johnson did not address me
but spoke to Mr.Wehrman and said, “Mr. Wehrman, I suggest you talk to Mr.
Bender and agree to a 604.10B or she’s just going to keep doing this”.

g. On the face of this, Judge Johnson is obviously prejudiced against me if he had
already decided my pleadings were a waste of time, as implied.

h. During discussions to which I was not privy, Mr. Bender proffered to Mr. Wehrman
a custody evaluation, with a custody evaluator hand selected by Mr. Bender, in
exchange for denying me due process.

i. Mr. Wehrman agreed and drafted the order for a custody evaluation.

j. I beseeched Mr. Wehrman to limit the scope to my prior motion. Mr. Wehrman
insisted on filing an order for an evaluation with no scope.

k. I saw then and see now, that this custody evaluation is not in any way intended
for my children’s well being but just another example of individuals in this case
seeking to silence my legitimate claims.

l. At our next court appearance I attempted to get Judge Johnson to hear my
motion for financial allocation with regard to Mr. Bender’s fees; an allocation
actually ordered by Judge Johnson himself at the time of Mr. Bender’s
appointment.

m. Mr. Trowbridge stated, “Your honor, Bender said if we agreed to the custody
evaluation we wouldn’t have to deal with these”.

n. I also attempted Judge Johnson to rule on a motion I had filed to compel a
subpoena related to the aforementioned financial allocation motion.

i. I had subpoenaed from Mr. Wehrman his record of payment from Mr.
Matt.

1. Mr. Matt had stated in his most recent financial affidavit related to
the matter of allocation that he earns $27,000 per year and has
one bank account with $1,000.
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2. Mr. Matt uses a bank account he shares with his father, into which
his father deposits gifts and loans, as well as profits from multiple
international businesses which Mr. Matt refuses to disclose in tax
or court filing.

3. Mr. Matt also uses his business accounts for personal expenses,
thereby managing to report losses in the US on his own personal
spending.

4. I simply wanted to show these accounts are available to Mr. Matt
to pay Mr. Bender’s fees.

5. Because the allocation motion was for financial means to pay an
attorney, it was appropriate to subpoena Mr. Wehrman’s receipts
from Mr. Matt.

ii. Mr. Wehrman said, “Your honor, she just wants to show I’m laundering
money for my client”.

iii. I believe this was a joke.

iv. I am actually trained quarterly on anti money laundering law and a
licensed financial advisor so I cannot be seen to joke or make light of
financial activities that may be criminal.

v. Such interchanges are typical since Mr. Bender’s appointment. I
presented documentary evidence of wrongdoing. This documentary
evidence was blocked by Mr. Bender and Mr. Wehrman. Then Mr.
Wehrman and Mr. Bender later use my true statements as evidence of
fancy or hysteria. Jokes at my expense are frequent in Judge Johnson’s
court.

1. Mr. Wehrman in particular is in the habit of spewing long
monologues at every status hearing in which he disparages me
and uses disrespectful language.

2. Mr. Wehrman degrades me by typically referring to me as “this
woman” or “that woman”.

3. Mr. Wehrman makes generalized, untrue, disparaging statements
not related to the proceedings such as “That woman lies”, “This
woman doesn’t care about her children”, “That woman can’t be
trusted”, “That woman doesn’t want to take care of her kids”.
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4. It is very obviously part of Mr. Wehrman’s strategy to attempt to
provoke an emotional reaction or outburst by tyrading against me.
If this is obvious to me, it would seem obvious to a judge.

5. I have attempted to stop this by doing what I see on tv and saying,
“Your honor, I object. Please ask Mr. Wehrman to speak to me
respectfully”.

6. Judge Johnson has never indicated to Mr. Wehrman that I should
be addressed politely or that he should refrain from monologuing
on alleged character flaws.

23. An unfortunate outcome of the irregularities in my case is that is a challenge for me to find
counsel willing to represent me.

A. At least four attorneys have told me in the last year that they will not work with me due to
the negative regard with which the Judge and GAL regard me.

B. This further supports my fear of bias.

C. I retained Alexandra Brinkmeier in the summer of 2021 as counsel.

D. On November 8th I emailed Ms. Brinkmeier a summary of reports of suspected crimes in
my case.

E. On November 11th, three days after I explicitly stated that I suspected and had reported
crimes, Ms. Brinkmeier moved to end the engagement against my objection, citing
philosophical differences.

F. I pleaded with Judge Johnson to not allow her to resign and described why this would do
me material harm as a client.

G. I did not know how or what to legally file to stop her motion, so I filed an affidavit and
served it on parties. (Exhibit Y Affidavit Stating Objection)

H. Ms. Brinkmeier was granted her request to quit and I am pro se.

24. The totality of events here are a basis for substitution of Judge Johnson for cause due to his
overwhelming bias against me.

WHEREFORE, Respondent prays that the Court enters an order that:
A. This case and all pending matters be immediately reassigned to a new judge in the

Domestic Relations Division of Cook County Circuit Court.

B. Mr. Bender’s appointment as Guardian Ad Litem be immediately terminated..
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C. Any order entered in this case after the appearance of Bradley Trowbridge as my
attorney on July 5, 2019 be overturned.

D. That I be allowed to have clergy from Lake Street Church of Evanston and members of
the Lake Street Church Peace and Justice Committee to be present to serve as civil
rights observers in any future court appearances or meetings with court professionals.

Respectfully Submitted,

Megan (Matt) Mason
Pro Se Respondent
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 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 COUNTY DEPARTMENT, DOMESTIC RELATIONS DIVISION 

 IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:  ) 
 ) 

 PETER MATT,  ) 
 ) 

 Petitioner,  ) 
 ) 

 and  )  No.  16 D 9534 
 ) 

 MEGAN MATT n/k/a MASON,  ) 
 ) 

 Respondent.  ) 

 PETITION TO TRANSFER VENUE IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE 

 I,  Megan  Mason,  formerly  known  as  Megan  Matt,  am  pro  se  Respondent  in  the  Divorce 

 entered  in  this  court  on  September  27,  2017.  I  am  petitioning  this  Court  to  grant  an  immediate 

 transfer  of  this  case  and  all  pending  parentage  matters  to  adjoining  Lake  County  in  the  interest 

 of  justice.  A  preponderance  of  factual  evidence  demonstrates  that  it  is  impossible  for  me  and  my 

 children  to  access  justice  in  the  Domestic  Relations  Division  of  the  Circuit  Court  of  Cook  County 

 (“this  Court”).  I  cannot  receive  a  fair  hearing  on  any  matter  in  the  present  venue  due  to  ongoing 

 criminality  of  parties  involved  in  this  case  and  among  the  appointees  and  staff  of  this  Court.. 

 Further  I  cannot  access  justice  in  the  present  venue  due  to  persistent  denial  of  due  process  and 

 denial of access to justice by individuals involved in this case and staff at this Court. 

 Furthermore,  as  I  am  currently  bringing  a  Civil  Rights  complaint  against  this  Court  itself  and 

 against  the  Clerk’s  office  in  Federal  District  Court  and  seeking  an  investigation  of  gender 

 discrimination  in  the  Civil  Rights  Division  of  the  Justice  Department,  it  would  be  impossible  for 

 me  to  expect  fair  treatment  within  the  Court  and  Clerk’s  Division  which  are  themselves  parties 

 named  in  an  ongoing  inquiry.  I  therefore  demand  whistleblower  protection,  including  relocating 

 this  case  and  all  pending  family  law  matters  relating  to  myself  and  to  my  minor  children,  Angus 

 1 

FILED
2/16/2022 9:48 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534
Calendar, 63
16726233
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 Matt  and  Theodore  Matt,  to  a  new  venue  outside  Cook  County  Illinois  and  convenient  to  both 

 parties. 

 Legal Basis for Post-Decree Transfer 

 1.  This post-decree transfer is legal and necessary under Federal Law.  Section 1404(a) of 

 Title 28 provides that: "for the convenience of parties and witnesses,  in the interest  of 

 justice  ,  a district may transfer any civil action to any other district where it might have been 

 brought."  . 

 2.  Further, Illinois Law allows for the transfer of venue post decree. Specifically: 

 735 ILCS 5/2-1001.5) (from Ch. 110, par. 2-1001.5) 
 Sec. 2-1001.5. Change of venue. 
 (a  )  A change of venue in any civil action may be had when the court 
 determines that any party may not receive a fair trial in the court in which 
 the action is pending because the inhabitants of the county are prejudiced 
 against the party, or his or her attorney, or the adverse party has an undue 
 influence over the minds of the inhabitants  . 
 (b) Every application for a change of venue by a party or his or her attorney shall 
 be by petition, verified by the affidavit of  the applicant. The petition shall set forth 
 the facts upon which the petitioner bases his or her belief of prejudice of the 
 inhabitants of the county or the undue influence of the adverse party over their 
 minds,  a  nd  must be supported by the affidavits of at least 2 other reputable 
 persons residing in the county.  T  he adverse party may controvert the petition 
 by counter affidavits, and the court may grant or  deny the petition as shall appear 
 to be according to the right of the case. 
 (c) A petition for change of venue shall not be granted unless it is presented 
 before trial or hearing begins and before the judge to whom it is presented has 
 ruled on any substantial issue in the case, but  if any ground for change of 
 venue occurs thereafter, a petition for change of venue may be presented 
 based upon that ground.  ” 

 3.  I am including here two affidavits from Jillian Westerfield, Associate Pastor and Head of 

 Youth Programs at Lake Street Church in Evanston, Illinois and Ms. Delane Haro, Instructor 

 at Loyola University in Chicago, Illinois.  (Exhibit F Westerfield Affidavit, Exhibit G Haro 

 Affidavit)The parties are  both upstanding citizens of Cook County familiar with matters in 

 2 
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 this case and both know me well. Both attest to the veracity and suitability of my request for 

 a transfer of venue based on the interest of justice 

 4.  A multitude of inappropriate and concerning events have occurred after the original divorce 

 proceeding commenced in October, 2016 making a post-decree change of venue 

 necessary due to the undue influence of Mr. Matt and other opposing parties over the 

 judges, staff and appointees in the Domestic Relations Division of the Circuit Court of 

 Chicago. 

 5.  In order to justify a transfer of venue  “  The petition shall set forth the facts upon which the 

 petitioner bases his or her belief of prejudice of the inhabitants of the county or the undue 

 influence of the adverse party over their minds.” 

 6.  At issue is whether the “interest of justice” can be served or there is an “adverse influence” 

 of one party over the minds of those determining cases. In my case, the opposing parties 

 have an undue influence over those in power to determine my parentage and family law 

 matters and therefore immediate transfer of venue is necessary. 

 7.  Although divorce and parentage matters in Illinois are not heard by juries, it is obvious that 

 Illinois law is not intended to exclude litigants from recourse to legal remedies because 

 hearings are heard exclusively by judges. 

 8.  And so, to the extent that the judges, appointees, staff and officers of the court collectively 

 determine all outcomes of hearings in this division, they ought to be held to the same 

 standards of fair trials as are expected of  juries. 

 9.  The staff, appointees and employees who collectively determine legal outcomes in the 

 Domestic Relations Division of the Circuit Court of Chicago are so biased against me and 

 the undue influence in favor of my former husband, Peter Matt, is so great, that an 

 immediate transfer of venue is necessary. 
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 Background 

 10.  The parties were legally divorced on September 27, 2017 and entered into a Marital 

 Settlement Agreement (MSA) and Allocation Judgment Parenting Plan (Exhibit A MSA 

 Parenting Plan). 

 11.  Two children were born of this marriage, Angus Matt (aged 13) and Theodore (“Teddy”) 

 Matt (aged 10). 

 12.  The parties have been engaged in frequent litigation since divorcing in 2017, primarily 

 initiated by Mr. Matt, who uses vexatious litigation as a method of financial and emotional 

 abuse. 

 13.  Mr. Matt has never proposed a change or modification to the parenting plan through 

 motion. 

 14.  Mr. Matt has sought Court intervention on numerous occasions in pursuit of his wish to 

 force contact with me, to inflict financial harm to me and to control every moment of my 

 parenting time. 

 15.  The Court has appointed multiple individuals in post-decree actions. 

 a.  Michael Bender was appointed Guardian Ad Litem on June 6, 2019 at Mr. Matt’s 

 request; I opposed the appointment. (Exhibit B GAL Order). 

 b.  Dr. John Palen was  appointed as Parenting Coordinator on September 25, 2020. I was 

 never informed of Dr. Palen’s potential appointment or asked if I approved. (Exhibit C PC 

 Appointment) 

 c.  Dr. Gerald Blechman was appointed as Custody Evaluator on May 25, 2021 with no 

 scope or basis stated (Exhibit D 604.10b Order). I asked that a scope or basis to Dr. 

 Blechman’s appointment be described in the order but I was denied by Opposing 

 Counsel (Exhibit E Opposition to Order Language). 
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 Endemic Criminality 

 16.  The primary evidence of the undue influence of other parties over the outcome of actions in 

 my case is the large volume of crimes committed against me by parties in this case, some 

 of which continue to this date. 

 17.  In the course of post-decree litigation over parentage issues with Petitioner Peter Matt, I 

 have been the victim of  fraud upon me and fraud upon the court by my prior counsel, 

 Bradley Trowbridge. 

 a.  These fraudulent acts ultimately contributed to a baseless ruling of contempt 

 against me on August 21, 2020 which ultimately contributed to severe financial 

 punishment and is now being used as a basis to move to revoke my parental 

 decision rights by the opposing parties. (Exhibit L SOJ). 

 b.  I was originally referred to Mr. Trowbridge by an individual at Lifespan, a 

 Domestic Violence advocacy and legal resource nonprofit, in May, 2019. I  had 

 been referred to the organization by Kaethe Morris Hoffer who is a fellow 

 congregant at Lake Street Church of Evanston. I became introduced to Ms. 

 Hoffer by Jillian Westerfield who had suggested I speak to her after witnessing 

 domestic violence by Mr. Matt. 

 c.  Namely, Mr. Matt had called and emailed Ms. Westerfield two times to threaten 

 that he would have my children dragged out of the court by police if they 

 attended church during my parenting time. (Exhibit I PRTSC RE Harassment) 

 d.  Although I did not qualify for legal support rom Lifespan, they had listed Mr. 

 Trowbridge as an attorney who works with domestic violence victims and 

 provided his name in a resource list mailed to me. 
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 e.  In addition to being an attorney, Mr. Trowbridge stated to me that he is a former 

 social worker and from the initial meeting this inspired a higher level of personal 

 trust in me than is normal with an attorney. 

 f.  When Michael Bender was appointed as Guardian Ad Litem on June 6, 2019, I 

 believed it was an illegal infringement of my parenting rights, unsupported by law. 

 I still believe this as Illinois Law allows for the appointment of a GAL during any 

 proceeding but there was no proceeding and parties were divorced at the time of 

 the appointment. 

 g.  I borrowed money from a friend in order to retain Mr. Trowbridge to get the GAL 

 appointment overturned. However, when I met Mr. Trowbridge he explained that 

 Mr. Bender was a close associate of his and that I should try to work with him. 

 h.  It was my understanding from Mr. Trowbridge that he was in regular contact and 

 communication with Mr. Bender from the time I retained him to the time he 

 resigned in October, 2020. Prior to my first meeting with Michael Bender, Mr. 

 Trowbridge had spoken to him privately. I do not know what was discussed. 

 (Exhibit J He Mentioned You Two Had Spoken). 

 i.  From the time of his engagement, Mr. Trowbridge asserted that he wanted to 

 protect me from the stress of Mr. Matt’s vexatious litigation and to literally “keep 

 me out of court”. I was discouraged by Mr. Trowbridge from attending hearings as 

 a strategy to reduce Mr. Matt’s opportunity to harass me, Mr. Trowbridge claimed. 

 j.  Between March 10, 2020 and July 13, 2020 Mr. Trowbridge, hid a contempt 

 allegation filed against me by Peter Matt (Exhibit K March Contempt). 

 k.  According to affidavit entered under threat of perjury by Christopher Wehrman, 

 opposing counsel, Mr. Trowbridge was served a PRTSC on my behalf on March 
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 10, via email. According to Mr. Wehrman’s affidavit and Court Records this March 

 PRTSC was filed on March 10, 2002 and emailed to the email address I know to 

 be Mr. Trowbridge’s regular email.It was set for hearing on March 20, 2020. 

 l.  Mr. Trowbridge billed me for reading this Petition for Rule to Show Cause on 

 March 10, 2020 as invoiced on April 17, 2020 (Exhibit L SOJ). 

 m.  However, Mr. Trowbridge not only did not tell me about the PRTSC. He explicitly 

 denied that there were pleadings filed against me on two subsequent occasions. 

 (Exhibit L SOJ). 

 i.  On April 22, 2020, I wrote to Mr. Trowbridge: 

 “I hope you’re well and your clients are not suffering too 
 badly from quarantine. I’m personally quite pleased that no 
 motions are being filed right now, a nice break =).” 

 ii.  On April 22, 2020, Mr. Trowbridge wrote back: 
 “Megan. Yes, unfortunately it took a pandemic to stop 
 Peter’s abuse of you!”. 

 iii.  At this time Mr. Trowbridge made no mention of a PRTSC 
 or an underlying concern necessitating a PRTSC. 

 iv.  On July 12, 2020 I became aware that Mr. Bender had 
 attended a court appearance on behalf of my minor 
 children by reading about it on his invoice. I wrote to Mr. 
 Trowbridge: 

 “Zoom court? What?” 

 v.  Mr. Trowbridge wrote back within the day. He not only 
 failed to mention the PRTSC from four months earlier but 
 specifically played down the importance of this 
 appearance, writing back to say: 

 “We had a zoom court date of July 6 that I had on my 
 calendar as July 7. That could have only have been for a 
 short time.  I also don't know how much preparation 
 there could have been. It looks like a lot of activities 
 have been lumped into one line item. The next zoom 
 date is July 20 at 9 AM. Anything I need to know?” 
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 vi.  On July 22, 2020, still unaware of a contempt allegation or 
 a PRTSC served on me, knowing only that Mr. Trowbridge 
 had told me Mr. Bender was resigning imminently, I wrote 
 to Mr. Trowbridge: 

 “  Hi Brad, Did Michael make a motion to be removed? 
 Anything filed against me?” 

 vii.  Mr. Trowbridge finally served me the PRTSC on July 22, 
 2020. 

 n.  Mr. Trowbridge also did not inform me of court hearings scheduled on March 20, 

 2020, and multiple hearing dates rescheduled due to COVID between March 20, 

 2020 and July 6, 2020 or a hearing actually held on July 6, 2020. 

 o.  Mr. Trowbridge has lied about receiving notice on multiple subsequent occasions 

 and still refuses to provide the original proof of service. (Exhibit L SOJ) 

 p.  I was never presented with evidence supporting a contempt claim and from what 

 I can find none was ever filed by opposing counsel in support of the contempt 

 allegation, though I do recall Mr. Wehrman screen sharing one or two images 

 during the fifteen minutes before Judge Johnson that was called a trial. 

 q.  I  believed a contempt ruling was impossible because on March 10, 2020  I was 

 alleged to have refused to facilitate ABA therapy,  an in-home therapy for our 

 older son, Angus. 

 r.  ABA,  though never prescribed or suggested by a doctor, had been ordered by 

 Judge Johnson at the request of Michael Bender, GAL. The order, specifically, 

 was “ABA shall continue”, with no location, no hours or other scope listed. 

 (Exhibit M ABA Shall Continue). 

 s.  There was no in-home therapy for children in March, April, May, June in Cook 

 County, Illinois in this period due to COVID restrictions. 
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 t.  On August 21, 2020 I was held in contempt for refusing to facilitate ABA therapy 

 during the period when in-home therapy was banned. I vehemently opposed this 

 ruling. 

 u.  Mr. Trowbridge promised to file a motion to reconsider at which time he would 

 present a text message from Mr. Matt in which he said, “can we get a new 

 provider because Reach does not provide ABA?” (Exhibit L SOJ). 

 v.  Mr. Trowbridge did not file a motion to reconsider and resigned a week after the 

 thirty day period to file an appeal or motion to reconsider had lapsed citing 

 “computer issues in the courts” and personal issues. 

 w.  Mr. Trowbridge also indicated he would not be doing work as an attorney going 

 forward due to another unnamed job. I have later become aware that Mr. 

 Trowbride operates a custody supervision service, Safe Travels LLC and was 

 listed as a court approved child representative in a list created by the Domestic 

 Relations  Division of the Circuit Court of Chicago on July 22, 2020. No conflict of 

 interest was ever disclosed to me by Mr. Trowbridge. (Exhibit M Child Rep List) 

 18.  I fear the baseless ruling of contempt was orchestrated to lend legitimacy to proceedings 

 that are anything but legitimate. 

 19.  Mr. Bender had been appointed on June 6, 2019.  During this time there were no motions by 

 parties to consider and Mr. Bender did not perform any duties other than levying fees and 

 responding to Mr. Matt’s emails and calls. He does not read my emails as a rule. Mr. 

 Bender has never spoken to any of the children’s teachers or therapists and would not 

 speak to any of the children’s doctors until September, 2021, more than two years after his 

 first appointment. 
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 20.  At no point did I or Mr. Trowbridge attend one of the three status calls during the spring and 

 summer of 2020. Mr. Wehrman, opposing counsel, and Mr. Michael Bender, GAL and 

 Judge Johnson were present at all of these proceedings and in communication. Neither 

 party ever contacted me to inquire about my absence, lack of response, or to inform me 

 that an allegation of contempt was made against me. 

 21.  Notably, Mr. Bender was ostensibly serving as an advocate for my children as a GAL and 

 did not take any action to intervene in an alleged failure toward the children on my part. 

 After all, how could a parentage issue rise to the level of a contempt ruling though not 

 inspire a dutiful GAL to so much as shoot off an email over the course of four months? 

 22.  During this same period I was under the impression that Mr. Trowbridge was in frequent 

 contact with Mr. Bender who, according to Mr. Trowbride, was preparing to step down from 

 the case. This is evidenced by my repeated question, “Did Bender step down?”  (Exhibit L 

 SOJ). 

 23.  Mr. Trowbridge’s malfeasance cannot be entirely blamed on others but it has nonetheless 

 tainted every proceeding since his involvement in the case and I genuinely do not believe 

 that any ruling can be ultimately upheld on appeal due to this taint. 

 24.  I am further unfairly denied justice because  I have also been forced to participate in 

 criminal activity by court order on two occasions. On March 4, 2021 I was ordered by the 

 court to reimburse Mr. Matt  $4,266.21 for health insurance I knew him to obtain 

 fraudulently. 

 a.  Mr. Matt does not  believe in the traditional taxation system and therefore keeps his 

 considerable family wealth and assets hidden abroad. 
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 b.  Although he paid for his Wilmette home and his MBA degree with cash,  Mr. Matt enjoys 

 displaying a facade of poverty and on two occasions he has engaged in welfare fraud. 

 (Exhibit N Financial Allocation). 

 c.  In the first instance Mr. Matt attempted to enroll our children in Food Stamps and Aid to 

 Families with Dependent Children. 

 d.  In this second instance Mr. Matt enrolled our younger son Theodore, who is my 

 dependent by Court order, in the Allkids health insurance program, either by falsely 

 claiming him as a dependent or by providing false tax records. 

 e.  Mr. Matt had enrolled the children in the state plans, despite my wish to cover them with 

 my much cheaper, much better employer insurance,  in order to generate excessive 

 medical costs to then sue me for them. 

 f.  Despite my objections that Mr. Matt had obtained government subsidized health 

 insurance illegally, I was forced by Court Order to reimburse Mr. Matt for payments to 

 the Allkids plan. 

 25.  On another occasion, Mr. Matt was supported by Dr. John Palen, the court ordered 

 parenting coordinator, in attempting to force me to engage in a criminal scheme. Mr. Matt 

 disclosed to myself and Dr. John Palen in a meeting that he planned to fraudulently name 

 our son, who has profound intellectual disabilities and does not consistently count to ten at 

 age thirteen, as CEO of his company in order to claim his company is owned by a disabled 

 person (Exhibit L SOJ). 

 a.  Mr. Matt wished to have his company named as a disabled person owned business and 

 therefore get contracts from companies wishing to support companies owned by 

 disabled people. 
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 b.  My son does not own and operate Mr. Matt’s businesses, as such a certification 

 requires. To state that he does, is fraud. 

 c.  Mr. Matt wished to have Dr. Palen order me, as his mother,  “not to interfere” with his 

 criminal scheme. 

 d.  I stated that this is fraud and he should not do this. 

 e.  Dr. Palen, who I was forced by court order to pay and defer my parenting decisions to, 

 suggested Mr. Matt should create a business plan. 

 f.  At this time I further stated I was opposed to our son being named CEO because it 

 might interrupt his future access to Social Security disability benefits. Mr. Matt wrote 

 that this would not be an issue because, when Angus is eighteen, his shares would 

 “revert” to Mr. Matt. 

 g.  There is no legal method of gifting to a vulnerable person in order to defraud a business 

 partner and then “reverting” (stealing) the gift  after the fraud, tax benefit or other means 

 have been achieved. 

 h.  I am a licensed financial advisor and fiduciary who cannot be associated with financial 

 crimes but I have been continually forced by Court Order to compensate Mr. Matt for 

 services procured illegally and to be associated with his criminal schemes while under 

 the authority of Dr. John Palen in the role of Court appointed Parenting Coordinator. 

 i.  This jeopardizes my livelihood which is necessary to support my children. 

 26.  In my employment in financial services I am also trained to monitor and intervene where I 

 see vulnerable people fall subject to criminal schemes.  I fear for my son, Angus Matt, who 

 I believe may have been exploited or may come to be exploited in the following ways by Mr. 

 Matt, Dr. Palen and others involved in this case: 
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 a.  I  fear Angus’s identity may be used to launder money, by disguising funds from 

 businesses not disclosed to the IRS as gifts or loans from Angus’s wealthy German 

 grandfather to Angus for his care; 

 b.  I fear Angus’s disability and minor child status may be exploited in order to create 

 trusts, businesses and other structures wholly intended to launder money, remit 

 payment to other parties and to evade taxation; 

 c.  I fear Angus’s disability and minor child status may be used as a basis to appoint 

 individuals as executors, guardians, trustees or other paid roles for as a means to 

 receive kickbacks or bribes; 

 d.  I fear Angus’s identity may be used as a means for further fraudulent activity of the 

 type already proposed by Mr. Matt. 

 27.  Given that Angus has already been the target of an open scheme to defraud him, 

 supported by appointees of this court, I am also submitting this petition on behalf of Angus. 

 Angus has a right to trust that the officers and appointees of the court entrusted with the 

 sacred duty of protecting him are acting in the interest of justice. This makes immediate 

 transfer necessary. 

 28.  Given my concern for my children’s well being in light of continued financial misdealings, it 

 is particularly troubling that Court appointed professionals and attorneys have sought to 

 hide financial misbehavior by Mr. Matt. 

 a.  On November 24, 2020 I filed a motion for an allocation of fees (Exhibit N 

 Financial Allocation), including the GAL fees, which Judge Johnson had ordered 

 for allocation and ordered parties to exchange documents on June 6, 2019 (Exhibit 

 B GAL Order). 
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 b.  On January 19, 2021,  in support of this motion for Allocation of Fees, I served Mr. 

 Wehrman with a subpoena for payments from Mr. Matt (Exhibit O Payment 

 Subpoena). I know Mr. Matt to own and control at least five bank accounts not 

 disclosed in his financial affidavit. 

 c.  Bank statements, canceled checks, court filings and company financial statements 

 were presented in support of the Motion for Financial Allocation and Payment 

 Subpoena. 

 d.  One bank account is held at Wintrust. Mr. Matt shares this account with his father, 

 Leo Matt, who resides in Germany. This account has been used to wire funds from 

 Mr. Matt’s unreported businesses: Goedecke Germany, Goedecke Poland and 

 Goedecke India as well as cash from the over $1 million I know Mr. Matt to hold in 

 personal investments and accounts held abroad. 

 e.  Because Mr. Matt does not report these businesses or assets to the IRS it is difficult 

 for him to wire funds directly to himself, so Mr. Matt and his father call the funds 

 “loans” and “gifts” from Mr. Matt’s father. Mr. Matt did not disclose this Wintrust 

 account in his financial affidavit. 

 f.  Because the financial allocation hearing was to determine means to pay for an 

 attorney in the role of Guardian Ad Litem, I subpoenaed Mr. Wehrman to provide a 

 record of all payments from Mr. Matt and source accounts, reasoning Mr. Matt’s 

 method and means of paying his own attorney were relevant to his ability to pay an 

 attorney in the role of GAL. In particular I believe Mr. Matt uses his Wintrust Account 

 as a means to pay Mr. Wehrman. 

 g.  Mr. Wehrman did not provide me with the financial details and filed a motion to 

 quash my subpoena. 
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 h.  On March 4, 2020, without hearing, Judge Johnson denied  my motion for allocation 

 of fees but reserved the right to rule on allocation of GAL fees and the subpoena for 

 financial documents. Judge Johnson said that he found it concerning that Mr. Matt 

 was claiming an annual income of $27,000 given his lifestyle, and suggested we 

 negotiate a division of fees. We were unable to. 

 i.  On May 25, 2021, with no stated basis or underlying motion by either party, Judge 

 Johnson ordered Gerald Blechmen to be appointed as a Custody Evaluator. 

 j.  On May 25, 2021 I asked Judge Johnson to rule on Mr. Wehrman’s motion to quash 

 my subpoena and to schedule a hearing on allocation of fees. Mr. Wehrman stated, 

 “Your honor, Mr. Bender said we wouldn’t have to deal with these [pleadings] if we 

 agreed to a 604.10 B [Custody Evaluation]”. 

 k.  Judge Johnson still refuses to hear my motion for an allocation of fees. He instead 

 on November 21, 2021 ordered me to pay Mr. Bender GAL, who he has described 

 as a friend and mentor, without reviewing facts related to my ability to pay. 

 l.  It is my belief that Judge Johnson did not wish to embarrass Mr. Bender and Mr. 

 Wehrman by letting the Motion for Financial Allocation and subpoenaed documents 

 be revealed in open court. 

 m.  This is a clear indication of the need for a transfer to a neutral venue due to the 

 unrelenting influence of cronyism and collegiality. 

 n.  I am currently in the process of filing for bankruptcy due to the tremendous financial 

 burden this ongoing judicial harassment has caused me. 

 29.  I have also observed and documented child abuse and neglect by Mr. Matt which court 

 appointees have aggressively hidden. I hold a Masters Degree in Education, have 

 previously taught and worked as a supervisor in child care settings, have taught child 
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 development at the college level, and am a trained mandated reporter. I am trained and 

 very familiar with appropriate observation, interview and reporting methods where child 

 abuse has been alleged or suspected. 

 a.  Mr. Bender in his role as Guardian Ad Litem has sought to hide reports of Mr. Matt’s 

 abusive behaviors or parental unfitness on repeated occasions. (Exhibit H 2nd Motion 

 to Terminate GAL). 

 b.  In the PRTSC Regarding Failure to Supervise Children, Mr. Bender was presented 

 with extensive documentary evidence of Mr. Matt’s refusal or inability to provide 

 appropriate supervision for our children, among other concerning behaviors. In the 

 PRTSC Regarding Strange Adults in the Children’s Home, Mr. Bender was made 

 aware of Mr. Matt’s plan to convert his zoned single family home into a tenement 

 building for single men. Mr. Matt to this date refuses to get background checks for the 

 men residing in the home who have unchecked access to our children’s living quarters 

 and bedrooms. In the PRTSC Regarding Harassment,Mr. Bender read two threats Mr. 

 Matt emailed to members of my church and a police report stating that Mr. Matt’s 

 persistent parenting time violations need to be heard by a judge. (Exhibit I PRTSC RE 

 Harassment, Exhibit P PRTSC RE Strange Adults in the Children’s Home, Exhibt Q 

 RE Failure to provide child care). 

 c.  In addition to specific acts committed by Mr. Matt, the documents contain disturbing 

 examples of Mr. Matt’s emotionally abusive method of interacting with me and his ease 

 in lying and gaslighting in order to manipulate others. 

 d.  Mr. Bender agreed not to allow any of the disturbing matters presented in the above 

 Petitions to be heard as part of the deal with Mr. Wehrman to initiate a Custody 

 Evaluation. 
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 e.  Subsequent to these filings, reports of domestic violence have been raised by myself 

 and credible third parties but Mr. Bender has sought to mischaracterize or hide these 

 reports in order to protect his own and Mr. Matt’s reputation. 

 f.  On Monday, July 26, 2021 I attended a meeting with my younger son Theodore, then 

 aged nine, and Dr. Gerald Blechman, Custody Evaluator on Monday. At this time 

 Teddy expressed suicidal ideation to Dr. Blechman and myself, stating multiple times 

 that he wished to kill himself. 

 g.  At the time neither Dr. Blechman nor myself believed Teddy actually intended self 

 harm, but I was concerned about his mental well being. Dr. Blechman also stated that 

 he felt Teddy seemed distressed. 

 h.  That evening Teddy became further distressed and said the reason that he wants to kill 

 himself is because his dad makes him go to Northwestern. He also said his dad told 

 him he needs to have perfect MAP [standardized test] scores. He cried and said that 

 he doesn’t want to go to his dad’s any more. 

 i.  Northwestern refers to The Northwestern Center for Talent Development, an 

 enrichment program Mr. Matt makes Teddy attend despite his opposition. 

 j.  On Tuesday, July 28th, 2021 I wrote to my attorney at the time, Alexandra Brinkmeier, 

 concerned that Teddy’s distress might be used to disparage or discredit me. 

 k.  Ms. Brinkmeier was concerned about Teddy’s behavior and called Michael Bender that 

 day to report the incident and express an interest in removing Teddy from his father’s 

 home while this matter could be investigated. 

 l.  After picking Teddy up from soccer camp on Tuesday, July 28th, 2021, I was driving 

 Teddy and his brother Angus to the community pool to swim when he escalated his talk 

 of self harm to action. I recounted the events to my attorney: 
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 “I was in the car around 5 today, driving Teddy and Angus home from camp. Teddy 
 picked up a plastic wrapper in the backseat and covered his mouth. He said he 
 was going to kill himself. Angus and I both told him not to do it. 

 I asked why he wanted to kill himself. He said he wasn’t good at anything. I said I 
 thought he was good at a lot of things, why does he think that. He said I’m not 
 good at anything. 

 Angus yelled, is it because of Dad’s lies. Teddy didn’t say anything. I said, what do 
 you mean about Dad’s lies. Angus said, dad’s lies! 

 I asked Teddy if he still wanted to go to the pool, where we were headed, he said 
 I’m going to drown myself. I said I would be really sad if that happened. Because 
 he goes to his dad’s tomorrow, I asked him if he was sad about going to his dad’s. 
 He said he was and started to cry, 

 I asked Teddy if he would like me to make it so he doesn’t go back to his dad’s. 
 He said there’s no way that would ever work. I told him that I actually could do that 
 if that’s what he needs. 

 He said wouldn’t he get really mean to you? I said it was ok if his dad’s mad at 
 me, we just need to keep him safe.  ” 

 m.  I was concerned because Teddy had escalated his self harming behaviors to a 

 physical act, not just words, so I called his pediatrician, Dr. Patricia Brunner, the next 

 morning, Wednesday, July 29th, 2021. 

 n.  Dr. Brunner instructed me not to send Teddy to camp, that she wanted to see him first. 

 o.  At 5:00pm Mr. Matt met me at Dr. Brunner’s office with Teddy, who was now in his care 

 per court ordered parenting time. Teddy, Mr. Matt and I entered Dr. Brunner’s office 

 and she interviewed Teddy in our presence. After exchanging greetings, neither Mr. 

 Matt nor I spoke.  Dr. Brunner asked Teddy a number of questions. He stated to her 

 that he knew he was there because he had said he wanted to kill himself. He said he 

 first said it on Monday, the day of his appointment with Dr. Blechman. Teddy also 
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 stated to Dr. Brunner that he didn’t want to go to his dad’s house and he didn’t want to 

 do Northwestern. 

 p.  That day Dr. Brunner called Mr. Bender who could not be reached and did not return 

 her calls. 

 q.  On Saturday, August 7th, 2021 Teddy and his brother Angus returned to my residence 

 per Parenting Plan. After dinner on that date I asked Teddy if he had ever seen his dad 

 hit or drag his brother, Angus. Angus had reported to me that during the Covid 

 lockdowns Mr. Matt had hit him, kicked him and physically restrained him in order to 

 force him to do Zoom therapy. I asked Teddy if that was true. Teddy said, “Yes it was 

 really bad during COVID.” 

 r.  I asked Teddy if his father ever hit him (Teddy). He nodded his head. I asked him 

 where his dad hit him, he put his hand on his right cheek. 

 s.  I asked why his dad had hit him. Teddy said, “Northwestern”. 

 t.  Teddy then started crying and hid his face with his hands. He said he didn’t want to talk 

 about it. 

 u.  At this same time Teddy had been congested, feverish and had a sore throat. 

 v.  On Wednesday, August 11th, Teddy was ordered to have a COVID test and a 

 telehealth appointment at his pediatrician’s office with Dr. Shoshana Woskow. I told Dr. 

 Woskow during this appointment that I am a trauma survivor and I have learned that 

 ongoing illness of the type that Teddy was experiencing is sometimes the result of 

 trauma which weakens a person’s immune response. I told Dr. Woskow that Teddy had 

 recently reported physical violence in the home at his father’s residence. 

 w.  Dr. Woskow questioned Teddy and he  reported to Dr. Woskow that  his father had hit 

 him with the back of the hand. At first he said “He hit my face”. Mr. Matt is right handed 
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 and, were he to backhand Teddy on the face, his hand would hit the right side where 

 Teddy first indicated to me he had been hit. Teddy then became upset and  said, 

 “never mind, he hit my arm” then he said, “never mind, he didn’t hit me”. Teddy then 

 wanted to hide his face and not be on screen. Teddy also reported that his dad had 

 locked him in his room “to do math worksheets”. He also stated that when he told his 

 dad he didn’t want to do “Northwestern” his dad told him he would force him to stay up 

 all night if he refused to do the work. 

 x.  On August 11th, 2021 Dr. Woskow recorded these events in a sealed record which I 

 was not allowed to access in order to protect Teddy during an investigative process. I 

 still do not have this record though I believe it may have been given or offered to Mr. 

 Bender. 

 y.  Dr. Woskow indicated that Dr. Brunner would call Mr. Bender. Dr. Brunner did again 

 attempt to call Mr. Bender that same day but could not reach him. He did not return her 

 calls. He had not returned her call from the week before regarding the suicidal ideation 

 reports. 

 z.  In fact, two years after his appointment Mr. Bender had never spoken to any of the 

 children’s doctors, therapists, or teachers, though he purported to have opinions on 

 medical and educational matters. 

 aa.  Due to Mr. Bender’s intentional failure to intervene, a proper investigation was made 

 virtually impossible. 

 30.  Mr. Bender’s actions, whether induced to hide abuse by Mr. Matt or out of a personal 

 interest in protecting his reputation, have been profoundly damaging to to Teddy who has 
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 disclosed to me and this therapist that he is fearful of punishment by his father if he speaks 

 the truth or voices disagreement. 

 31.  On August 25, 2021, over four weeks after Dr. Patricia Brunner had made an urgent call to 

 Mr. Bender reporting her concern about Teddy’s wellbeing, Mr. Bender appeared at a status 

 hearing before Judge Johnson. At this time, Mr. Bender stated that he had talked to Dr. 

 Blechman and Dr. Blechman had relayed that Teddy was a little upset but didn’t think he 

 would kill himself.Mr. Bender made no reference to  the reports from the children’s 

 pediatricians because he had intentionally avoided receiving the reports for a month at this 

 time. Ms. Brinkmeier asked the judge to have Mr. Bender interview Teddy. Mr. Bender 

 stated he would speak to Teddy. To my knowledge he never did. 

 32.  When the initial issues of neglect and unsafe parenting were presented in one of three 

 petitions I attempted to present in the spring of 2021, Judge Johson said, “These seem like 

 some serious issues .I’lll have Mr. Bender look at these and if there’s anything there he’ll let 

 me know.”. (Exhibit I PRTSC RE Harassment, Exhibit P PRTSC RE Strange Adults, Exhibit 

 Q PRTSC RE Failure to provide child care). 

 33.  Mr. Bender has blocked these pleadings from being heard though they present 

 documentary evidence that overwhelmingly demonstrates the complaints raised therein. 

 Mr. Matt has responded to the pleadings but has never provided counter-argument or 

 contradictory evidence. 

 34.  When Mr. Wehrman stated on May 25, 2021 that “Mr. Bender said we wouldn’t have to deal 

 with these if we agreed to a 604.10 B”, he was referring to the voluminous evidence of 
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 parental misconduct and unfitness disclosed in these pleadings, as well as to the Allocation 

 of Fees Motion. In other words, the Custody Evaluation was proffered as a means to hide 

 money laundering, tax fraud, and reports of abuse by credible third parties such as police 

 and clergy. 

 35.  Mr. Wehrman further used his private influence with Judge Johnson to hide evidence of Mr. 

 Matt’s parental misconduct.  (Exhibit L SOJ) 

 a.  On May 27, 2021 I scheduled a hearing on my motion for allocation of fees as well 

 as the the PRTSC RE Harassment, the PRTSC RE Strange adults in the children’s 

 home and the PRTSC RE Failure to provide childcare. I scheduled this hearing using 

 standard procedure and was assigned a court date. 

 b.  Mr. Wehrman, upon learning that a trial would be held which would disclose serious 

 misconduct by his client, wrote to Judge Johnson’s clerk, Ms. Kaye Mason,  and 

 asked her to do him the favor of canceling the hearing. 

 c.  Ms. Mason  verbally relayed  Mr. Wehrman’s private email request to Judge 

 Johnson. 

 d.  Judge Johnson verbally approved Mr. Wehrman’s request for the favor of denying 

 me a hearing. 

 e.  Ms. Mason informed us via email that the hearing was canceled. 

 36.  The criminal violations against me by Mr. Bradley Trowbridge, court ordered participation in 

 criminal activity, and activity by officers of the court to hide ongoing crimes whether each on 

 the face of it demonstrate that a fair proceeding is impossible for me in The Domestic 

 Relations Division of The Circuit Court of Chicago due to widespread, stubborn criminality 

 by individuals involved in this case. 
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 37.  I am unable to retain counsel due to my status as a target of crime. This was made evident 

 when I emailed my most recent attorney, Alexandra Brinkmeier on date an email with the 

 subject line, “Crimes I’ve reported to you” on on November 8, 2021, and demanded help in 

 stopping ongoing crimes against me and bringing these facts to Court. (Exhibit R Crimes 

 I’ve Reported) 

 a.  At the order of senior leadership at her firm, Ms. Brinkmeier abruptly resigned three 

 days later. 

 b.  I asked Judge Johnson to please deny Ms. Brinnkmeier’s motion until counsel could 

 be found to replace her and stated that her abrupt departure would cause me 

 material harm and imperils me and my children. Judge Johnson ignored my request 

 and allowed Ms. Brinmeier to resign with no attorney to replace her (Exhibit  S 

 Affidavit Objecting to Withdrawl) 

 38.  Further,  I am subject to ongoing interference and fraudulent behaviors using the court’s 

 technology.  In June of 2021 I had occasion to visit the Domestic Relations Division Clerks’ 

 office to review the docket of my case, after having been told by an attorney I was 

 interviewing how to look at the Docket online. 

 a.  When I reviewed the Docket I noticed a number of events that I didn’t understand. 

 b.  In March of 2020 my address was altered. My official address of record in the court 

 software was 423 Linden Ave. in Wilmette when my divorce commenced in Fall, 

 2016 and remained unchanged for four years. 

 c.  Around March, 2020 my address was changed from 423 Lind  en  Ave.,  Wilmette  to 

 423 Lind  a  Ave.,  Chicago  in March, 2020.  I was told by a clerk that this was by an 

 individual logging in purporting to be me. 
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 d.  Subsequently, three mailings were returned to the court addressee not found, notices 

 of court appearances I did not know were taking place because they were hidden by 

 Brad Trowbridge and all other parties. (Exhibit T Notifications of Returned Service) 

 e.  In June, 2021, when I consulted an employee at the Domestic Relations Records 

 Division she told me that on July 22, 2020 someone filed a pro se appearance on my 

 behalf while I believed I was represented by Brad Trowbridge. 

 f.  On July 21, 2020 I had informed Brad Trowbridge via email that I had filed an ARDC 

 complaint against Michael Bender with the Illinois Bar. 

 g.  At this time this same clerk informed me that these changes could not have been the 

 result of computer error or transcription error. She told me that someone purporting 

 to be me made these changes using a spoof email. 

 39.  On February 10 I had occasion to visit the Records Division of the Domestic Relations 

 Division. I spoke to Ms. Chevon Edmondson and who brought over her supervisor, Ms. 

 Laurie Garner. 

 a.  I asked Ms. Garner for contact information for  the person who 

 handles internet security for the court because I had reason to fear 

 my identity had been stolen and fraudulent  actions made. I told 

 Ms. Garner that someone had changed my mailing address from 

 423 Lind  en  Ave. in  Wilmette  to 423 Lind  a  Ave. in  Chicago  . I 

 indicated that I was pursuing litigation for the court’s failure to 

 protect my identity and I needed to speak to someone who could 

 explain how these changes were made. Ms. Garner told me I 

 could not have a phone number for someone to speak to about 
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 data security and Ms.Garner  took my name and telephone 

 number and indicated “her Chief” would call me. Nobody has 

 called me as of this filing. 

 40.  Fraudulent service information remains in Odyssey File, the courts E-file software, and I 

 have no recourse to correct it. 

 a.  On February 10 I logged into Odyssey File again and noticed that my prior attorney, 

 Alexandra Brinkmeier of Law Offices of Jonathan Merel PC and three other lead 

 attorneys  are still listed as representing me though she had resigned in November, 

 2021 and I am currently pro se. I reviewed Ms. Brinkmeier’s contact details in Odyssey 

 File and noted that her address for services has been changed to  423 LINDA APT 2E 

 CHICAGO IL 680910000 with no email given. Ms. Brinkmeier has previously listed a 

 work email in her contact information and her firm’s address:  180 N Stetson Ave Ste 

 1300, Chicago, IL 60601. 

 b.  On  this same date I w  rote to Ms. Brinkmeier to ask if she could please remove the 

 contact. 

 c.  Ms. Brinkmeier wrote back and affirmed that her contact was indeed altered in the Efile 

 profile but informed me that they had to be made by an employee of the clerk’s office 

 and that she knew no way to remove herself as a service contact.. 

 d.  Having attempted to speak to an individual in the records division of the  Domestic 

 Relations Division of the Circuit Court of Chicago, I remain at this date unable to correct 

 my digital identity in the court’s software, further necessitating a transfer to a venue that 

 will uphold my legal documentary rights. 
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 e.  Because of the frankly brazen deception that I have witnessed by sworn officers of the 

 court, I emailed a video screenshot of myself logging into Odyssey File and displaying 

 the fraudulent service information on February 16th, 2022 to Ms. Brianna Steger, 

 attorney for this Court, so that there might be no suggestion at a future datethat, for 

 example, such a claim of fraud is indicative of my mental unfitness. 

 41.  It is a most basic principle of justice that methods be in place to protect the integrity of data, 

 whether in paper or electronic filings, and to correct errors in the same. It is simply 

 impossible for me to believe that Domestic Relations Division of the CIrcuit Court of 

 Chicago can do this in my case given that I cannot even trust that I will be provided notice 

 of actions in my case or have recourse in the event of other parties’ failure to provide 

 notice. 

 42.  In the interest of the most basic semblance of justice my case must be transferred due to 

 the inability of me to have accurate court records in the present venue 

 43.  I am now pro se. Practices intended to hide court activity from me persist by parties in this 

 case. Mr. Wehrman has attested to serving notice to me of a new PRTSC. He has not. 

 a.  On February 8th, 2022 C  hristopher Wehrman filed an attestation that he had served 

 me a PRTSC. In this attestation, Mr. Wehrman indicated he served me by email. He 

 indicated that the email address used was  megan42@gmail.com  . 

 b.  As of February 16, 2022 I have received no service from Mr. Wehrman. 

 c.  As of February 16, 2022 I have not received the standard computer generated notice 

 of filing from the court itself. 

 44.  Further it is impossible to access the normal methods of recourse such as appeals to a 

 higher court or motions to substitute a judge that would typically be available to litigants in 

 an American courtroom due to the well known collegiality and self protective tendencies of 
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 judges in this Division. This was exemplified in a recent hearing before Judge Matthew Link 

 on January 6th, 2022  at which time I presented a Motion to Substitute Judge for Cause 

 due to bias, raising most of the issues evidence presented here in my petition. 

 a.  At issue is not Judge Link’s ruling or analysis, which is subject to appellate oversight in a 

 functioning court system.  Rather, at issue is Judge Link’s active participation in hiding 

 pro se communications by his colleagues which exemplifies the conflict when judges are 

 confronted with information damaging to their colleagues. 

 b.  This necessitates a change of venue. 

 c.  Although many serious factors were raised in my motion to substitute judge Johnson due 

 to bias, and never refuted by Judge Johnson via affidavit as statute allows,  a key issue 

 presented was ongoing ex parte communication between Mr. Wehrman, Mr. Bender, and 

 Judge Johnson via his clerk, Kaye Mason, as well as other court appointed professionals 

 in a secret email thread about my case. 

 d.  I raised as evidence at this proceeding an email from Dr. John Palen, PC, on which I 

 was accidentally copied because I share the same last name as Judge Johnson’s clerk, 

 Kaye Mason on Dec 3, 2020. 

 e.  In this email, which included Mr. Bender, Mr. Wehrman, and Ms. Kaye Mason as a proxy 

 for Judge Johnson, with the subject “IRMO Matt: 2016 D 9534; COURT ORDER”,  Dr. 

 Palen wrote a single line, apparently part of a larger thread, “I  want to be paid. It is as 

 simple as that.” 

 f.  I was accidentally copied as is evidenced by Dr. Palen’s follow up email in which he 

 deceitfully claimed that this email was not intended for me and related to another case. 
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 g.  It is utterly implausible that this email related to another case given that there was no 

 opposing party copied other than myself, accidentally, and the subject of the email was 

 my married name and case number. 

 h.  I have attempted on multiple occasions to get Dr. Palen, Mr. Bender, Mr. Wehrman, and 

 Ms. Mason to comply with the law and swiftly disclose to me the remainder of the ex 

 parte communications, which is to say the other messages in this email thread. They 

 refuse. 

 i.  In an ironic turn, Ms. Mason even rebuked me for engaging in ex parte communications 

 by asking her to disclose her own ex parte communications on behalf of Judge Johnson. 

 j.  I raised this email as evidence of ongoing ex parte communication to Judge Link on 

 January 6, 2021 when he ruled on my Motion for Substitution of Judge for Cause 

 (Exhibiit L SOJ). Mr. Bender and Mr. Wehrman were both in attendance. In fact, both 

 had, without providing any form of written response or evidence opposing my motion for 

 a substitution of judge, interjected into the proceedings their musings and comments 

 upon the case. 

 k.  At no point did Mr. Wehrman present an argument as to why a substitution of judge 

 would be inappropriate or harmful to his client, which would be an understandable 

 reason for his input on the proceeding. Rather, he sought to argue why I deserved to be 

 abused by the court due to vague inferences about my character. 

 l.  During one of Mr. Wehrman’s monologues he  stated affirmatively that no ex parte 

 communications had occurred in this case and that I had been given access to all ex 

 parte communications. He also stated to the court that I do not know what ex parte 

 communication is. 
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 m.  When I asked on two occasions during this hearing that Judge Link swear in Mr. Bender 

 and Mr. Wehrman so that they might testify under oath as witnesses to the email from 

 Dr. Palen, Judge Link ignored me. 

 n.  I wished, and still wish, for Mr. Bender and Mr. Wehrman to explain the email “I want to 

 be paid” and to disclose the remainder of the conversation, as unambiguously required 

 by law in the event Ex Parte communication takes place. 

 o.  Alternately, though I don’t find it plausible, if there were no other messages in this thread 

 and it were true that as Mr. Wehrman said, “No ex parte communication happened” he 

 ought to have no issue affirmatively stating this under oath. 

 p.  At issue is not Judge Link’s ruling, though by denying my motion for substitution of judge 

 he acted contrary to law and fact, but rather his active participation in hiding ongoing ex 

 parte communication. Namely, by allowing Mr. Wehrman to “argue” that no ex parte 

 communication occurred, and seemingly to consider this “argument” in his ruling,  but 

 simultaneously refusing to have Mr. Wehrman, as witness and participant, swear under 

 oath to these facts, it’s clear that Judge Link prioritized protecting his colleagues’ 

 reputation over the interest of justice. 

 q.  By not allowing a full hearing of the facts or ordering the parties to disclose all ex parte 

 communications, as is required by law, Judge Link demonstrated that it is impossible for 

 me to have a fair hearing in the present venue and furthered my claims raised herein. 

 45.  I believe the average person apprised of the facts of this case would agree that these facts 

 are very embarrassing to the Domestic Relations DIvision of the Circuit Court of Chicago. 

 46.  Embarrassment is not a legal basis to ignore my Civil Rights or the needs of myself and my 

 children and to hide serious misconduct. 
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 47.  Deference ought to be given to the litigant where the misdeeds of even one individual 

 appear to have so muddied the waters of justice. Where there appears to be conflict 

 between disclosing an act that would embarrass a friend and following the law, the law is to 

 prevail. Litigants must not be exploited because individuals have elected not to recuse 

 themselves. 

 48.  Since my fundamental rights are not being recognized in the Domestic Relations Division of 

 the Circuit Court of Chicago, immediate transfer is necessary. 

 49.  Further, I have come to observe that appeals are almost impossible for litigants in the 

 Domestic Relations DIvision of the CIrcuit Court of Chicago due to aggressive actions by 

 individuals in the division to block my legal right to appeal. Namely, on more than five 

 occasions, I have had employees of the court provide legal advice that is erroneous and 

 intended to curb my furtherance of an appeal. (Exhibit U Who are you?, Exhibit V Refusal 

 of clerks to certify copies, Exhibit X Bystander Report) 

 a.  In order to submit a Bystander Report for entry into the official record, a litigant must 

 file a motion and have that Bystander Report reviewed by the judge who issued the 

 ruling under appeal. In this case, notice of appeal has been filed and served on Judge 

 Matthew Link 

 b.  On Friday, January 21, 2022 I wrote to the email address from which I had previously 

 received scheduling communications, asking to schedule a trial. 

 c.  An anonymous individual, presumably the individual named Roxanne named as 

 scheduler on Judge Link’s zoom hearings, wrote back to me that there are no 

 hearings, that all matters are before Judge Johnson. I pointed out to her that she ought 

 not to give legal advice and  I repeatedly asked her to give her name and contact 

 information. She did not give her name or contact information. 
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 d.  Further, the clerks refused to certify my Bystander Report, Motion for hearing on 

 Bystander Report and notification of service for Bystander Report three times. Each 

 time they provided the erroneous instruction, “This is for appellate court”. 

 e.  This is troubling for three reasons. First, this individual gave unsolicited legal advice. 

 Second, the advice was erroneous. Third, the message was anonymous to the reader 

 f.  On January 25th, 2022 I apprised Ms. Brianna Steger, attorney for the court, of this 

 situation. 

 g.  Ms. Steger wrote back that she could not provide legal advice. 

 h.  I again wrote to Ms. Steger and clarified that I was not seeking legal advice but rather, 

 in her role as an attorney for the Court, apprising her of ongoing acts that may be the 

 basis of future litigation against the court. 

 i.  Shortly thereafter my previously rejected pleadings were accepted without comment. 

 j.  I would eventually attend a status call with Judge Link at which time he verbally 

 instructed me to ask Judge Johnson to transfer the case back to his calendar. 

 k.  I was forced to file my documents three times, to write no less than ten emails, to 

 verbally speak to a judge and to specifically state to counsel for the court my basis for 

 legal action in order to get part of one tiny part of the appeals process accomplished. 

 50.  It is simply not acceptable that a litigant should have to go through such effort to access her 

 legal right to have her case heard by an Appellate court.  Such chilling practices effectively 

 eliminate my legally protected right of appeal. 

 51.  Without the ability to trust that proceedings are appealable and subject to oversight by 

 higher courts, there can be no faith in the justice system.Because of the lack of my ability to 

 trust in the Appeals Process, I must be granted a change of venue. 
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 52.  The use of intimidation and misinformation to curb my pursuit of an appeal is only one 

 example of the ways in which I have been prevented by officers and employees of the court 

 to access justice. On at least five occasions I have been denied the right to be informed 

 about and appear at my own trials. 

 a.  This includes the three court appearances hidden from me by Mr. Trowbridge and his 

 associates referenced above  and the recent fraudulent claim by Mr. Wehrman  that I 

 was served notice of a new motion on February 8, 2022. 

 b.  Another instance occurred on  December 3, 2018(Exhibit L SOJ) when I was found in 

 contempt by default when Mr. Wehrman presented a PRTSC before Judge Johnson 

 before I received notice. Although Mr. Wehrman used email to inform me of the in 

 absentia contempt finding, he had mailed the original notice of hearing using standard 

 mail with an obstructed  metered stamp  (clear tape was placed over the barcode for 

 the postage) and it was only after coming home from work the day of the hearing that I 

 learned of the allegation. 

 53.  The denial of a litigant’s right to attend her own hearing, or to be informed about her own 

 hearing, is abhorrent and not in keeping with democratic principles. To have occurred five 

 times in one case defies probability and is clear evidence of brazen lawlessness in my 

 treatment in this division. Transfer to a new venue in the interest of justice is necessary and 

 appropriate. 

 Whistleblower Protections Needed and Gender Discrimination 

 54.  I am currently in the process of filing a report of gender discrimination with the Civil Rights 

 DIvision of the Department of Justice as well as filing a complaint in federal Court for a 

 multitude of Civil Rights Violations. In both proceedings the Circuit Court of Chicago and 
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 the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Chicago are named as the public institutions responsible for 

 my civil rights violations. 

 55.  Just within this Motion there are a number of obvious claims of civil rights violations which 

 make such claims obviously warranted and worthy of serious attention. Other events 

 involved these parties but occurred while my case was presided over by now disgraced 

 Judge Raul Vega. 

 56.  Numerous individuals employed within the Domestic Relations Division of the Circuit Court 

 of Chicago may be called as witnesses or named as participants in discriminatory acts, and 

 therefore a new venue is essential. 

 57.  I am entitled to protection from retaliation as a whistleblower under federal law as 

 someone who has reported Civil Rights violations and discrimination in a public facility. A 

 swift transfer to a new venue is critical because  I have already been specifically targeted 

 as a whistleblower. 

 58.  On February 7, 2022 the court appointed Custody Evaluator, Dr. Gerald Blechman, 

 selected by Michael Bender, submitted a document he called a preliminary report of his 

 investigation. 

 a.  Dr. Blechman has interviewed me and my children for more than four hours. 

 b.  Dr. Blechman has been given consent to speak to the children’s doctors, therapists and 

 teachers. 

 c.  Dr. Blechman has reviewed all the pleadings that present evidence of Mr. Matt’s 

 concerning behavior, the PRTSCS RE Harassment, Failure to provide  childcare and 

 strange adults in the children’s home. I have personally given him the documents twice. 

 First I gave him a large colored binder with tabs dividing the pleadings and exhibits. Dr. 
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 Blechman reported to me that he did not recall receiving it. I then mailed the documents 

 via tracked parcel using Fedex and Dr. Blechman  confirmed receipt. 

 d.  Dr. Blechman has administered three psychological evaluations of me: 

 i.  On September 24, 2021 Dr. Blechman administered the MMPI-2 or Minnesota 

 Multiphasic Personality Inventory -2 (MMPI-2) on me as part of his Custody 

 Evaluation, using test form number 348278 in his office in Wheaton, Illinois. 

 ii.  On Sept 24, 2021 Dr. Blechman administered the Millon Clinical Multiaxial Inventory 

 - III (MCM I-III) using test form number 1130499 in his office in Wheaton, Illinois. 

 iii.  On this date Dr. Blechman told me he had administered the same psychological 

 evaluations to Mr. Matt. 

 iv.  Around October 17th, 2021 I received a test form in the mail for the SCL-90-R 

 Symptom Checklist-90-R with the product number 51417. I completed and returned 

 this form to Dr. Blechman via US mail on October 17th, 2021. 

 e.  However Dr. Blechman’s preliminary report contained no visit notes, no evaluation 

 findings, no test results, no documentary evidence  and no input from credible third 

 parties, such as doctors, teachers and police, which had been presented repeatedly to 

 Dr. Blechman by myself. 

 f.  Dr. Blechman’s preliminary “report” consists exclusively of pasting an incoherent screed 

 from Mr. Matt received via email, according to Dr. Blechman’s letter. 

 g.  Among Mr. Matt’s grievances listed - and apparently also Dr. Blechman’s professional 

 opinion as Dr. Blechman submitted this letter as official finding -  were inferences about 

 my own mental well being, Mr. Matt wrote of me and Dr. Blechman entered into the 

 record: 

 “During the hearing I was a little frightened to hear how her  mind works these 
 days. She was saying things like: “...you know, first of all, I love democracy. And 
 January 6, 2020 (sic), I saw people storming the Capital (sic). So, I feel spiritually 
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 and emotionally called to protect democracy, And my understanding of a judge’s 
 role in an American courtroom is that it is a sacred duty to uphold the judicial 
 process in that court And so, Mr. Trowbridge’s (her former lawyer) malfeasance only 
 matters here because Judge Johnson, Mr. Wehrman, and Mr. Bender observed it 
 over the course of four months, and did nothing to intervene.” 

 h.  First, I would like to state the obvious. Dr. Blechman, after 8 months of “evaluating” me, 

 presented a two page letter addressed to Judge Johnson in which he just happened to 

 find it necessary to make Judge Johnson aware that I have complained about my civil 

 rights abuses by Judge Johnson himself. It seems curious to me that of all the factors 

 that influence my children’s well being, it stood out as Dr. Blechman as critical to 

 highlight my whistleblower activity. 

 i.  In my nine years of employment with children, often with impoverished children from 

 challenging home environments, I can assure this Court I never observed a social 

 worker, DCFS worker, teacher, therapist, guardian ad litem or other authority feel that 

 an analysis of a parent’s political beliefs. or her disclosure of her willingness to speak 

 truth to power entered into evaluation of an individual’s parenting abilities. 

 j.  As it happensI do believe that a judge’s role is sacred. I am a woman of faith and I do 

 believe that God wishes for me, and all others, to act in the furtherance of truth and 

 justice. My faith and my political beliefs ought never to be entered into the record as 

 “proof” of my mental unfitness, particularly where an actual investigation was conducted 

 as to my mental fitness and set aside to be replaced by deranged hearsay. 

 59.  Where my faith drives me to pursue Civil Rights Actions, to speak truthfully in the 

 furtherance of justice, to call upon my community to stand witness to Civil Rights Abuses I 

 am protected by the laws of this nation and this state. I am demanding these protections 

 now. 

 35 

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 2
/1

6/
20

22
 9

:4
8 

AM
   

20
16

D
00

95
34

Exhibit T Continued



 60.  The need for a new venue is obvious given that my advocacy for justice on behalf of myself 

 and other litigants in the Domestic Relations Division of the Circuit Court of Chicago is 

 already being unjustly raised as evidence of my parental unfitness and flagged to the very 

 people empowered to do me and my children harm. 

 WHEREFORE, I, Megan Mason (formerly known as Megan Matt), request  that this Court enter 

 an Order: 

 A.  Immediately transferring this case to adjoining Lake County; 

 B.  Waiving the right to tax fees to myself related to this transfer; 

 C.  Overturning  all  rulings  subsequent  to  the  appointment  of  Michael  Bender  as 

 Guardian Ad Litem on June 6, 2019; 

 D.  Staying  all  proceedings  and  pending  proceedings  until  this  case  is  brought  before 

 a judge in Lake County; 

 E.  Immediately terminating Michael Bender’s appointment as GAL; 

 F.  Immediately terminating Gerald Blechman’s appointment as Custody Evaluator; 

 G.  For such further relief as this court deems appropriate. 

 Respectfully Submitted By 

 By:          
 Megan Mason, Pro Se Respondent 

 Megan Mason 
 419 Greenleaf Ave. 
 Wilmette, IL 60091 
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the specific pages of the 
record where each fact 
appears. Refer to pages 
of the common law 
record as “C [page].” 
Refer to pages of the 
report of proceedings as 
“R [page].”   For 
example, “On January 2, 
2015, the plaintiff filed 
his complaint. C 1.”  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

You should describe the 
following: 
• what was said in the 

complaint or 
petition,  

• anything relevant 
that happened in 
court before the trial, 

• the testimony of all 
witnesses, 

• how the judge ruled, 
any findings by the 
jury, and anything 
that happened in 
court after the trial. 

Refer to the specific 
pages of the record 
where each fact appears. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Tell the story correctly 
and fairly. Do not make 
arguments or comments 
here. 

  

  

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

   

   

   

1-22-0079

On September 27, 2017 the parties were divorced and entered into a  
 
Marital Settlement Agreement (MSA) and Allocation Parenting Plan. Two  
 
Children were born of the marriage, Angus Matt, born August 11, 2008  
 
and now age 13 and Theodore Matt, born February 12, 2012, and now  
 
age 10. (C 525-564 v2) 
 
  Following the divorce Mr. Matt moved for the appointment of a  
 
Guardian Ad Litem on February 19, 2019 . (C 662-673 V 1).  I, Ms. Mason, opposed the  
 
appointment and filed a response on March 18, 2019 in which I laid out my reasons for  
 
opposing  the appointment of a GAL (C 6988-717 V 1)  
 
  On June 6, 2019  Michael Bender was appointed Guardian Ad Litem and has  
 
been in this role for three years (C 720-721). Because there was never an underlying  
 
proceeding necessitating the report of a GAL and the parties had a duly  
 
enacted MSA and Parenting Plan It is unclear how or when the GAL will  
 
be removed. I have twice moved to have the GAL step down, 
 
noting that in the first year of his appointment he never spoke to any of  
 
the children’s doctors, teachers or therapists and had only met the  
 
children themselves on one occasion in 2019. On January 12, 2021 I filed my first  
 
motion to remove the GAL. (C.1013 - C 1016 v.1) This motion was denied and Judge  
 
Johnson entered an order to that effect. (C  1081- C1082 v. 2)The second motion to terminate  
 
the GAL was filedby me on December 3, 2021 (C 1496-C1508 v. 2. ) raising Mr. Bender’s  
 
multiple ethical violations as a primary basis.  
 
  A number of bizarre events transpired in the case between  March, 2020 and the  
 
date of this filing to make me come to see  that I cannot get a fair trial in Judge Johnson’s court. 
 
  On March 10, 2020  Mr. Matt  filed a Petition for Rule to Show Cause alleging contempt. Mr.  

5
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Matt attested to having served this PRTSC via counsel upon my then attorney,  
 
Brad Trowbridge via the email address on record with the court and  
 
known by myself to be Brad Trowbridge’s email address. Mr.  
 
Wehrman attested under perjury to having served Mr. Trowbridge and  
 
filed a proof of service with the Court. Mr. Trowbridge billed me in 
 
 his March, 2020 invoice for having read the PRTSC, though I would 
 
 only notice this a year later. C 
 
 Although the PRTSC made a number of allegations that I had violated court 
 
order, they particularly focused on an allegation that I was refusing to take 
 
our older son to ABA therapy. There was an order issued by Judge Johnson on date that  
 
“ABA shall continue”. Mr. Trowbridge never told me there was an allegation 
 
 of contempt. There were three scheduled court appearances, two delayed due to  
 
COVID. I was never informed. At the same time someone changed my 
 
mailing address for service from 423 Linden Ave in Wilmette to 423 Linda  
 
Ave in Chicago. I have been unable to get this corrected. Notices were returned to the  
 
court “addressee not found” on April 14, 2020 and June 12, 2020. (C759 and C761 V 1.) 
Mr. Bender as GAL never informed me that there was a concern about ABA. On two  
 
occasions Brad Trowbridge repeatedly lied to me, affirming there were no filings  
 
against me when I checked in and even failing to disclose the contempt allegation after 
 
 he had attended a court hearing where, presumably it was discussed. Mr. Trowbridge  
 
had advised me that it would be better strategically for me not to appear in court if  
 
possible. 
 
  During this time I, unaware of a contempt allegation, was in regular  
 
communication with Mr. Matt, including on the topic of ABA. Mr. Matt texted me  
 
in June of 2020 to ask if I would agree to a new provider because, due to  

6
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COVID, their agency would not provide therapy during COVID.  I had also  
 
purchased a version of the ABA software Teach Town which Angus’s school was  
 
using. I was doing this virtual ABA therapy with Angus because providers were  
 
unavailable due to Cook County Covid rules.  (C 1420 - C 1438 v. 2). 
 
Judge Johnson ruled that I was willfully and contumaciously in contempt of court order  
 
on 8/21/2020 (C 1816, 1817 V2). 
 
  On date Dr. John Palen, a friend of Mr. Bender, was appointed as parenting coordinator 
 
 on Mr. Bender’s recommendation. On December 5th, 2020, Dr. Palen accidentally  
 
copied me on an email to Mr. Wehrman, opposing counsel, Michael Bender, GAL and  
 
Ms. Mason, clerk for Judge Johnson because Ms. Mason and I share the last name.At  
 
the time Dr. Palen had a positive retainer balance and no fee motions were before the  
 
court. Dr. Palen wrote in this email, “I want to be paid. It is as simple as that.” The  
 
subject of the email included my case number and married name. I believe this was a  
 
solicitation of a bribe, either direct or indirect. All parties refuse to provide me an  
 
alternate explanation and refuse to disclose to me the other emails in which both Mr.  
 
Wehrman and Ms. Mason, clerk, are participants but I am excluded. Communications  
 
between opposing counsel and the Court are ex parte unless I am included. (C 1439, C 
1441) 
 
  Shortly after copying me on the email, Dr. Palen wrote to the parties just named and  
 
myself that I was copied by accident and that this was meant for another case.   
 
  A multitude of further violations of procedure and impingements of my rights were 
 
laid out in my motion for a substitution of judge. No explanation or counter-argument  
 
has been raised by Judge Johnson, who was given the opportunity to put a response in  
 
writing and did not do so. On January 11th, 2022 Judge Link ruled that I had not proven 
 
 a substitution of judge was warranted because in his opinion I had not proven actual  
 
bias or given reason to believe I would continue to face future bias. On January 11, 2022 
 
my case  was ordered back to Judge Johnson. (C 1544 v. 2) 
 
  

7
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   ARGUMENT 
[Refer to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 341(h)(7)] 

 
   
State the title of your 1st 
argument here as you 
wrote it in the Points 
and Authorities section 
above. 

   

 
1. The   trial court or  jury (check one) made a mistake by 

 

  
 
   

   

   

   

   Standard of review  (Check all that apply to your 1st argument) 
   

 The trial court made a mistake in applying the law. (This is de novo review.  
   

 The appellate court must give no deference to the trial court); 
   

 The trial court or the jury made a mistake in deciding the facts. (This is manifest  
   

 weight of the evidence review. The appellate court must give great deference to  
   

 the trial court or the jury); 
   

 The trial court made a mistake in conducting the trial procedure. (This is abuse of 
   

 discretion review. The appellate court must give extreme deference to the trial  
Using the authorities 
from your Points and 
Authorities section, and 
with references to the 
pages of the record for 
facts within your 
argument, explain: 
• the standard of 

review you want 
the appellate court 
to apply; 

• the law that you 
want the appellate 
court to apply;  

• how the law 
applies to your 
case; and 

• the relief you want 
from the appellate 
court. 

  
 court); and/or 

  
 other:  

  
Authority for standard of review:   

  

 
 Explain your argument, using the law to demonstrate how, under the facts of your case, the  

 
outcome should have been different. (Use the facts of the case and your authorities (cases and  

 
statutes (laws)) to help you do this.)   

  

  
 
   

   

1-22-0079

✔ not ruling in Apellant's favor

after considering the manifest weight of evidence demonstrating judicial bias necessitating a

substitution of judge.

✔

I presented documentation of two known instances of ex parte 

communication between Ms. Kaye Mason, clerk for Judge Robert Johnson, and Mr. Christopher

Wehrman, Appellee's counsel. I presented evidence that the ex parte communication is ongoing

and that parties still refuse to tender to me secret email communications between Mr. Wehrman

8
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and Ms. Mason under the email subject "IRMO Matt; 2016 D 9534". The ex parte communications

are signs of obvious bias. No party has questioned the accuracy of the documentary evidence 

submitted with my Motion for a Substitution of Judge. No party has provided a legal, ethical

explanation to one ex parte communication in particular, in which a Court appointed parenting

coordinator, Dr. John Palen, wrote to Ms. Mason, Clerk, "I want to be paid It is as simple as that". 

This was at a time when Dr. Palen had a positive retainer balance and no fee motions were being 

discussed, much less pending. 

  In addition to ex parte communications I presented a preponderance of evidence showing that

I cannot receive fair treatment before Judge Robert Johnson. This included documentation of 

multiple instances of denial of service, multiple instances of court dates scheduled without my

awareness, multiple instances of fraud upon the court committed to my or my children's detriment,

and denial of access to counsel.

 Rule (735 ILCS 5/2-1001) (from Ch. 110, par. 2-1001) Sec. 2-1001. Substitution of judge 

provides any party the right to petition the Court to substitute a judge for cause. Bias is good

cause for substitiution. The manifest weight of evidence shows bias.

  In In People v. Bradshaw, 171 Ill. App. 3d 971, 975-76 (1988), this Court found that, "A trial judge

further has an obligation of assuring the public that justice is administered fairly, because the

appearance of bias or prejudice can be as damaging to public confidence as would be the actual

presence of bias or prejudice". In that case, also in the Cook County Circuit Court, the Appellate

Court found that a judge should recuse himself simply because other parties witnessed one

defendant's mother pass a note and then speak to the trial judge but no actual acts of bias were

shown. In my case I witnessed similarly disturbing acts, that likewise create the appearance of  

bias. However I also exceeded the standard of the appearance of bias by showing a pattern of 

actual bias.

I refer to Illinois Code of Judicial Conduct Canon  3 A.

In his role as a Domestic Relations Judge, Judge Johnson has been given the authority to 

act on behalf of the State to order me to pay fees, to imprison me, and to control my parenting

9

Exhibit U Continued



 
    Enter the Case Number given by the Appellate Court Clerk:  _________________________________ 

ABA-B 2103.1  Page    (09/16) 
 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1-22-0079

time. Although family law judges are given some latitude to address complex family needs it does not f 
 
ollow that mothers are not entitled to the full protection of the law. I am protected by the Fourteenth  
 
Amendment which states in part, “nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,  
 
without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the  
 
laws.”I am now filing for bankruptcy as a direct result of unjust penalties from this court and  
 
unwarranted fees for court appointees. The impact of unjust contempt rulings and court  
 
ordered expenses will likely force me to lose my job as a licensed financial advisor and causes profound  
 
stress for my family.  

10

Exhibit U Continued



 
    Enter the Case Number given by the Appellate Court Clerk:  _________________________________ 

ABA-B 2103.1  Page    (09/16) 
 

State the title of your 
2nd argument here as 
you wrote it in the 
Points and Authorities 
section above. 
 

 
2. The   trial court or  jury (check one) made a mistake by 

 

  

  

If you don't have a 2nd 
argument, remove this 
page and the following 
argument pages. 

  

  

   

   Standard of review  (Check all that apply to your 2nd argument) 
   

 The trial court made a mistake in applying the law. (This is de novo review. 
   

 The appellate court must give no deference to the trial court); 
   

 The trial court or the jury made a mistake in deciding the facts. (This is manifest 
   

 weight of the evidence review. The appellate court must give great deference to  
   

 the trial court or the jury); 
   

 The trial court made a mistake in conducting the trial procedure. (This is abuse of 
   

 discretion review. The appellate court must give extreme deference to the trial  
Using the authorities 
from your Points and 
Authorities section, and 
with references to the 
pages of the record for 
facts within your 
argument, explain: 
• the standard of 

review you want 
the appellate court 
to apply; 

• the law that you 
want the appellate 
court to apply;  

• how the law 
applies to your 
case; and 

• the relief you want 
from the appellate 
court. 

  
 court); and/or 

  
 other:  

  
Authority for standard of review:  

  

 
 Explain your argument, using the law to demonstrate how, under the facts of your case, the  

 
outcome should have been different.  (Use the facts of the case and your authorities (cases and 

 
statutes (laws)) to help you do this.) 

 

  

  

   

   

   

   

1-22-0079

✔

✔

Abusing Court discretion by allowing the Apellee’s attorney to testify as witness

and expert without substitution of attorney and without agreeing to testify 

under oath, and then considering the attorney’s testimony in making his ruling.

While deciding on my Petition for a Substitution of

Judge for the cause of judicial bias, the trial judge allowed Mr. Christopher Wehrman,

Attorney for the Appellee to affirmatively state, in his role as Mr. Matt’s attorney, that

“There has never been any ex parte communication in this case.”. I objected to 

Mr. Wehrman making any arguments because there had been no response or refutal 

of facts via an affidavit from Judge Johnson, as statute allows, so I did not feel there 
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11a

 
was a basis for Mr. Wehrman to create novel arguments. Further, because the 
 
 “ex parte communications” I refer to here and in the original pleading all included 
 
 Mr. Wehrman as either a witness or alleged participant, Mr. Wehrman ought to have  
 
 
been disqualified according to Ill. Sup. Ct. R. 3.7. Further, Mr. Wehrman, in his  
 
oral arguments asserted that I, Appellant, “do not know what ‘ex parte’ means,  
 
and offering no basis for him to act as an expert witness in regard to my competence. 
 
 
  Both Mr. Bender and Mr. Wehrman were at the trial and repeatedly stated to the 
 
 Court their opinions, recollections, and statements of facts. Both parties were 
 
 also witnesses and alleged participants in ex parte communications and other acts  
 
that formed the basis of my complaint. Therefore I repeatedly asked Judge Link to  
 
please swear the parties in so they could testify under oath. The first time I  
 
asked, Judge Link replied, “We’ll get to that later”. When I asked subsequently he 
 
ignored me. 
 
  Specifically, at one point Mr. Wehrman stated, “Your honor, there was no ex  
 
parte communication”. I asked that he be sworn under oath to testify that there  
 
were no emails between himself and Ms. Kaye Mason on which I’d not been  
 
copied and which had not been tendered to me quickly, as the Illinois Code of  
 
Judicial Conduct Demands in Canon 3 A. Judge Link ignored my request. 
 
  Because Judge Link listened to Mr. Wehrman’s arguments, he must have  
 
considered Mr. Wehrman’s arguments as well as his statements of fact in  
 
forming his ruling. It is utterly inappropriate that one party, perhaps in order to 
 
protect his license and reputation, be allowed to testify at a trial when he is at  
 
once attorney, witness and alleged participant, without being  
 
sworn under oath and under threat of perjury as any other witness would be 
 
required to do. Therefore the entire proceeding perpetuated the appearance of bias 
 
it was intended to remedy. 
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Because the Motion to Substitute Judge for the cause of judicial bias presented a 
 
 prima facie basis for substitution and no refutal was made via allowed affidavit by  
 
Judge Johnson or  refuted by legally  allowed evidence, it would be impossible to   
 
consider anything but Mr. Wehrman’s  orations as supporting Judge Link’s ruling.  
 
Because Mr. Wehrman’s statements were not made under  oath and did not direct the court to  
 
duly filed evidence or a the testimony of a duly sworn witness they should not have been  
 
considered at all. 
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   CONCLUSION 
[Refer to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 341(h)(8)] 

  
     
State what you want 
the court to do. You 
may check as many as 
apply.  

     

  The appellant respectfully requests that this court:   

   
 reverse the trial court's judgment (change the judgment in favor of the other party into a 

   
 judgment in your favor) and  send the case back to the trial court for any hearings 

   
 that are still required; 

   
 vacate the trial court's judgment (erase the judgment in favor of the other party) 

   
 and  send the case back to the trial court for a new hearing and a new judgment; 

   
 change the trial court's judgment to say:  

   
  

   
  

   
 order the trial court to:  

 

   
  

   
  

   
 other:   

     

    

    

    

    

    

   
and grant any other relief that the court finds appropriate.   

   
If you are completing 
this form on a 
computer, sign your 
name by typing it.  If 
you are completing it 
by hand, sign by hand 
and print your name.  

  Respectfully submitted,  

  

  /s/ 

  Signature  

   
   Print Name  

1-22-0079

✔

✔ transfer this case to Lake County in the interest of justice.

Megan Mason
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   CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
[Refer to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 341(c)] 

   
Rule 341(a) governs 
the form of briefs, and 
Rule 341(b) governs 
the length.  Unless a 
motion to file a longer 
Brief is granted, the 
Appellant’s Brief (not 
counting the pages 
listed) must contain no 
more than 50 pages OR 
no more than 15,000 
words.  
 
If your Brief is within 
the page limit, add the 
number of pages in 
your Brief (not 
counting the pages 
listed).   
 
If your Brief is not 
within the page limit, 
but is within the word 
limit, add the number 
of words in your Brief 
(not counting the pages 
listed). 

     

  

 
 I certify that this Brief conforms to the requirements of Supreme Court Rules 341(a) and (b). 

 
The length of this Brief, excluding the pages or words contained in the Rule 341(d) cover, the  

 
Rule 341(h)(1) statement of points and authorities, the Rule 341(c) certificate of compliance, the  

 certificate of service, and those matters to be appended to the brief under Rule 342(a), is  

 
  pages or words. 

  

  

  

   
If you are completing 
this form on a 
computer, sign your 
name by typing it.  If 
you are completing it 
by hand, sign by hand 
and print your name.  

  /s/ 

  Signature 

   

   

  Print Name 

 

  

1-22-0079

Megan Mason
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   PROOF OF SERVICE 
[Refer to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 11] 

   
      
In 1a, enter the name, 
mailing address, and 
email address of the 
party or lawyer to 
whom you sent the 
document.  
 

    
 1. I sent this document:  
    
  a. To:   
   Name:  

In 1b, check the box to 
show how you sent the 
document, and fill in 
any other information 
required on the blank 
lines.  
  

    First Middle Last 

   Address:  

    Street, Apt # City State ZIP 

   Email address:    
CAUTION: If the 
other party does not 
have a lawyer, you may 
send the document by 
email only if the other 
party has listed their 
email address on a 
court document. 

     
  b. By:  Personal hand delivery  

     Regular, First-Class Mail, put into the U.S. Mail with postage paid at: 

      
     Address of Post Office or Mailbox   
     Third-party commercial carrier, with delivery paid for at: 

       
      

Name (for example, FedEx or UPS) and office address 
      The court's electronic filing manager (EFM) or an approved electronic filing  
      service provider (EFSP) 
      Email (not through an EFM or EFSP)  
      Mail from a prison or jail at: 
         

In c, fill in the date and 
time that you sent the 
document. 

     
Name of prison or jail  

  c. On:    
     

Date 
   

    At:   a.m.  p.m.   
     

Time 
 

In 2, if you sent the 
document to more than 
1 party or lawyer, fill in 
a, b, and c. Otherwise 
leave 2 blank. 

 

    
 2. I sent this document:  
    
  a. To:   

    Name:  
     First Middle Last 
    Address:  
     Street, Apt # City State ZIP 
    Email address:    
      
   b. By:  Personal hand delivery  
      Regular, First-Class Mail, put into the U.S. Mail with postage paid at: 
       
      Address of Post Office or Mailbox   
 

1-22-0079

Christopher Wehrman

Katz, Goldstein & Warren 410 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 400 Chicago, IL 60611 

cwherman@kglaw.com

✔

April 6, 2022

3:00
✔

Michael Bender
Caesar Bender LLP 
150 N. Michigan Ave., #2130 
Chicago, IL 60601 

mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com
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      Third-party commercial carrier, with delivery paid for at: 
       
      

Name (for example, FedEx or UPS) and office address 
      The court's electronic filing manager (EFM) or an approved electronic filing  
      service provider (EFSP) 
      Email (not through an EFM or EFSP)  
      Mail from a prison or jail at: 
         

      
Name of prison or jail  

   c. On:   
     

Date 
   

  
  At: 

 
 a.m.  p.m.   

     
Time 

 
In 3, if you sent the 
document to more than 
2 parties or lawyers, fill 
in a, b, and c. 
Otherwise leave 3 
blank. 

 

    
 3. I sent this document:  
    
  a. To:   
   Name:  

     First Middle Last 
    Address:  
     Street, Apt # City State ZIP 
    Email address:    
      
   b. By:  Personal hand delivery  
      Regular, First-Class Mail, put into the U.S. Mail with postage paid at: 
       
      Address of Post Office or Mailbox   

      Third-party commercial carrier, with delivery paid for at: 
       
      

Name (for example, FedEx or UPS) and office address 
      The court's electronic filing manager (EFM) or an approved electronic filing  
      service provider (EFSP) 
      Email (not through an EFM or EFSP)  
      Mail from a prison or jail at: 
         

      
Name of prison or jail  

   c. On:   
     

Date 
 

If you are serving more 
than 3 parties or 
lawyers, fill out and 
insert 1 or more 
Additional Proof of 
Service forms after this 
page. 

   At:   a.m.  p.m.   

    
Time 
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✔

April 6, 2022

3:00
✔
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Under the Code of Civil 
Procedure, 735 ILCS 5/1-
109, making a statement 
on this form that you 
know to be false is 
perjury, a Class 3 Felony. 

 I certify that everything in the Proof of Service is true and correct. I understand that  
 making a false statement on this form is perjury and has penalties provided by law 
 under 735 ILCS 5/1-109. 
    
 /s/   

If you are completing this 
form on a computer, sign 
your name by typing it.  
If you are completing it 
by hand, sign by hand 
and print your name.  

 Your  Signature   

    
    
 Print Your Name   
    
    

 

 

1-22-0079

Megan Mason
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    APPENDIX 
[Refer to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 342(a)] 

   
      
   
This is a Table of 
Contents for the 
Appendix.  
• In addition to the 

materials listed, list 
any other materials 
from the record that 
are relevant to the 
appeal.  Do not list 
materials that are not 
in the record. 

• Add those materials 
to the end of the 
Appendix, in the 
order in which you 
list them.  

• Number the pages of 
the Appendix A-1, 
A-2, A-3, etc.   

• Fill in the 
appropriate page 
numbers on the 
Table of Contents.  

  

 
1. Index to the record A-   

 
2. Complaint or Petition  A-   

 
3. Judgment A-   

 
4. Notice of Appeal  A-   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1-22-0079
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   INDEX TO THE RECORD 
 

   
      
   
  Common Law Record ("C") 

[Refer to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 321] 

 

Rule 321 discusses the 
common law record. 
List the title of each 
document in the 
common law record (the 
documents filed in the 
trial court), the date on 
which each document 
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of the record on which 
each document begins. 
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If you need more room, 
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1-22-0079

1

Judgment for Dissolution of Marriage 
 
Allocation of Parental Responsibilities Judgment and Parenting Plan 
 
Motion to Appoint a Guardian Ad Litem 
 
Response to Motion to Appoint a Guardian Ad Litem 
 
Order Appointing Child’s Rep, GAL or Attorney for Minor Children 
 
Petition for Rule to Show Cause 
 
Response to Petition for Rule to Show Cause 
 
Order appointing Parenting Coordinator 
 
Petition to Substitute Judge for Cause 
 
Exhibit A 
 
Exhibit B 
 
Exhibit C 
 
Exhibit D 
 
Exhibit E 
 
Exhibit F 
 
Exhibit G 
 
Exhibit H 
 
Exhibit I 
 

9/27/2017 
 
9/27/2017 
 
2/19/2019 
 
3/18/2019 
 
6/6/2019 
 
3/10/2020 
 
8/11/2020 
 
9/25/2020 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
 

C526-C546 v 1 
 
 
 
C547-C564 v. 1 
 
 
 
C662-C673 v. 1 
 
 
 
C 698 - C717 V. 1 
 
 
C 720-C721 v. 1 
 
 
 
C 742- C744 v. 1 
 
 
 
C 764- C 772 v. 1 
 
 
C 794-C795 v. 1 
 
 
 
C1420-C1438 v.2 
 
 
C 1439-C1449 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1441 v. 2 
 
 
C 1442 -C144 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1445 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1446 v. 2 
 
 
C 1447 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1448 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1449 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1450 v. 2 

ATTENTION APPELATE COURT: I  URGENTLY NEED TO FILE THE APPELLATE BRIEF ASSOCIATED WITH THIS INDEX. HOWEVER, AS OF 4/6/22THE COPY OF VOLUME 1 I RECEIVED FROM THE APPELLATE 
COURT, PRESUMABLY FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, IS CORRUPTED. WHEN I ATTEMPTED TO OPEN DOCUMENTS IN VOLUME 1 I SEE THE DOCKET LITED THERE IS NOT MY CASE AND THE DOCUMENTS ARE 
FOR PARTIE NOT RELATED TO ME OR MY CASE. I WILL BE SENDING COPIES OF THE MISSING DOCUMENTS TO THE CIRCUIT COURT BUT DO NOT WISH TO MISS MY DEADLINE PLEASE ACCEPT THIS FILING. 
MM
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  Common Law Record ("C") 

[Refer to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 321] 

 

Rule 321 discusses the 
common law record. 
List the title of each 
document in the 
common law record (the 
documents filed in the 
trial court), the date on 
which each document 
was filed, and the page 
of the record on which 
each document begins. 

    

 Document  Date of Filing  Page 

      

      

      

      
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

If you need more room, 
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more Additional 
Common Law Record 
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1.a

Page 2 of 2

Exhibit J 
 
Exhibit K 
 
Exhibit L 
 
Exhibit M 
 
Exhibit N 
 
Exhibit O 
 
Exhibit P 
 
Exhibit Q 
 
Exhibit S 
 
Exhibit T 
 
Exhibit U 
 
Exhibit V 
 
Exhibit W 
 
Affidavit in Support of SOJ 
 
Motion to Terminate the GAL 
 
Order Denying

11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
11/30/2021 
 
12/3/2021 
 
1/11/2022

C 1451 v. 2 
 
 
C 1452-  
C 1457 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1458 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1459 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1460 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1461 v. 2 
 
 
C 1462-C1463 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1464 v. 2 
 
 
C 1465 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1466- 
C 1472 v. 2 
 
 
C 1473 - 
C 1480 v. 2 
 
 
C 1481-C 1492 v. 2 
 
 
C 1493- C 1494 v. 
2 
 
C 1495 v. 2 
 
 
 
C 1496 - C 1508 v. 
2 
 
 
C 1544 v. 2
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This form is approved by the Illinois Supreme Court and is required to be accepted in all Illinois Appellate Courts. 

Instructions� F THIS APPEAL INVOLVES A MATTER SUBJECT TO EXPEDITED DISPOSITION UNDER 
RULE 311(a). 

APPEAL TO THE APPELLATE 
COURT OF ILLINOIS 

District 
from the Circuit Court of 

County 

Check the box to the 
right if your case 
involves parental 
responsibility or 
parenting time 
(custody/visitation 
rights) or relocation of 
a child. 

Just below "Appeal to 
the Appellate Court of 
Illinois," enter the 
number of the 
appellate district that 
will hear the appeal 
and the county of the 
trial court. In re 

Plaintiff/Petitioner (First, middle, last names) 
F Appellant F Appellee 

v. 

Defendant/Respondent (First, middle, last names) 

F Appellant F Appellee 

Trial Court Case No.: 

Honorable 

Judge, Presiding 

If the case name in the 
trial court began with 
“In re” (for example, 
“In re Marriage of 
Jones”), enter that 
name. Below that, 
enter the names of the 
parties in the trial 
court, and check the 
correct boxes to show 
which party is filing 
the appeal 
(“appellant”) and 
which party is 
responding to the 
appeal (“appellee”). 
To the far right, enter 
the trial court case 
number and trial 
judge's name. 

In 1, check the type of 
appeal. 
For more information 
on choosing a type of 
appeal, see How to File 
a Notice of Appeal. 

In 2, list the name of 
each person filing the 
appeal and check the 
proper box for each 
person. 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 

1. Type of Appeal: 
F Appeal 
F Interlocutory Appeal 
F Joining Prior Appeal 
F Separate Appeal 
F Cross Appeal 

2. Name of Each Person Appealing: 
Name: 

First Middle Last 
F Plaintiff-Appellant F Petitioner-Appellant 

OR 
F Defendant-Appellant F Respondent-Appellant 

Name: 
First Middle Last 

F Plaintiff-Appellant F Petitioner-Appellant 
OR 

F Defendant-Appellant F Respondent-Appellant 

NAA-N 2803.4 Page 1 of 4 (10/19) 

✔

FIRST

Cook

the marriage of Megan and Peter Matt

Peter Matt

✔

Megan Matt (nka Megan Mason)

✔

2016 D 9534

Matthew Link

Megan Mason

✔

✔

FILED
1/14/2022 2:24 PM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL

16306084
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In 3, identify every 3. List the date of every order or judgment you want to appeal: 
order or judgment you 
want to appeal by 
listing the date the trial Date 
court entered it. 

Date 

Date 

4. State your relief: 
In 4, state what you F reverse the trial court's judgment (change the judgment in favor of the other party into a 
want the appellate judgment in your favor) and F send the case back to the trial court for any hearings court to do. You may 
check as many boxes as that are still required; 
apply. F vacate the trial court's judgment (erase the judgment in favor of the other party) 

and F send the case back to the trial court for a new hearing and a new judgment; 
F change the trial court's judgment to say: 

and grant any other relief that the court finds appropriate. 

If you are completing /s/ 
this form on a Your Signature Street Address 
computer, sign your 
name by typing it. If 
you are completing it 
by hand, sign by hand 

Your Name City, State, ZIP 

and print your 
name. Fill in your 
address and 

Telephone 

telephone number. 

Additional Appellant Signature 

All appellants must Signature Street Address 
sign this form. Have 
each additional 
appellant sign the form 
here and enter their Name City, State, ZIP 
name, address, and 
telephone number. 

Telephone 

GETTING COURT DOCUMENTS BY EMAIL: If you agree to receive court documents by email, check the box below and enter your email 
address. You should use an email account that you do not share with anyone else and that you check every day. If you do not check your email 
every day, you may miss important information or notice of court dates. Other parties may still send you court documents by mail. 

F order the trial court to: 

F other: 

F I agree to receive court documents at this email address during my entire case. 

Email 

NAA-N 2803.4 Page 2 of 4 (10/19) 

1/11/2022

✔

✔
assign this case to a new judge within the Domestic Relations Division of the Circuit Court

of Cook County

Megan Mason

419 Greenleaf Ave.

Wilmette, IL 60091

917.518.1808

✔

megan42@gmail.com
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In 1a, enter the name, 
mailing address, and 
email address of the 
party or lawyer to 
whom you sent the 
document. 

In 1b, check the box to 
show how you sent the 
document, and fill in 
any other information 
required on the blank 
lines. 
CAUTION: If the 
other party does not 
have a lawyer, you may 
send the document by 
email only if the other 
party has listed their 
email address on a 
court document. 

PROOF OF SERVICE (You must serve the other party and complete this section) 

1. I sent this document: 

a. To: 

Name: 
First Middle Last 

Address: 
Street, Apt # City State ZIP 

Email address: 
b. By: F Personal hand delivery 

F Regular, First-Class Mail, put into the U.S. Mail with postage paid at: 

Address of Post Office or Mailbox 

F Third-party commercial carrier, with delivery paid for at: 

Name (for example, FedEx or UPS) and office address 

F The court's electronic filing manager (EFM) or an approved electronic filing 
service provider (EFSP) 

F Email (not through an EFM or EFSP) 
F Mail from a prison or jail at: 

Name of prison or jail 
In 1c, fill in the date 
and time that you sent 
the document. 

c. On: 
Date 

At: F a.m. F p.m. 
Time 

In 2, if you sent the 
document to more than 
1 party or lawyer, fill in 2. I sent this document: 
a, b, and c. Otherwise 
leave 2 blank. a. To: 

Name: 
First Middle Last 

Address: 
Street, Apt # City State ZIP 

Email address: 
b. By: F Personal hand delivery 

F Regular, First-Class Mail, put into the U.S. Mail with postage paid at: 

Address of Post Office or Mailbox 

F Third-party commercial carrier, with delivery paid for at: 

Name (for example, FedEx or UPS) and office address 

F The court's electronic filing manager (EFM) or an approved electronic filing 
service provider (EFSP) 

F Email (not through an EFM or EFSP) 
NAA-N 2803.4 Page 3 of 4 (10/19) 

Peter Matt

246 Maple Ave., Wilmette, IL 60091

cwherman@smbtrial.com

✔

January 14, 2022

3:00 ✔

Michael Bender

150 N. Michigan Ave., Suite 2130 Chicago, IL 60601

mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com

✔
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F Mail from a prison or jail at: 

In 3, if you sent the 
document to more than 
2 parties or lawyers, 
fill in a, b, and c. 
Otherwise leave 3 
blank. 

Name of prison or jail 

c. On: 
Date 

At: F a.m. F p.m. 
Time 

3. I sent this document: 

a. To: 

Name: 
First Middle Last 

Address: 
Street, Apt # City State ZIP 

Email address: 
b. By: F Personal hand delivery 

F Regular, First-Class Mail, put into the U.S. Mail with postage paid at: 

Address of Post Office or Mailbox 

F Third-party commercial carrier, with delivery paid for at: 

Name (for example, FedEx or UPS) and office address 

F The court's electronic filing manager (EFM) or an approved electronic filing 
service provider (EFSP) 

F Email (not through an EFM or EFSP) 
If you are serving more F Mail from a prison or jail at: 
than 3 parties or 
lawyers, fill out and 
insert 1 or more 
Additional Proof of 
Service forms after this 
page. 

Under the Code of 
Civil Procedure, 735 
ILCS 5/1-109, making 
a statement on this 
form that you know to 
be false is perjury, a 
Class 3 Felony. 

If you are completing 
this form on a 
computer, sign your 
name by typing it. If 
you are completing it 
by hand, sign by hand 
and print your name. 

Name of prison or jail 

c. On: 
Date 

At: 
Time 

F a.m. F p.m. 

I certify that everything in the Proof of Service is true and correct. I understand that making 
a false statement on this form is perjury and has penalties provided by law 
under 735 ILCS 5/1-109. 

/s/ 
Your  Signature 

Print Your Name 

NAA-N 2803.4 Page 4 of 4 (10/19) 

1/14/2022

3:00 ✔

The Honorable Judge Matthew Link

Domestic Relations Division, Daley Center, 50 W. Washington St. Rm. 2002 Chicago, IL 60602

✔

Linden ave and 4th Street In Wilmette

✔

1/14/2022

3:00 ✔

Megan Mason

Print Form Save Form Reset Form

4.I sent this document to: The 
Honorable Judge Grace Dickers, 

Presiding Judge
Domestic Relations Division, Daley 
Center, 50 W. Washington St. Rm. 

2002 Chicago, IL 60602
via First class mail at the post office 
box at Linden Av. and 4th Street in 
Wilmette, IL  at 3:00pm on January 

14, 2022
and via email at ccc. 

domrelcr2002@cookcountyil.gov

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 1
/1

4/
20

22
 2

:2
4 

PM
   

20
16

D
00

95
34

A29

Exhibit U Continued



Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Filing Accepted for Case: 2016D009534; MATT PETER Vs. MATT MEGAN; Envelope
Number: 11799099


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Wed, Jan 13, 2021 at 3:14 PM
To: "Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office)" <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>
Cc: domesticreldivservices@cookcountycourt.com, "Gerese Z. Collins (Circuit Court)" <gzcollins@cookcountycourt.com>

Dear Ms. Mason,

I'm a pro se Respondent with a case in front of Judge Johnson. I would like to schedule an appearance to present a
motion. I have tried every possible method to schedule an appearance but I can't. Can you please tell me who to contact?
I know Ms. Collins was emailed in the past so I'm including her here as well. Sorry for any inconvenience. I think I tried
everything.

I am unable to get through to a clerk when I call 312. 603.6300. I have tried four times in the last two days and every time
my call is dropped.

I texted and called the court assistance line and they could not help me schedule an appearance.

The option to schedule an appearance doesn't work in Odyssey when motions are uploaded.

I need to provide proof of service and an appearance time/date to Mr. Wehrman. My motion and exhibits were accepted
yesterday. May I schedule Thursday, January 21 at 9:30 am?

Kindly,

Megan Matt nka Mason, Plaintiff
Case: 16 D 9534, Peter Matt vs. Megan Matt
[Quoted text hidden]
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Subpoena's To Certify

5 messages

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Thu, Feb 17, 2022 at 10:23 AM
To: "DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court)" <DomesticRelDivServices@cookcountycourt.com>

Dear Domestic Relation Division Clerk,

Please stamp the attached document subpoenas, urgently required in support of my Motion to Transfer Venue. As a pro
se litigant I am unable to self certify and therefore rely upon your timely support in this matter.

Kind Regards,
Megan Mason
2016 D 9534

3 attachments

Martinez Subpoena.pdf
389K

Steger Subpoena .pdf

398K

Mason Subpoena .pdf

411K

DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court) <DomesticRelDivservices@cookcountycourt.com> Thu, Feb 17, 2022 at 5:41 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>

Ms. Mason,

 

Thanks for your email request.  Your request has been forwarded to the Customer Care.  Once completed
you will be notified regarding further instructions.  Please
allow two to three weeks to process.

 

Sincerely,

 

From: Megan Mason [mailto:megan42@gmail.com]


Sent: Thursday, February 17, 2022 10:23 AM

To: DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court) <DomesticRelDivservices@cookcountycourt.com>

Subject: Subpoena's To Certify

 

 

External Message Disclaimer

This message originated from an external source. Please use proper judgment and caution when opening attachments, clicking
links, or responding to this email.
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[Quoted text hidden]

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Fri, Feb 18, 2022 at 8:33 AM
To: "DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court)" <DomesticRelDivservices@cookcountycourt.com>
Cc: civilrights@ilag.gov, CivilRightsDivision@usdoj.gov, aemmanuel@injusticewatch.org

Dear Anonymous Sir or Madam,

I apologize but as a pro se litigant I am not familiar with "the Customer Care". I have already attempted to submit the
pleadings to Odyssey File. There is not a file type "Subponea". I submitted the subpoenas under a related category and
asked in my notes to be advised of the correct file type. No advice was given. I then emailed the documents to you and
was advised that they have been passed along to "the Customer Care". 

1. Who are you?
2. Who is "the Customer Care"?
3. Why have my subpoenas not been stamped? 
4. Is there an error in the way my subpoenas were written? If so, please advise how I may correct this.
5. Is there a legal reason my subpoenas have not been stamped?

Kind Regards,
Megan Mason

[Quoted text hidden]

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Mon, Mar 28, 2022 at 12:20 PM
To: "DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court)" <DomesticRelDivservices@cookcountycourt.com>
Cc: CivilRights <civilrights@ilag.gov>, CivilRightsDivision@usdoj.gov, "Pond, Laura J." <Laura.Pond@ilag.gov>, "Brianna
Steger (Chief Judge's Office)" <brianna.steger@cookcountyil.gov>, "courtclerk (Circuit Court)"
<courtclerk@cookcountycourt.com>

Dear Anonymous Sir or Madam,

I am writing as a pro se litigant who wishes to have multiple document subpoenas certified. On a prior occasion you wrote
to me that you had forwarded my request to "The Customer Care".  Would you be so kind as to provide me with the
"Customer care" contact? I still have not received those stamps as shocking as that may sound. Please advise
their status. 

I have more subpoenas I require to be stamped. Please let me know how I may please have the attached subpoenas
certified? I have the right to access justice. It is your obligation as an employee of the people of Cook County to support
the people of Cook County in equal access to justice. Help me get these certified, please.

Thanks,
Megan Mason, Respondent, Pro Se, 2016 D 9534
[Quoted text hidden]

5 attachments

Doc Subpoena Martinez.pdf

363K

Doc Subpoena Mr. Bradley Trowbridge.pdf

344K

Doc Subpoena Wehrman.pdf

307K

Document Subpoena Bender.pdf

370K

Doc Subpoena Blechman.pdf

699K
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Re: MATT 16 D 9534 Request for Hearing Date

8 messages

Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov> Thu, May 27, 2021 at 12:56 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>
Cc: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>

Hi again

Please remember to include your case name and number on all submissions to the
court.

The first available hearing date is July 27 at 11 am.  Kindly advise of your availability

Kaye Mason, Coordinator
Calendar 23 - Judge Robert W. Johnson
Domestic Relations Division

EMAIL COMMUNICATION to court personnel and judges shall be limited
to scheduling and administrative purposes
and shall not include information relating to the substantive matters or the issues on the merits.
If email communication
includes any language that could be construed as impermissible ex parte communication, neither court personnel nor
judges will respond to
the email. 

From: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 12:41 PM

To: Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>

Cc: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>; DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court)
<DomesticRelDivservices@cookcountycourt.com>

Subject: Re: Hearing Date
 
 


External Message Disclaimer


This message originated from an external source. Please use proper judgment and caution when opening
attachments, clicking links, or responding to this email.

Hi Ms. Mason,


Thanks for your response. I have served OC, OC has responded, I have responded to the affirmative defense. I am
copying Mr. Wehrman here as I believe we are at this step:

"After the time to reply expires, the movant shall submit the non-emergency motion and any responses

Exhibit X



and replies to the Circuit Court (along with all necessary and referenced exhibits) via e-mail

transmission with all counsel of record or self-represented parties included as recipients of the e-mail

to the following individuals at the date that time to reply expires:

the Court Coordinator for any judge who maintains an individual calendar, or

i. the Division Administrator for any judge who does not have a Court Coordinator, or;

ii. any other method directed by the judge assigned to the matter."

May I please have a date to present the pleadings?

Thanks,
Megan Mason


On Thu, May 27, 2021 at 12:25 PM Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov> wrote:

Good afternoon Ms Mason


Please be guided by the attached Administrative Order for guidelines on requesting
dates for newly filed Motions


Best,


​
​
​
Kaye Mason, Coordinator
Calendar 23 - Judge Robert W. Johnson
Domestic Relations Division


EMAIL COMMUNICATION to court personnel and judges shall be limited
to scheduling and administrative purposes
and shall not include information relating to the substantive matters or the issues on the merits.
 If email
communication includes any language that could be construed as impermissible ex parte communication, neither
court personnel nor judges will respond to
the email. 








From: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>

Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 12:16 PM

To: Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>

Cc: DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court) <DomesticRelDivservices@cookcountycourt.com>

Subject: Hearing Date
 
 


External Message Disclaimer


This message originated from an external source. Please use proper judgment and caution when
opening attachments, clicking links, or responding to this email.

Hi Ms. Mason,



I would like a date to present three petitions and one motion to Judge Johnson and to schedule a hearing date.
Attached are the petitions and motion, responses from OC and my responses to OC. These matters are separate from
other issues being brought for
status in the near future and related to ongoing, clear violation of the parenting plan, so I
would greatly appreciate the opportunity to present them and set a trial in the near future. 
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Does Judge Johnson have any availability the week of June 7? 



Kindly,
Megan Mason 
2016 D 

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Thu, May 27, 2021 at 1:06 PM
To: "Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office)" <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>
Cc: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>

Hi Ms. Mason,


Yes, July 27 at 11am is great for me. I will provide notice to Mr. Wehrman and Mr. Bender.

Kindly,
Megan Mason
[Quoted text hidden]

Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com> Thu, May 27, 2021 at 1:08 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>, "Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office)" <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Kaye:

 

When we were before the Judge on Monday, he appointed at 604 evaluator and set everything for status on
July 13, 2021.  I do not believe Judge Johnson is having
any hearings on this case at this time.

 

Chris

 

Christopher D. Wehrman | Partner

Swanson, Martin & Bell, LLP

330 N. Wabash #3300

Chicago, IL 60611

Office: 312/321-9100

Direct: 312/222-8534

Fax: 312/321-0990

[Quoted text hidden]

Disclaimer

The information contained in this communication from the sender is confidential. It is intended solely for use by the recipient and
others authorized to receive it. If you are not the recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or
taking action in relation of the contents of this information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful.


This email has been scanned for viruses and malware, and may have been automatically archived by Mimecast, a leader in email
security and cyber resilience. Mimecast integrates email defenses with brand protection, security awareness training, web
security, compliance and other essential capabilities. Mimecast helps protect large and small organizations from malicious activity,
human error and technology failure; and to lead the movement toward building a more resilient world. To find out more, visit our
website.
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Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov> Thu, May 27, 2021 at 1:15 PM
To: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>, Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

The judge is in a hearing but I will verify before the end of the day

Kaye Mason, Coordinator
Calendar 23 - Judge Robert W. Johnson
Domestic Relations Division

EMAIL COMMUNICATION to court personnel and judges shall be limited
to scheduling and administrative purposes
and shall not include information relating to the substantive matters or the issues on the merits.
If email communication
includes any language that could be construed as impermissible ex parte communication, neither court personnel nor
judges will respond to
the email. 

From: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>

Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 1:08 PM

To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>; Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office)
<kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>

Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Subject: RE: MATT 16 D 9534 Request for Hearing Date
 
[Quoted text hidden]

Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Thu, May 27, 2021 at 1:53 PM
To: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>
Bcc: "Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office)" <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>

Confirming the July 27 hearing and notice was just filed. 

I believe it's unfair to Ms. Mason to include her in arguments between parties, which she has explicitly asked us not to do.
So dropping Ms. Mason to bcc. But I do wish to confirm that I have filed notice before receiving this communication and
plan to have my pleadings heard at that date and time.

Mr. Wehrman, I think you are able to move to dismiss, counter the motions, or use any variety of methods to oppose my
pleadings. I believe you and Mr. Bender must be aware that these are prima facie matters. Put simply: He did it. Over and
over again. It's not ok to try to intimidate me into not accessing due process.

1. I do not recall my pleadings being dismissed or ruled upon at the least court status. They are legitimate and I am
entitled to due process.

2. The custody evaluation process would not change the fact that one party or another violated the parenting plan prior to
the custody evaluation process so this is a separate issue. If a party violated the parenting plan at the time, that's a
violation. Future modifications do not change past violations. 

3. It would be extremely prejudicial to the custody evaluation process to impede one party from filing a pleading so as to
hide the other parties extensive misconduct. Given that I am pro se and openly opposed to Mr. Bender's outsized
influence on this case, it's in everyone's best interest that a semblance of fairness and objectivity is maintained. If I'm not
allowed to tell the truth, how can I possibly believe in the legitimacy of these proceedings? 
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Megan

[Quoted text hidden]

Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov> Thu, May 27, 2021 at 2:10 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>, Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>
Cc: Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Ms Matt

I just spoke with Judge Johnson and he has indicated that he will not be hearing any
other issues on this case until he has heard from the evaluator.

Please be guided accordingly.
[Quoted text hidden]
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Blechman


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Tue, Jul 27, 2021 at 7:07 AM
To: Alexandra Brinkmeier <ABrinkmeier@merelfamilylaw.com>

Hi Alex,

I wanted to update you on Blechman to make sure I’m not doing something that could damage my custody situation. I feel
more comfortable with Blechman but I know this process can be dangerous for me so I want to be clear eyed.

So basically when I saw Blechman and the boys a couple weeks ago, Teddy kind of got worked up. Saying things like “I
can’t do anything”. As Blechman said, he appears really disregulated. Blechman said he’s worried about Teddy’s state of
mind and asked me to bring him back two more times.

I think, but don’t know, that he wants me as opposed to Peter at the sessions to build rapport and help Teddy open up.
Yesterday we went and he had me stay in the room the whole time. Teddy said a bit more, got quite emotional and even
said he wants to kill himself. His main expressed issue to me is this Northwestern grammar class Peter is forcing on him,
but he didn’t bring it up to Blechman. 

In the session Teddy kept saying he couldn’t do anything, he thought that everyone was lying when we say he’s doing well
at school. Blechman specifically said, “I know for 100% fact that your mom is not saying that. Is someone else saying
something that makes you think you’re not good at anything?”.

I was obviously a bit emotional hearing Teddy say that he wants to harm himself (I’ve never heard him say this) and asked
Blechman if I should take Teddy to someone. He said for now just keep doing this, as in talking to Teddy about his
feelings, sharing my experience getting him to express himself. I think this is another good sign. We talked about getting
some books about feelings for kids. And I did order a deck of feelings conversation cards for us.

I had told Blechman in my last one on one meeting that the boys have been not wanting to go to Peter’s. I admitted this
was new and, in the past, when asked, both boys would say they like to the current schedule. 

Now Teddy says he hates going to his dad’s. Teddy said to me “my dad doesn’t understand the word no”, forces him to do
these classes (by the way the PC told Peter NOT to put Teddy in summer school). I said to Blechman I would be happy to
have them more or even full time.

Please let me know if I should or can be doing anything to protect myself. I don’t want to have this blow back on me. I’ve
disclosed more than I would like to Blechman about my own history of trauma (which would be used against me as the
crazy/damaged parent) but it’s very hard to participate in these sessions with Teddy without opening up (which could also
be used against me as the cold mother!). 

Thanks,
Megan
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Name: Teddy Matt | DOB: 2/12/2012 | MRN: 2305322 | PCP: Patricia Brunner, MD

Here with Mom and Dad for evaluation of potential self harm.
 
Teddy was in the car with his Mom two days ago and said "I want to kill myself" and then
proceeded to hold his breath for a very short time.
 
He is here to evaluate that statement and action
 
Teddy has never seen how long he can hold his breath and has never tried to hold his 
breath for long. 
 
When I asked him how he would hurt himself he said "I would get shot, or drowned". I asked
how he would do that - he said " a bad guy would do it to me".
 
Teddy has no access to guns and no unmonitored access to water. 
 
On further questioning I asked Teddy if he meant something else when he said he wanted to 
kill himself. He said he does not want to go to the Northwestern class ( "it's too hard". ) And 
he does not want to go to his Dad's house. 
 
I asked Teddy if he was going to hurt himself in any way and he said no 
 
I then spoke with Teddy's parents alone. My assessment is that Teddy does not want to hurt
himself, is not even really aware what that would mean. He is clearly voicing frustration at 2
situations in his life. He does not want to do the Northwestern class and does not want to go
to his Dad's house. I do think he is safe. 
 

 
 

 

 
 
PE: .NAD, no resp distress
Wt 66 lb (29.9 kg) 
 
PE deferred d
 
A/P: assessment for safety - Teddy is safe. He does not want to go the the Northwestern 
class or his Dad's house. 
Follow up if needed 
 
Medical Decision Making 
 
Problems Addressed:  1 undiagnosed new problem with uncertain prognosis (Moderate
LOS 4)
 

Progress Notes
Patricia Brunner, MD at 07/28/21 1700

Allergies
Allergen Reactions
• Amoxicillin Hives

No current outpatient medications on file prior to visit.

No current facility-administered medications on file prior to visit.
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Amount and/or Complexity of Data Reviewed and Analyzed:  Assessment requiring an
independent historian
 
 
Risk of Complications and/or Morbidity or Mortality of Patient Management:  
Plan for scheduled follow-up
 
 
Total Time Spent with Patient:
Established Patient: 20-29 minutes
 
Due to the declared public health emergency during the COVID-19 pandemic, additional
supplies, materials, and preparation time have been required and provided by the physician
or APN and/or clinical staff over and above those usually included in an office visit.

assessment for safety - Teddy is safe. He does not want to go the the Northwestern class or 
his Dad's house. 
Follow up if needed 

Patient Instructions
Patricia Brunner, MD at 07/29/21 1226

MyChart® licensed from Epic Systems Corporation © 1999 - 2022
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, DOMESTIC RELATIONS DIVISION

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF: )
)

PETER MATT, )
)

Petitioner, )
)

and ) No.  16 D 9534
)

MEGAN MATT n/k/a MASON, )
)

Respondent. )

AFFIDAVIT OF MEGAN MATT N/K/A MASON IN OPPOSITION TO ALEXANDRA
BRINKMEIER’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW AS COUNSEL

I, MEGAN MATT n/k/a MASON, hereby submit this affidavit under penalties provided

by law pursuant to section 1-109 of the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure and certify that the

statement set forth in this affidavit are true and correct.

I am submitting this affidavit to express my opposition to the withdrawal of Alexandra Brinkmeier

as my attorney. I ask this Court to please deny Ms. Brinkmeier’s removal at this late juncture as

such an abrupt change would cause material harm to me as her client. We are nearing the end

of a custody evaluation and it would be unconscionable to deny me as a mother access to legal

representation through a process that is so impactful to me and my children. I have no way of

knowing that I will be able to obtain counsel in a timely manner who is able to familiarize him or

herself with the matters of this case and give me the representation that I am entitled to.

Furthermore, as Ms. Brinkmeier is well aware, there are extremely sensitive and unusual factors

in this case that I have reason to believe put me and my children in peril.  Ms. Brinkmeier must

not be allowed to put her convenience above her client’s well being. This is antithetical to the

lawyer-client relationship.

Ms. Brinkmeier stated the reason for her wish to withdraw is a difference of principle. At no point

has Ms. Brinkmeier ever stated to me that she had concerns about differences of principle. In

fact, the first I heard about her wish to withdraw was on Friday, November 12th at 3pm in the

FILED
11/15/2021 6:36 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534
Calendar, 23
15592432
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
     to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled Exhibit AA



afternoon. At that time Ms. Brinkmeier explained she has a very heavy caseload and that two

attorneys have left her firm. I told her I objected to her leaving and had concerns about my well

being and that of my children if we are not provided competent legal counsel.

Having never discussed any concerns about principle, I can only attempt to guess what Ms.

Brinkmeier might mean by such a claim. I can only think of one instance of dispute between Ms.

Brinkmeier and myself. As it happens I politely followed Ms. Brinkmeier’s advice in this matter,

so it would appear that the difference of principle was easily resolved through normal

client-attorney proceedings.

However, given the abrupt attempt to remove herself from my case I feel compelled to point out

that I believe she is doing so in order to extricate herself from a complicated situation. In other

words, I desperately need help and so she is trying to get out o f helping me.

When it comes to the one difference of opinion I can recall, shortly before retaining Ms.

Brinkmeier as my attorney I came to have strong reason to believe that an individual formerly

involved in my case had sabotaged my case resulting in an unfounded contempt finding. I had

asked Ms. Brinkmeier to file for a motion to reconsider because of the misconduct of this

individual.

I provided Ms. Brinkmeier with extensive evidence supporting my suspicion and invited her to

provide me with an alternative explanation. I specifically presented evidence of attorney

malfeasance, deceit, fraud upon the court, sabotage, identity theft and internet fraud. Ms.

Brinkmeier was unable to provide me with an alternative explanation to the events I documented

and described.

I fully appreciate how serious such allegations are and therefore I have also brought my

concerns to other attorneys in an informal advisory capacity hoping that I, as a lay person, might

learn of an explanation other than fraud for the events that I detailed. Specifically I have

consulted with and disclosed to Michael Sharp, the General Counsel of Jefferies Financial LLC;

The Honorable Judge Judy Harris Kluger, founder of Sanctuary for Families; and Dorchen

Leidholdt, lead attorney for Sanctuary for Families. In addition to the several attorneys I’ve

disclosed to I have consulted with a mental health therapist on a regular basis. I know of no

claims that my allegations ar deceitful or misguided, even by Ms. Brinkmeier herself.
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Because I believe I was found in contempt in August of 2020 as a direct result of the misconduct

just mentioned I asked Ms. Brinkmeier to file a motion to reconsider in this Court. I thought that

fraud could be the basis. She said the time that had lapsed was too long and that the suspected

crimes were not a basis. I accepted her decision.

However, I reported my suspicions to The Department of Justice’s Task Force on Internet Crime

and other Federal authorities. On November 8th, four days before her abrupt decision to

withdraw, I wrote to tell Ms. Brinkmeier that I had submitted complaints to the Department of

Justice alleging internet fraud, fraud upon the court and identity theft by this individual. I also

disclosed other reports to federal law enforcement that I fear put me at peril of retaliation or

attempts to evade prosecution by others who may be involved in these matters.

I beg this Court to deny Ms. Brinkmeier’s motion to withdraw. If the court does grant this motion

against my strong objection, I ask that Ms. Brinkmeier only do so after she has presented me

with three attorneys who are willing and able to accept my case.

MEGAN MATT n/k/a MASON
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Filing Returned for Envelope Number: 17138374 in Case: 2016D009534, PETER
MATT-vs-MEGAN MATT for filing Exhibits Filed


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Mon, Mar 21, 2022 at 2:17 PM
To: "DomesticRelDiv Services (Circuit Court)" <domesticreldivservices@cookcountycourt.com>
Cc: "Brianna Steger (Chief Judge's Office)" <brianna.steger@cookcountyil.gov>, civilrights@ilag.gov,
CivilRightsDivision@usdoj.gov

This is not a proof of service. It is an exhibit you received March 18, 2022. Kindly enter it according to law and your duty
as a civil servant.

Kind Regards,

Megan Mason


---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: <no-reply@efilingmail.tylertech.cloud>

Date: Fri, Mar 18, 2022 at 2:09 PM

Subject: Filing Returned for Envelope Number: 17138374 in Case: 2016D009534, PETER MATT-vs-MEGAN MATT for
filing Exhibits Filed

To: <megan42@gmail.com>


Filing Returned
Envelope Number: 17138374
Case Number: 2016D009534

Case Style: PETER MATT-vs-MEGAN MATT

The filing below has been reviewed and has been returned for further action. Please refile with the corrections outlined
below. Please, contact the appropriate court help center for further information.

Return Reason(s) from Clerk's Office

Court Cook County - Domestic Relations

Returned Reason Rejected

Returned Comments The correct code is proof of service

To learn how to copy the rejected filing so that you can make changes to refile, click here
Document Details

Case Number 2016D009534

Case Style PETER MATT-vs-MEGAN MATT

Date/Time Submitted 3/18/2022 8:23 AM CST

Filing Type EFileAndServe

Filing Description Exhibit D

Activity Requested Exhibits Filed

Filed By Megan Mason

Filing Attorney
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If you are not represented by a lawyer, we want to improve your e-filing experience. Please click here to fill out a short
survey.

Exhibit D Petition to Transfer Venue  .pdf

358K



    

   GERALD A. BLECHMAN, Ph.D. 
      CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGIST 
  1751 SOUTH NAPERVILLE ROAD, SUITE 206 
      WHEATON, ILLINOIS 60189 
         (630) 664-0525 
 
 
 
       February 7, 2022 
 
 
 
Michael Ian Bender, Esq. 
150 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 2130 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
 

          Re: Former Marriage of Matt and Mason 
 
Dear Mr. Bender: 
 
I am the 604.10 (c) Evaluator in the above named case. On January 11, 2022. I  received an 
emailed letter from Megan Mason which I believe also copied you. That email made it clear that 
Ms. Mason was refusing to cooperate further with the evaluation until “the Appeal on the 
substitution of judge for cause is ruled upon…” She made clear her notion that there were no 
parentage issues to deal with.  She noted various resources we could utilize if we had concerns 
about parenting of either Angus or Teddy Matt.  I do have concerns about parenting issues with 
both children which I express here in letter form rather than a 604.10(c) Report. 
 
I had occasion to observe Angus and Teddy on Saturday, February 5, 2022. Before that 
observation, Mr. Matt emailed the following: 
 
“Megan’s motion to substitute the judge was denied and she is now appealing that.  To do this 
she needs to file a bystander report.  She wants to do this with the help of a recording she did or 
one of her fellow church members, who observed the hearing, did. I feel this can backfire on her, 
since it is illegal to record a court hearing. During the hearing I was a little frightened to hear 
how her mind works these days. She was saying things like: “…you know, first of all, I love 
democracy.  And January 6, 2020 (sic), I saw people storming the Capital (sic). So, I feel 
spiritually and emotionally called to protect democracy, And my understanding of a judge’s role 
in an American courtroom is that it is a sacred duty to uphold the judicial process in that court 
And so, Mr. Trowbridge’s (her former lawyer) malfeasance only matters here because Judge 
Johnson, Mr. Wehrman, and Mr. Bender observed it over the course of four months, and did 
nothing to intervene. “[…]”I think the appointment of Michael Bender without any legal 
proceeding (sic) was an illegal appointment. And I believe it was related to Judge Johnson’s bias 
against women, perhaps, against divorced women?  I don’t know. I don’t really have to prove 

Exhibit CC



that.  I just know, I am an American citizen, and a mother with a divorce agreement and guardian 
ad litem was appointed. And I see it as bias.” 
 
Due to the completion of her motion we now have a judge (the former one) again for our case. 
Now my lawyer can file something because Angus still doesn’t have ABA. Megan doesn’t allow 
ABA because she doesn’t like that the therapist is unvaccinated and she doesn’t like the 
therapist’s work in general.  Megan is held in contempt for not allowing ABA so I am wondering 
what happens next.  Fact is finding a new ABA will take time.  Onboarding in regular 
circumstances can already take 3 months.  I know this because we have been bouncing around 
between therapists many years now. By now we have gone through around a dozen evaluation 
and onboarding processes. 
 
Teddy is not allowed to go to soccer practice during her time, because Megan thinks he does  
enough soccer with me.  The back and forth between Megan’s opinion about soccer is frustrating 
to Teddy I can imagine. He is a great player and he has the dream to become pro and certainly 
has the opportunity.  He is willing to put in the work, but he needs to be allowed to do so. 
Last week Teddy scored a 91% in the national MAP test for reading and 77% for math. i.e. is 
doing great academically.  He is very proud of this but doesn’t agree with me that it might be due 
to his work with the Northwestern Gifted Program. He likes to work hard, but sometimes his 
initial reaction is “I rather watch TV” 
 
Agnus has no ABA and I believe he is a bit regressing due to that.  He moved from regular PE to 
adaptive PE, and he regularly spitting, hitting, kicking smashing windows, disrobing and 
toileting issues i.e. stool on clothes. I think this is worse than last year.  The school says he needs 
to sleep more, but the medicine (Strattera) makes him anxious, etc., which also impacts his sleep.  
I will request a meeting with the school and with the psychiatrist to discuss.  When only Megan 
and me are discussing with the psychiatrist she will get opposing views (maybe out of principle). 
The meds also have some impact on his overall participation in Special Olympics, which he is 
doing with me.  He has been swimming 3 times per week, but one team doesn’t allow his 
participation anymore, because he has gotten too weak and doesn’t swim the whole pool length 
consistently.  I guess this is mainly due to the increased anxiety and drowsiness, which probably 
is the medicine side effect. 
 
Regards, 
Peter 
 
 When I saw Teddy on February 5th, he was under good control as opposed to the time I saw him 
with his mother.  He was not anxious and not running around the room saying bizarre things 
about how unable he thought himself to be.  He was proud of doing well in school, but, as many 
children, resented that he had to spend extra time going to school.  In general, I saw a very bright 
boy who appeared perfectly normal. 
 
Angus was obviously anxious, intolerant of being in my office and had a number of tics and 
peculiar behaviors.  He only related to his father and not to me. 
 
This is an interim report with interim recommendations.    
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Megan apparently sees no problem with her parenting but I think keeping her autistic child out of 
the appropriate therapy is a form of child abuse.  Therefore, I recommend that her decision 
making about Angus’ treatment be modified so that Peter Matt is the sole decision-maker for the  
present and foreseeable future. 
 
Similarly, Teddy is doing well and even though he dislikes the extra education at the 
Northwestern Program is thriving.  Importantly, I did not see the obviously disturbed kid I saw 
last summer with his mother.  Therefore, I think father should have sole decision making for 
Teddy as well.   If Megan attempts to interfere with either Angus or Teddy’s treatment, her 
parenting time should be curtailed.  
 
If you have further questions, don’t hesitate to call. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
Gerald A. Blechman, Ph.D. 
Licensed Clinical Psychologist 
Nationally Certified Custody Evaluator   
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit CC Continued



Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Blechman


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Wed, Jul 28, 2021 at 3:33 PM
To: Alexandra Brinkmeier <ABrinkmeier@merelfamilylaw.com>

Hi Alex,

I really can't emphasize enough how implausible it is to me that Blechman forgot that Teddy said he wants to kill himself. 

1. He said it multiple times, using the language, "I want to kill myself", "I want to be dead", "Nobody wants me", "Nobody
would miss me".

2. I said to Teddy, "You can't kill yourself." and looked to him for help and Blechman said, "What your mom means is that
she would be really sad if something happened to you". 

3. At the end of the session, when Teddy had stepped out, I approached Blechman and said, "Do I need to do anything?
Should I get him an appointment with his old therapist? I want to make sure I'm doing the right thing because he said he
wants to hurt himself".

I don't think either of us thought this was a credible threat to Teddy's life, so the best scenario I can think of is that
Blechman told Bender he didn't see an immedate risk to Teddy's safety or a serious threat of suicide and Bender
paraphrased it as Teddy never said he wants to harm himself. But this is terrifying. Will let you know what happens with
Brunner.

M
[Quoted text hidden]
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Met with Michael Bender


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Wed, Jun 26, 2019 at 6:39 AM
To: Brad Trowbridge <brad@bradtrowbridge.com>

Hi Brad,

I met with Michael Bender yesterday. I think it went well though we did not have time to cover everything. He also
mentioned you two had spoken. A few key things stood out:

-I could tell he’d spoken to Peter, which he later mentioned, because of the questions he was asking me. And he later
mentioned speaking to Peter. So I was a little disappointed that Peter had set the tone.

- He insists on meeting with Peter and me, though I told him about Peter’s abusive tendencies. He seemed to take my
concerns seriously though.

-I showed him the attached picture of Teddy after Peter shaved his head and he seemed very disturbed, asked to keep it.
He also read the threatening email to the church.

-I told him that I was concerned about Peter not giving medication and that Angus has said he was not.

-I told him Peter wants to take the boys to Germany and I support his family time but am concerned about Angus not
being cared for. He said he imagined the trip would be hard because of removing Angus from his routine. 

-I told him Peter had said he might just take the boys, but I think he meant a vacation, not take them to Germany
permanently. Bender said, “but you don’t know that. He just said he might ‘take them’. It could mean either. You don’t
know”. This made me think he found a lot of what I said compelling.

I guess next step is a meeting with Peter and Bender and our financial affidavits. I’ll get mine to you by the end of the
weekend.

Megan

Exhibit EE



Exhibit EE



Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

IRMO Matt; 2016 D 9534; COURT ORDER


Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov> Wed, Dec 15, 2021 at 2:58 PM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>
Cc: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>, John Palen <jpalen@johnpalenphd.com>, Laura Fried
<lfried@smbtrials.com>, Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>

Per the Presiding Judge, Domestic Relations Division:

EMAIL COMMUNICATION to
court personnel and judges shall be limited to
scheduling and administrative purposes and shall not include information relating to
the substantive matters or the issues on the merits. If
email communication includes
any language that could be construed as impermissible ex parte communication,
neither court personnel nor judges will respond to the email. 


BEGINNING NOVEMBER
1, 2021, ALL DOCUMENTS, COURTESY COPIES AND ORDERS FOR CALENDAR
23 SHOULD BE SUBMITTED TO CCC.DomRelCR2108@cookcountyil.gov.  


ATTORNEYS
PLEASE NOTE:  

ALL
Orders for cases heard on Calendar 23's Daily Morning Call shall
be submitted to the court by 1:30 pm
on the same
day of hearing to:      CCC.DomRelCR2108@cookcountyil.gov.  


COURTESY
COPIES MAY BE DROPPED OFF IN THE DROPYBOX AT THE DALEY CENTER ROOM
2108

From: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, December 15, 2021 2:53 PM

To: Kaye Mason (Chief Judge's Office) <kaye.mason@cookcountyil.gov>

Cc: Christopher Wehrman <cwehrman@smbtrials.com>; John Palen <jpalen@johnpalenphd.com>; Laura
Fried <lfried@smbtrials.com>; Michael I Bender <mbender@caesarbenderlaw.com>
[Quoted text hidden]
 
[Quoted text hidden]
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 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 COUNTY DEPARTMENT, DOMESTIC RELATIONS DIVISION 

 IN RE THE FORMER MARRIAGE OF:  ) 
 ) 

 PETER MATT,  ) 
 ) 

 Petitioner  ,  )  Case No. 2016 D 009534 
 ) 

 and  ) 
 ) 

 MEGAN MATT,  ) 
 n/k/a MEGAN MASON,  ) 

 ) 
 Respondent  .  ) 

 MOTION TO TERMINATE THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM APPOINTMENT 

 Summary 
 I, Megan Matt (NKA Mason), Respondent, ask that Michael Bender’s appointment as Guardian 
 Ad Litem be immediately and fully terminated. 

 In support thereof, I state as follows: 

 1.  On September 27, 2017, the parties were divorced and the Court entered an Allocation 
 Judgment. 

 2.  Two children were born of the marriage, namely Angus, born on 8/11/08 and currently 
 age 13; and, Theodore, born on 2/12/12 and currently age 9. 

 3.  On June 6th, 2019 this Court ordered that Michael Bender be appointed as Guardian Ad 
 Litem to the minor children. 

 4.  (750 ILCS 5/506) (from Ch. 40, par. 506) 
 Sec. 506. Representation of child. reads: 

 a) Duties.  In any proceedings  involving the support,  custody, 
 visitation, allocation of parental responsibilities, education, 
 parentage, property interest, or general welfare of a minor or dependent 
 child, the court may, on its own motion or that of any party, appoint an 
 attorney to serve in one of the following capacities to address the 
 issues the court delineates: 
 (2) Guardian ad litem.  The guardian ad litem shall testify or submit a 
 written report to the court regarding his or her recommendations in 
 accordance with the best interest of the child  . The report shall be made 
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 available to all parties. The guardian ad litem may be called as a 
 witness for purposes of cross-examination regarding the guardian ad 
 litem's report or recommendations.  The guardian ad litem shall 
 investigate the facts of the case and interview the child and the 
 parties. 
 a-5) Appointment considerations. In deciding whether to make an 
 appointment of an attorney for the minor child, a guardian ad litem, or 
 a child representative,  the court shall consider the nature and adequacy 
 of the evidence to be presented by the parties and the availability of 
 other methods of obtaining information, including social service 
 organizations and evaluations by mental health professions, as well as 
 resources for payment. 

 In no event is this Section intended to or designed to abrogate the 
 decision making power of the trier of fact. Any appointment made under 
 this Section is not intended to nor should it serve to place any 
 appointed individual in the role of a surrogate judge. 

 5.  There was not a legal basis for this appointment because the parties had been divorced 
 for two years and neither party had moved to modify the parenting plan or initiated any 
 legal proceeding other than the appointment itself. 

 6.  Although Mr. Matt had indicated, without proof, that there were “issues” between parties, 
 it is not enough for one party to be aggrieved to justify the diminishment of parental 
 authority or increased state intervention. 

 7.  For example, one “issue” raised by Mr. Matt was my refusal to accompany him, a 
 German citizen, to the German consulate and to obtain German passports for our 
 children, who were born in the US and are American citizens. 

 8.  US Federal law does not recognize dual citizenship and it is my understanding that a 
 lower court cannot order a citizen to violate federal law. 

 9.  The other “issues” raised by Mr. Matt could not be proven or did not rise to the level of 
 seriousness to justify a motion for the modification of the parenting plan or other legal 
 action (eg a proceeding). 

 10.  It is impossible therefore that there could be a legal basis for the diminishment of 
 parental rights by appointing a Guardian Ad Litem, which should be done only after the 
 Court has an opportunity to  “consider the nature and adequacy of the evidence to be 
 presented by the parties and the availability of other methods of obtaining information”. 

 11.  It’s utterly impossible that the Court considered the nature and adequacy of evidence to 
 be presented by the parties before the appointment because there was no proceeding, 
 no underlying question of fact, to which such an inquiry could be made. There was no 
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 evidence or source of evidence to consider because there was no underlying 
 proceeding. 

 12.  I was a legally divorced woman and such action indicates that I, as a legally divorced 
 woman, have less protection under the law than a married person as the only matter 
 before this Court was my previously entered final divorce. This is to say there was no 
 matter before the Court. 

 13.  Mr. Bender was appointed against my strong objections. 

 14.  Mr. Bender’s appointment resulted in an unlawful diminishment of my parental rights and 
 a financial burden for me and my children. 

 15.  Since his appointment, Mr. Bender has wholly neglected to perform the most basic 
 duties as a GAL. 

 16.  First,  (750 ILCS 5/506) requires that  “  The guardian ad litem shall investigate the facts of 
 the case”. 

 17.  I previously filed a motion for Mr. Bender to be replaced January 12, 2021 after Mr. 
 Bender had been appointed for two years as GAL and had not performed the most basic 
 actions to investigate the children, including speaking to the children’s teachers or any 
 other school personnel, speaking to the children’s doctors or speaking to our older son’s 
 long-term Applied Behavioral Anaylsis (ABA) Therapist. Prior to September, 2021, Mr. 
 Bender had never spoken to any of the children’s doctors.. (  Exhibit A  Motion to Dismiss 
 Guardian Ad Litem;  Exhibit B  Jamine Text) 

 18.  Mr. Bender has played no discernable role in the children’s lives and Teddy stated to a 
 custody evaluator, Dr. Gerald Blechman, on Monday, July 26th that he did not know who 
 Mr. Bender is and had not met him. In an email to my attorney at the time, Alexandra 
 Brinkmeier the next morning, I wrote about Teddy discussing with Dr. Blechman the 
 ways his father exposes him to arguments and things that “are not for kids”, 

 “[Dr. Blechman] then asked if Teddy had told Mr.Bender, Teddy didn’t know who 
 that is. Dr. Blechman said he’s a lawyer and asked if Teddy had ever talked to 
 him. He said no.” (  Exhbit C  Didn’t know who that is email) 

 19.  In fact, as I reminded Teddy, he did meet Mr. Bender one time in the summer of 2019 but 
 he did not recall this encounter. 

 20.  Mr. Bender’s inaction may be due to neglect but I fear Mr. Bender’s goal in avoiding 
 contact with professionals in the children’s lives is to hide Mr. Matt’s misconduct and 
 incompetence, which most professionals who have come to know Mr. Matt would attest 
 to his overwhelming unfitness. 
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 21.  In fact Mr. Bender has sought to hide evidence of child abuse and endangerment in 
 order to protect Mr. Matt’s reputation before the Court. 

 22.  On July 26, 2021I took our younger son, Theodore, then nine, to see the custody 
 evaluator, Dr. Gerald Blechman at Dr. Blechman’s request because Teddy had 
 previously appeared dysregulated at a prior visit. 

 23.  At this meeting Teddy repeatedly expressed an interest in harming himself. I reported 
 this via email to my attorney at the time the next morning, writing: 

 “  So basically when I saw Blechman and the boys a couple weeks ago, Teddy 
 kind of got worked up. Saying things like “I can’t do anything”. As Blechman said, 
 he appears really disregulated. Blechman said he’s worried about Teddy’s state 
 of mind and asked me to bring him back two more times. 

 I think, but don’t know, that he wants me as opposed to Peter at the sessions to 
 build rapport and help Teddy open up. Yesterday we went and he had me stay in 
 the room the whole time. Teddy said a bit more, got quite emotional and even 
 said he wants to kill himself. His main expressed issue to me is this Northwestern 
 grammar class Peter is forcing on him, but he didn’t bring it up to Blechman. 

 In the session Teddy kept saying he couldn’t do anything, he thought that 
 everyone was lying when we say he’s doing well at school. Blechman specifically 
 said, “I know for 100% fact that your mom is not saying that. Is someone else 
 saying something that makes you think you’re not good at anything?”. 

 I was obviously a bit emotional hearing Teddy say that he wants to harm himself 
 (I’ve never heard him say this) and asked Blechman if I should take Teddy to 
 someone. He said for now just keep doing this, as in talking to Teddy about his 
 feelings, sharing my experience getting him to express himself. I think this is 
 another good sign. We talked about getting some books about feelings for kids. 
 And I did order a deck of feelings conversation cards for us.” (  Exhibit D  Self 
 Harm Email) 

 24.  Upon reading this email, my attorney  was concerned about Teddy thought Mr. Bender 
 would care. 

 25.  My attorney called Mr. Bender to report the incident. 

 26.  The next day my attorney informed me that Mr. Bender had told her he’d spoken to Dr. 
 Blechman and “it never happened”, which is to say, Mr. Bender said that Teddy never 
 raised the issue of self harm. 

 27.  In response I wrote: 
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 “I really can't emphasize enough how implausible it is to me that Blechman forgot 
 that Teddy said he wants to kill himself. 

 1. He said it multiple times, using the language, ‘I want to kill myself’, ‘I want to 
 be dead’, ‘Nobody wants me’, ‘Nobody would miss me’. 

 2. I said to Teddy, "You can't kill yourself." and looked to [Blechman] for help and 
 Blechman said, ‘What your mom means is that she would be really sad if 
 something happened to you’. 

 3. At the end of the session, when Teddy had stepped out, I approached 
 Blechman and said, ‘Do I need to do anything? Should I get him an appointment 
 with his old therapist? I want to make sure I'm doing the right thing because he 
 said he wants to hurt himself’. 

 I don't think either of us thought this was a credible threat to Teddy's life, so the 
 best scenario I can think of is that Blechman told Bender he didn't see an 
 immedate risk to Teddy's safety or a serious threat of suicide and Bender 
 paraphrased it as Teddy never said he wants to harm himself.”(  Exhibit  E He said 
 it multiple times) 

 28.  On the afternoon of Tuesday, July 28th, I wrote to my attorney following an incident 
 described below: 

 “I just want to note for my memory the below: 

 I was in the car around 5 today, driving Teddy and Angus home from camp. 
 Teddy picked up a plastic wrapper in the backseat and covered his mouth. He 
 said he was going to kill himself. Angus and I both told him not to do it. 

 I asked why he wanted to kill himself. He said he wasn’t good at anything. I said I 
 thought he was good at a lot of things, why does he think that. He said I’m not 
 good at anything. 

 Angus yelled, is it because of Dad’s lies. Teddy didn’t say anything. I said, what 
 do you mean about Dad’s lies. Angus said, dad’s lies! 

 I asked Teddy if he still wanted to go to the pool, where we were headed, he said 
 I’m going to drown myself. I said I would be really sad if that happened. Because 
 he goes to his dad’s tomorrow, I asked him if he was sad about going to his 
 dad’s. He said he was and started to cry, 

 I asked Teddy if he would like me to make it so he doesn’t go back to his dad’s. 
 He said there’s no way that would ever work. I told him that I actually could do 
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 that if that’s what he needs. He said wouldn’t he get really mean to you? I said it 
 was ok if his dad’s mad at me, we just need to keep him safe. 

 He has been a bit emotional since returning home but is now ok.” (  Exhibit F 
 Reports of Domestic Violence Email) 

 29.  Because I considered this an escalation from just talking about self harm to a child’s 
 version of an attempt, the next morning I called Teddy’s pediatrician, Dr. Patricia 
 Brunner, and asked what I should do. 

 30.  Dr. Brunner advised me to keep Teddy home from camp until he could be seen by her. 

 31.  I kept Teddy at home until 1pm when he was picked up by his Mr. Matt per parenting 
 plan. 

 32.  The afternoon of Wednesday, July 29th, Mr. Matt took Teddy to Dr. Brunner’s office 
 around 5pm. I met them there. 

 33.  With his father and myself in attendance Dr. Brunner questioned Teddy. He stated that 
 he was upset because he did not want to go to his father’s house any more and he did 
 not want to be forced to do an enrichment class at Northwestern. Following the visit she 
 wrote: 

 “My assessment is that Teddy does not want to hurt himself, is not even really 
 aware what that would mean. He is clearly voicing frustration at 2 situations in his 
 life. He does not want to do the Northwestern class and does not want to go to 
 his Dad's house. I do think he is safe.” (  Exhibit G  My Chart Visit Summary) 

 34.  That day Dr. Brunner called Mr. Bender’s office but did not reach him. 

 35.  Mr. Bender did not return her call. 

 36.  On Saturday, August 7th, Teddy reported that Mr. Matt had physically abused him and 
 his brother, which I reported to my attorney, writing the next morning: 

 “  As we were eating dinner I asked Teddy how things were going with him and  his dad. 
 He said that he was worried about his dad being mad. I asked what being mad means, 
 he said his dad would lock him up. I said, like a time out? He said yes. I said, What for? 
 He said for Northwestern. He said I would have to stay up all night and not sleep if I 
 didn’t do it. 

 I asked how things were doing with his dad  and Angus (who had gone to the living 
 room). I said Angus had told me that his dad had kicked and hit him before, was that 
 true. He said, yes. I asked when and he said ABA, back when it was zoom ABA. He 
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 said, it was really bad back then. This was reported to me at the time by Angus and I 
 reported this to Angus’s teacher and in my response to the PRTSC re ABA. 

 I asked if his dad had hit him (Teddy). He said yes. I said why? He said Northwestern. I 
 said where? Where did he hit you on your body. He touched his cheek. I said he hit your 
 face? He said yes.” (  Exhibit F  Reports of Domestic Violence Email) 

 37.  On August 11th, Theodore had a virtual appointment with another pediatrician Dr. 
 Shoshana Waskow. Teddy reported to Dr. Woskow that his father had backhanded him 
 and had locked him in his room to force him to do worksheets. 

 38.  Dr. Woskow noted this disclosure in a sealed document on August 11th, 2021. 

 39.  Between August 11 and August 25  ,  2021, Dr. Brunner again made attempts to reach Mr. 
 Bender in order to report the allegations of physical abuse. 

 40.  Mr. Bender ignored or avoided Dr. Brunner’s calls. 

 41.  On August 25, 2021 there was a status hearing in court. 

 42.  At status Mr. Bender was “unaware” of any of the disclosures by Teddy to doctors and 
 did not mention the topic of Teddy’s well being except to say that he had talked to Dr. 
 Blechman. 

 43.  Mr. Bender repeated the claim that Teddy was a little upset but had never expressed an 
 interest in self harm, implying that I lied. 

 44.  Mr. Bender said to the Court he would interview Teddy. 

 45.  In the five subsequent months he has not done so. 

 46.  Dr. Blechman did not speak to Teddy again after reports of child abuse were made to 
 Teddys’ doctors who eventually reported these facts to Mr. Bender via telephone in 
 September, 2021. 

 47.  Mr. Bender cannot act in the interest of the children while hiding child abuse and 
 intentionally avoiding investiations into facts related to the children’s well being. 

 48.  This was not the first time Mr. Bender had sought to hide domestic violence by Mr. Matt. 

 49.  On April 9, 2021 filed in this Court a PRTSC in which I documented extensive 
 harassment by Mr. Matt. (  Exhibit H  PRTSC RE Harassment) 

 50.  The Court ordered Mr. Bender to investigate the facts of the harassment. 
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 51.  In May, 2021 I received a phone call from Dr. John Palen, a parenting coordinator 
 selected by Mr. Bender. 

 52.  During this call, Dr. Palen told me, 
 “I just spoke to Mr. Bender, who obviously knows you a lot better than me. And he 
 wanted me to tell you the harassment never happened”. 

 53.  Illinois (720 ILCS 5/Art. 26.5 heading) ARTICLE 26.5. HARASSING AND OBSCENE 
 COMMUNICATIONS (Source: P.A. 97-1108, eff. 1-1-13.) defines harassment as: 
 "Harass" or "harassing" means knowing conduct which is not necessary to accomplish a 
 purpose that is reasonable under the circumstances, that would cause a reasonable 
 person emotional distress and does cause emotional distress to another.” 

 54.  It would be impossible for an honest, ethical third party to make this claim based on the 
 preponderance of documentary evidence that Mr. Matt contacted me unnecessarily and 
 caused distress. Mr. Matt very frequently harasses me by text, email and messages in 
 Talking Parents. 

 55.  Mr. Matt’s harassment of me has also been observed and experienced by others, some 
 of whom are experts in domestic violence. 

 56.  On one occasion, well documented in the PRTSC RE Harassment  Mr. Bender was 
 ordered by Court to review (  Exhibit H  PRTSC RE Harassment), Mr. Matt threatened me 
 and members of my church, Lake Street Church in Evanston, in order to force me to 
 take Teddy to soccer on Sunday morning during my Court ordered parenting time. Mr. 
 Matt made threatened an administrator on the phone and then made threats by email to 
 me and to the head of youth services at the church, as detailed in Exhibit H. 

 57.  If Dr. Palen was telling the truth, Mr. Bender inappropriately attempted to intimidate me 
 into not advocating for my rights as a parent and litigant to be protected from 
 harassment. 

 58.  In addition to neglecting to investigate the facts related to domestic violence claims or to 
 act in the best interest of the children, Mr. Bender is ethically unfit to serve as a Guardian 
 ad litem as evidenced by: 

 a.  Mr. Bender has made deceitful statements, specifically his statement to Dr. Palen 
 that harassment did not happen when he knew it to be undeniably true as well as 
 his statements to the Court that I had lied about Theodore’s suicidal ideation. 

 b.  Mr. Bender has participated in ex parte communications he, as a former judge 
 and licensed attorney in the state of Illinois, knows to be prohibited. 

 i.  Specifically, on December 3, 2020, he was copied in an email thread 
 between Dr. John Palen, parenting coordinator; Mr. Christopher 

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 1
2/

3/
20

21
 2

:1
5 

PM
   

20
16

D
00

95
34

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 2
/1

6/
20

22
 1

2:
27

 P
M

   
20

16
D

00
95

34

Exhibit GG Continued



 Wehrman, Opposing Counsel; and Ms. Kaye Mason, Judge Robert 
 Johnson’s clerk (  Exhibit I  I want to be Paid Email). 

 ii.  In this email Dr. Palen wrote, “I want to be paid. It is as simple as that”. 
 (  Exhibit I  I want to be Paid Email) 

 iii.  According to (  725 ILCS 5/112A-17.5) Sec. 112A-17.5. Ex parte 
 protective orders  this conversation was prohibited as it discussed 
 significant information not related to routine scheduling and opposing 
 counsel was not copied on all messages in the thread. 

 iv.  In fact I was copied on one email in the thread, but according to a written 
 statement by the sender Dr. John Palen, this was in error. 

 v.  I believe from the wording it is clear that there were more emails in the 
 thread and they ought to have been promptly shared with me. 

 c.  Mr. Bender is strongly associated with two individuals who have lied during court 
 related discussions. 

 i.  Dr. John Palen is an associate of Mr. Bender and served at his 
 recommendation. In the above mentioned email thread, Dr. Palen lied to 
 me and said that the email conversation was about a case other than my 
 own. Mr. Bender is therefore associated with a known liar as described in 
 a previously filed  Petition for Substitution of Judge for Cause  . 

 ii.  Mr. Bradley Trowbridge, formerly my attorney,  is an associate of Mr. 
 Bender who has told me he has cause to work with Mr. Bender often. Mr. 
 Trowbridge lied to me many times between March 10 and July 13th, 
 2020. Specifically he hid a contempt allegation and multiple court 
 appearances as described in a previously filed  Petition for Substitution 
 of Judge for Cause  Mr. Bender’s association with Mr. Trowbridge is 
 further evidence of ethical unfitness. 

 d.  I believe Mr. Bender may also be motivated by vindictiveness and therefore 
 unable to act objectively toward me, specifically because I filed an ethics 
 complaint with the ARDC due to his failure to perform any duty related to my 
 children’s well being in the first year of his appointment. (  Exhibit J  I’m filing an 
 Ethics complaint email). 

 e.  Mr. Bender, as described above, has hidden child abuse either through 
 negligence or because of an intent to protect Mr. Matt’s reputation before the 
 Court which suggests Mr. Bender lacks the moral authority required for his role. 
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 f.  Mr. Bender has also sought to hide other misconduct by Mr. Matt, specifically 
 financial crimes as detailed in  Petition for Substitution of Judge for Cause 

 i.  As detailed in the Petition of Judge for Cause, Mr. Bender proffered to 
 Mr. Wehrman, Mr. Matt’s attorney, an agreement to block hearing on a 
 motion for allocation of Mr. Bender’s own fees and hearing on a motion to 
 compel a subpoena related to those fees in exchange for Mr. Matt 
 agreeing to a custody evaluation. 

 ii.  Allocation of fees was ordered by the Court. 

 iii.  Allocation of fees is not related to a custody evaluation. 

 iv.  Mr. Bender ought not to have exerted influence on this matter. 

 v.  The Motion for Allocation of Fees documents businesses and accounts 
 controlled and owned by Mr. Matt in other countries but not disclosed to 
 the Court or in tax filings, so it happens to provide evidence of tax 
 evasion. 

 vi.  Particular ethical scrutiny should be given to any action where the goal 
 appears to be to hide financial misconduct or financial crimes. 

 59.  Mr. Bender is a former judge and this Court has often had reason to remind me that he is 
 owed a large amount of deference due to his role. By the same logic, he ought to be 
 held to a higher standard than the average person and his behavior during Court 
 business ought to be beyond reproach. 

 60.  Simply participating in one instance of Ex Parte communication without immediately 
 sharing the details with both parties ought to be reason enough to end his appointment. 

 61.  Further, Mr. Bender’s actions have not been in the interest of the minor children due to 
 his failure to respect and support my mental health needs, specifically my therapist’s 
 recommendations for addressing problems with Mr. Matt due to my PTSD diagnosis. 

 62.  From the beginning of his appointment, Mr. Bender has tried to pressure me into 
 increased contact with Mr. Matt who often repeats the refrain that “Ms. Mason refuses 
 mediation”. 

 63.  I have always maintained that I am not obligated to meet with or mediate issues with Mr. 
 Matt unless some change is being proposed and some basic effort has been made to 
 discuss the change. 

 64.  Mr. Matt has on no occasion proposed a modification of the parenting plan or presented 
 a factual claim of violations of the parenting plan by me. 
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 65.  Mr. Matt has never presented a proposal over which we could mediate. 

 66.  I therefore regard Mr. Matt’s insistence that I pay for mediation with him as burdensome 
 and unnecessary, as is Mr. Matt’s wish to have daily communication with me as his Mr. 
 Matt’s wish to have weekly therapy with me four years after our divorce. 

 67.  Mr. Bender has claimed to the Court that parties “just need to talk” without providing a 
 legal or factual basis for his personal belief. 

 68.  One of my objections to unnecessary paid meetings (eg mediation or negotiations with a 
 GAL in attendance) is that there is a financial burden without a benefit. 

 69.  A good example is one of the other “Issues” Mr. Matt raised as a basis for his Motion for 
 a GAL appointment which was “International Travel”. In this case, Mr. Matt wanted to 
 take the children to Germany for two weeks during the summer vacation. 

 70.  Per parenting plan, Mr. Matt has one week of vacation with the children and he asked 
 me if he could have another week to have a more meaningful trip. 

 71.  I immediately agreed without qualification. Which is to say, I voluntarily surrendered 
 some of my Court ordered parenting time to Mr. Matt without intervention or order. 

 72.  I am a kind, reasonable person and I typically do accommodate reasonable requests, 
 even when I am not required by law or Court order. 

 73.  However, in this case, Mr. Matt was enraged that I insisted he bring the children back to 
 the United States at least three days before the first day of school so they could 
 overcome jet lag. 

 74.  Mr. Matt was enraged that I had an opinion he didn’t like and he might have to pay more 
 for airline tickets. 

 75.  Mr. Bender forced me to pay him to meet with Mr. Matt to discuss this “issue”. 

 76.  This only reinforced Mr. Matt’s belief that the Court is hear to bully, abuse and force me 
 into accommodating him, even when I am not required by law to do so and even when it 
 is evident to any reasonable person that I have compromised enough and Mr. Matt ought 
 simply to accept facts he does not like without harassing and abusing others. 

 77.  What’s more, contact with Mr.Matt is bad for me, and by extension bad for the children. 

 78.  I have maintained that it is not true that further contact is needed and further indicated to 
 Mr. Bender that I have been advised by therapists that it is not in the interest of my 
 mental health to have unnecessary contact with Mr. Matt. 
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 79.  I have appealed to Mr. Bender and to Dr. Palen, then parenting coordinator, to have a 
 conversation during which I could safely explain my mental health needs writing on April 
 22, 2021 (  Exhibit K  Mental Health History Email) 

 “As part of your investigation would you be willing to have a 30 minute call with 
 me and Dr. Palen to discuss topics related to my own and Peter's mental health 
 history? I would prefer to have an opportunity to speak candidly about my own 
 background and needs without fear that it will be used against me so I ask for 
 time separate from Peter who, of course, ought to be given the same opportunity. 
 I will also make therapists I've worked with available to consult with John if it's 
 appropriate or necessary, to the extent that they can/will given HIPAA guidelines.” 

 80.  As I wrote to my then attorney on October 6, 2021, “Neither responded.” (  Exhibit K  ) 

 81.  Mr. Bender’s utter failure to investigate the family’s mental health dynamics and to learn 
 about the mental needs of the mother of the children he serves makes him wholly 
 unqualified to make recommendations for our family or express opinions about my 
 mental fitness. 

 82.  Mr. Bender’s appointment has caused emotional and financial harm to me and my 
 children. 

 83.  The original appointment, not based on fact or associated with a legal proceeding, 
 created an impossible dynamic for our family and ought not to have been made. 

 WHEREFORE, Respondent prays that the Court enters an order that: 
 A.  Mr. Bender be immediately terminated as Guardian Ad Litem in this case. 

 B.  The order appointing a Guardian Ad Litem be vacated. 

 C.  The Motion to Compel Swanson Martin Bell LLP to comply with the subpoena for 
 financial records be granted. 

 D.  The Motion fo Allocation of Fees for GAL be given a hearing and prior ruling, without 
 hearing, overturned. 

 Respectfully Submitted, 

 Megan (Matt) Mason 
 Pro Se Respondent 
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 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 COUNTY DEPARTMENT, DOMESTIC RELATIONS DIVISION 

 IN RE THE FORMER MARRIAGE OF:  ) 
 ) 

 PETER MATT,  ) 
 ) 

 Petitioner  ,  )  Case No. 2016 D 009534 
 ) 

 and  ) 
 ) 

 MEGAN MATT,  ) 
 n/k/a MEGAN MASON,  ) 

 ) 
 Respondent  .  ) 

 AFFIDAVIT OF MEGAN MATT N/K/A MASON IN SUPPORT OF HER MOTION TO 
 TERMINATE THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM APPOINTMENT 

 I, MEGAN MATT n/k/a MASON, hereby submit this affidavit under penalties provided 
 by law pursuant to section 1-109 of the Illinois Code of Civil Procedure and certify that the 

 statement set forth in this affidavit are true and correct. 

 1. I am the Respondent in this matter. 

 2. I have personal knowledge of the matters stated in my SECOND MOTION TO TERMINATE 
 THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM APPOINTMENT  and they are true  and correct except as to those 
 matters stated on information and belief, which are believed to be true. 

 3. I hereby restate and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in my 
 Petition as if the same were set forth here verbatim. 

 ______________________ 
 Megan Mason, Pro Se Respondent 

 419 Greenleaf Ave. 
 Wilmette, IL 60091 

 917.518.188 

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 1
2/

3/
20

21
 2

:1
5 

PM
   

20
16

D
00

95
34

FI
LE

D
 D

AT
E:

 2
/1

6/
20

22
 1

2:
27

 P
M

   
20

16
D

00
95

34

Exhibit GG Continued



FILED
4/28/2022 3:33 PM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534
Calendar, 23
17693377
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
     to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 COUNTY DEPARTMENT, DOMESTIC RELATIONS DIVISION 

 IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:  ) 
 ) 

 PETER MATT,  ) 
 ) 

 Petitioner,  ) 
 ) 

 and  )  No.  16 D 9534 
 ) 

 MEGAN MATT n/k/a MASON,  ) 
 ) 

 Respondent.  ) 

 AFFIDAVIT OF MEGAN MATT N/K/A MASON IN OPPOSITION TO PETER MATT’s 
 MOTION TO REVOKE MY PARENTING RIGHTS INSTANTER 

 I,  MEGAN  MATT  n/k/a  MASON,  hereby  submit  this  affidavit  under  penalties  provided 

 by  law  pursuant  to  section  1-109  of  the  Illinois  Code  of  Civil  Procedure  and  certify  that  the 

 statement set forth in this affidavit are true and correct: 

 I am writing this letter in response to the pleadings filed yesterday by Mr. Wehrman instanter. I 
 know that as I write this I am probably “too late” to participate in what could only be considered 
 a show trial. The only document called evidence is a letter from Dr Blechman that is hearsay of 
 hearsay and not legally allowable evidence. It contains Dr. Blechman’s quote of an email from 
 Mr. Matt, in turn quoting me, as I describe your acts of conspiracy along with Mr Bender and Mr. 
 Wherman in relation to Mr. Trowbridges fraud activity. In this sense it is clearly retaliatory. 

 There is no basis for an emergency action. I have been and always will be an excellent mother. I 
 have never neglected or harmed my children in any way. I am not under investigation for any 
 crimes. Both my children want to live with me full time. All the children’s doctors, teachers and 
 past therapists believe I am a competent, good mother and should have the majority of decision 
 making authority. We all know Mr. Matt to be a low functioning adult, guilty of at least thirty 
 aggravated felonies against the government, with multiple reports by doctors and police of his 
 abusive, harassing behaviors. He has had the children ordered out of his home by their doctor. 

 Any actions taken to harm me or my children, and it is an unbearably cruel harm to separate me 
 from my children, are retaliatory actions for my whistleblowing activity. I ought not be punished 
 for reporting the crimes of you and your conspirators. Please recuse yourself as law demands. 
 Please follow Illinois law in matters of allocation of parental responsibility and allow a fair 
 hearing of facts. Do not grant Mr.Wehrman's motion to destroy my family in retaliation for my 
 true statements about crimes. 

FILED
5/2/2022 6:20 AM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534
Calendar, 23
17717918
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
     to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled Exhibit II



 As I am finishing my federal complaint, in which you are named as a co-conspirator in multiple 
 RICO claims and Section 1983 claims, I am fully aware of judicial immunity. But this immunity 
 does not extend to criminal behavior. And where there is extreme negligence and wantonness 
 toward the well being of minor children, there is further potential liability. 

 You have known for at least a year, based on my motion for allocation of fees, that Mr. Matt is 
 guilty of ongoing aggravated felonies toward the federal government. As a green card holder, Mr. 
 Matt faces imminent and permanent deportation. He cannot be my children’s guardian because 
 he cannot parent them from a federal prison or from Germany. You also know, based on the same 
 filing, that Mr. Matt is independently wealthy and prone to crime. You also know he has a history 
 of domestic violence. You know putting the children in his care is dangerous and you are liable 
 for any harm that comes to them as a result of your misconduct. 

 You cannot undo what has been done but you can and must stop escalating this abuse of judicial 
 authority. You cannot ever make me stop telling the truth but you can be decent and stop hurting 
 my children. Stop. Deny the motion to destroy my children’s lives. 

 MEGAN MATT n/k/a MASON 
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Megan M <megan42@gmail.com>

Witness this am at 8:30?


Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com> Sat, Mar 5, 2022 at 8:56 AM
To: Megan Mason <megan42@gmail.com>
Bcc: Michael Woolf <minister@lakestreet.org>, Jillian Westerfield <jwesterfield@lakestreet.org>, Barb Vaughan
<barb.vaughan@yahoo.com>, Delane Haro <delanewharo@gmail.com>

Friends, I just wanted to share with you a little good news and offer up a prayer of thanksgiving for Ms. Janice Thompson,
an employee in the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Chicago! I reached out to you earlier this week because you are folks who
are familiar with my case and who have the types of jobs that sometimes allow daytime zoom calls. But you also happen
to be people I consider part of my own faith community and with whom I can be open about my spiritual journey.

As I prepared for Court I prayed that God would please send me some sign that someone can help me. I believe both
spiritually and intellectually that if I can keep loudly and clearly telling the truth about the wrongs I witness that I can help
bring change. But I also know this might take two, five, ten years. I just prayed to have some small sign that I am being
heard, that my work on this matters. 

I believe my prayers were answered. On Thursday I received a phone call from a woman named Janice Thompson. Ms.
Thompson works in the Civil Appeals Division of the Circuit Court. She prepares the record for the Appeals court, it's a
very important part of the process.  I can't file my actual appellate brief (case) until the Appeals Court has the official
record from the Circuit Court. The appeals process is complicated with lots of deadlines and I've always known that the
other attorneys would try to make me miss deadlines. Ms. Thompson informed me that she works for the Circuit Court and
prepares the record. Although I'd submitted my request and it was approved (stamped) on January 24th, she didn't get it
on her desk until February 28th. The deadline for her to transfer the record had been February 9th. I asked her if I had
made any errors to cause this and she answered (the truth!!!!!) that no, there had been some mixups with the other clerks.
It wasn't my fault. 

Ms. Thompson further gave me advice on how to file a motion for an extension. Then yesterday, when I had the deadline
extended to March 18th, Ms. Thompson called me again and mentioned that all of my exhibits were missing labels. I'm
new to this, obviously, and I submitted the exhibits (evidence) electronically, with the required format in the file name
(Exhibit A, Exhibit B....). But Ms. Thompson had received printed copies and hadn't written titles. She went through my file
and personally added labels to more than twenty documents. She didn't need to do this. She did this because she is a
woman of integrity who wants to do her job right. 

I can't express to you how good it felt to be on the phone with this polite, calm woman, talking to me as if I'm a human
being who matters, speaking truthfully and doing her job. I'm just filled with gratitude for this reminder of how many good,
decent people there are and what good it does for all of us to have professional civil servants. I wanted to share this with
you because you've been there for me to hear the "bad" but I also want to share the good. I know my faith that there is
more goodness to be found has been strengthened.

Love,
Megan
[Quoted text hidden]
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4/28/2022 3:33 PM
IRIS Y. MARTINEZ
CIRCUIT CLERK
COOK COUNTY, IL
2016D009534
Calendar, 23
17693377
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All Domestic Relations cases will be heard by phone or video.
Go to http://www.cookcountycourt.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=G7A8KAcSi8E%3d&portalid=0
     to get more information and Zoom Meeting IDs.
Remote Court Date: No hearing scheduled
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

APPLICATION TO PROCEED 
WITHOUT PREPAYING FEES OR 
COSTS / FINANCIAL AFFIDAVIT 
(NON-PRISONER CASE) 

Case number:  

 

vs. 

  

    
 

Application:   I am one of the parties in this case.  I believe that I am entitled to the relief I am 

requesting in this case.  I am providing the following information under penalty of perjury in support of 

my request (check all that apply): 

___ to proceed in forma pauperis (IFP) (without prepaying fees or costs) 

___ to request an attorney 

1. Are you employed?

___ Yes Name and address of employer: __________________________________________________ 

Total amount of monthly take-home pay: __________________________________________ 

___ No Date(s) of last employment: _____________  Last monthly take-home pay:______________ 

2. If married, is your spouse employed?  ____ Not married

___ Yes 

___ No 

Name and address of spouse's employer: __________________________________________ 

Total amount of spouse's monthly take-home pay: __________________________________ 

Date(s) of spouse's last employment:                    Spouse's last monthly take-home pay:  

3. Other sources of income / money:  For the past 12 months, list the amount of money that you and/or
your spouse have received from any of the following sources:

   (list the 12-month total for each) 
Self-employment, business, or profession:    $ _________________________ 
Income from interest or dividends:  $ _________________________ 
Income from rent payments:  $ _________________________ 
Pensions, annuities, or life insurance: $ _________________________ 
Disability or worker's compensation: $ _________________________ 
Gifts (including deposits into any accounts in your name): $ _________________________ 
Unemployment, public assistance, or welfare: $ _________________________ 
Settlements or judgments (include any that are expected): $ _________________________ 
Any other source of money:  $ _________________________ 

Timothy Evans et al

Jefferies Financial LLC

✔

✔

✔

✔

Megan Mason ,

)

$6,000



  
Rev. 2/2020 

        
       

5. Other assets:  Do you and/or your spouse own or have an interest in any real estate (including your
home), stocks, bonds, other securities, retirement plans, automobiles, jewelry, or other valuable
property (not including ordinary household furnishings and clothing)?   ___ Yes   ___ No

 

_________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________

6. Dependents:  Is anyone dependent on you and/or your spouse for support?  ___ Yes        ___ No

If yes, please list their names (for minor children, use only initials); relationship to you; and how
much you and/or your spouse contribute toward their support each month:

_________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________

7. Debts and financial obligations:  List any amounts you owe to others:

8. Provide any other information that will help explain why you cannot afford to pay court fees / hire an attorney:

  

   

Date:  __________________________________________ 
       Applicant's signature 

_________________________________________ 
    Printed name 

A.D.M. and T.M.M. live 50% with me, per divorce agreement, I claim T.M.M. as a dependent. 

I contribute approximately $1,000 per month in extra medical costs and other child related expenses.

Megan Mason

✔

✔

✔

4. Cash and bank accounts: Do you and/or your spouse have any money in cash or in a checking or
 savings account? ___ Yes ___ No If yes, how much?  $500

If yes, list each item of property and state its approximate value:
 I have a 401k at Fidelity but I have a loan against the full balance of approximately $5,000.. _________________________________________________________________________________________

Total Amount: $87,000
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Please see attached list. _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________$2,700_________________________________________________

______

 _________________________________________________________________________________________

 _________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Declaration: I declare under penalty of perjury that all of the information listed above is true and correct. 

I understand that a false statement may result in dismissal of my claims or other sanctions.






I am currently in the process filing for bankruptcy and have completed the required fiancial
 education component. My monthly debt related expenses plus my rent exceed my monthly take 
home pay. I believe a review of my Complaint might make clear how my legal debt in particular 
has accrued as well as provide clear reasons that I feel it is likely that I will lose my job in the 
next few months.

__May 2, 2022__________

Page 1 of 2

I have also experienced a reduction of about $40,000 in annual compensation due to market 
conditions.

Monthly Minimum Debt Payments: 



Megan Mason Debt Worksheet IFP Submitted May 2, 2022
APR Annual Fee Balance Monthly Payment

Citi 4216 20% $9,200 -$135
First 
Technology 
Federal Credit 
Union (Payoff) 11% $0 $15,000 -$400
Discover 0% $0 $2,000 -$40
Capital One 
7403 25% $0 $750 -$50
Capital One 
7533 21% $0 $3,500 -$50
Citi Rewards 
6056 (B) 23% $0 $2,700 -$72
Alliant 14% $0 $6,000 -$175
Prosper 29%% 15000 -$600
Comenity 25%% 1800 -$35
Apple 21% 500 -$35
Nelnet Student 
Loans $10,887 -$110
Michael Bender $8,000 -$500
Christopher Wherman $6,000 -$500
Athletico Physical Therapy $500
Diane Mason $5,000
Northshore University Health System $500

Total $87,337 -$2,702

p.2/2



 Rev. 06/23/2016 

U.S. District Court for the Northern District Of Illinois  
Appearance Form for Pro Se Litigants 

Information entered on this form is required for any person filing a case in this court as a pro se 
party (that is, without an attorney). Please PRINT legibly.  

Case Title: ______________________ Case Number: _____________________ 

An appearance is hereby filed by the undersigned as a pro se litigant: 

Name: _____________________________________________________________

Street Address: _____________________________________________________________ 

City/State/Zip: _____________________________________________________________ 

Phone Number: _____________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________  _______________________ 
     Signature Executed on (date) 

REQUEST TO RECEIVE NOTICE THROUGH E-MAIL 
If you check the box below and provide an e-mail address in the space provided, you will receive notice 
via e-mail. By checking the box and providing an e-mail address, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
5(b)2(E) you are waiving your right to receive a paper copy of documents filed electronically in this case. 
You should not provide an e-mail address if you do not check it frequently. 

I request to be sent notices from the court via e-mail. I understand that by making this request, I 
am waiving the right to receive a paper copy of any electronically filed document in this case. I 
understand that if my e-mail address changes I must promptly notify the Court in writing. 

_____________________________________________ 
E-Mail Address (Please PRINT legibly.)

[If you need additional space for ANY section, please attach an additional sheet and reference that section.]

[If you need additional space for ANY section, please attach an additional sheet and reference that section.]

Megan Mason

419 Greenleaf Ave. 

Wilmette, IL 60091

917.518.1808

✔

megan42@gmail.com

/S/Megan Mason
May 3, 2022


